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I. INTRODUCTION

In a Complaint spanning 112 pages and over 330 paragraphs, Plaintiff
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interference claim against Defendants Louis Freeh and Freeh Group International

Solutions, LLC (“FGIS™). In so doing, and contrary to Pennsylvania’s stringent

claim without pleading any facts.

The tortious interference claim is premised solely on a single email sent by
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012. In that email, Freeh responds to
an email forwarded from Pennsylvania State University (“Penn State” or “PSU”)
Trustee Ronald Tomalis regarding Spanier’s possible employment by the federal
government with the comment:
prosecutors regarding the latest information.” Spanier claims that this vague
reference in a statement to unnamed federal prosecutors cost Spanier opportunities
with unnamed federal government agencies in the undefined U.S. intelligence
community and on an unnamed board of directors. Spanier fails to allege any facts
concerning the chronology of these alleged events. Moreover, Spanier does not
allege that Freeh acted with an improper purpose or made an untrue statement to

those unnamed federal prosecutors. Rather, he merely alleges that Freeh



communicated his belief that “Spanier was not fit for the national security work
that he was being employed to undertake.” Compl. § 250.

Not only is Spanier’s Complaint factuaily deficient, but his tortious
interference claims are barred by the statute of limitations. Spanier cannot state a
claim against Freeh or FGIS because the two-year statute of limitations applicable
to tortious interference claims expired months before Spanier filed his February 1
2016 Complaint.! Spanier alleges that he became aware of the email supporting
his tortious interference claim in October 2013. Accordingly, the statute of
limitations expired in October 2015, without any complaint or writ o

being issued with respect to the tortious interference claim or FGIS.

Spanier’s tortious interference claim (Count V) must be dismissed.’

e
e
7!

Spanier first initiated proceedings against Freeh, Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan
(“FSS™), and Pepper Hamilton LLP as alleged “successor by merger” to FSS by

Praecipe for Writ of Summons on July 11, 2013. The writ noted

! While Defendants recognize that ordinarily a statute-of-limitations argument

must be asserted as new matter, case law supports raising the issue on preliminary
objections where the statute of limitations has expired on the face of the complaint.
See Section II1.B, infra.

2 As explained more fully in the Preliminary Objections to Plaintiff’s

defamation claims filed by Louis J. Freeh and Freeh Sporkin & Sullivan LLP,
those claims also fail to state a claim under Pennsylvania law. Accordingly,
Spanier’s Complaint must be dismissed in its entirety.



“Slander/Libel/Defamation” as the basis for Spanier’s action. Spanier sought

reissuance of the Writ of Summons on August 9, 2013, and, on September 12,

3]

013, Spanier filed a Praecipe to Issue Amended Writ of Summons against Freeh
and FSS alone. Freeh and FSS filed a Praecipe to File Complaint, seeking to
compel Spanier to reveal the substance of his claims. In response, Spanier moved

for a stay of proceedings, which was opposed by Defendants. On February 25,
2014, the stay was granted.

Spanier did not disclose the substance of his claims until March 2015, when
Spanier filed both a Motion to Modify the Stay and a

Parties. On January 11, 2016, the Court lifted the stay and granted in part and

denied in part Spanier’s Motion to Join Additional Parties. Spanier filed his

Spanier premises his tortious interference claim on a single email dated
April 12, 2012, which Spanier alleges he only became aware of on October 7,
2013. Se
forwarded to Freeh’s FGIS email account an article from The Patriot News

representing that Spanier would be working on a national security project for the

have done their homework.” Id. Freeh responded to Tomalis’s email, stating



“Very interesting—we have done our job notifying the Federal prosecutors
regarding the latest information.” Id. § 249.

From this single sentence, Spanier infers that Freeh’s email “reflects action
taken by Freeh stating, to federal officials, that Dr. Spanier was not fit for the
national security work that he was being employed to undertake.” Id.  250.
Freeh’s supposed action “caused a government agency to terminate Dr. Spanier’s
then-current and prospective business relationship.” Id. § 251. Spanier alleges that

in February 2012 “arrangements” were made for Dr. Spanier to serve in a

T TT Q&

“contractual capacity” on projects with the U.S. government and U.S. “intelligence
community.” Id. 49 243-44. He further alleges that in April 2012 those
“opportunities were suddenly withdrawn.” Id. § 245. Spanier later alleges: “As a
resuit of Freeh’s actions, a government agency w
Dr. Spanier was removed from the board of directors of a corporation, and Dr.
Spanier lost out on prospective relations that were reasonably certain to occur.” /d.

IT")
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of his existing or prospective employers, and never attaches the contracts upon

which his service in a “contractual capacity” was based.

le to support the belated

assertion of his tortious interference claim, alleging that his claim is timely because

he was not on notice of Freeh’s or FGIS’s alleged interference until he discovered



this email on October 7, 2013. See id. §254. Spanier necessarily concedes,
therefore, that he had no other evidence of any action by Freeh or FGIS to interfere
with his alleged prospective or actual contractual relations.

III. STATEMENT OF THE QUESTIONS INVOLVED

1. Should Plaintiff’s tortious interference claim be dismissed because
P]amtlff has falled to adequately allege each of the elements

Suggested Answer: Yes. Spanier fails to adequately allege each of

the aleamente reanired to establish a fnﬁlnllq interference (‘Imm (]\
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the existence of a contractual or prospective contractual relation

between the complainant and a third party; (2) purposeful action on
the part of the defendant, specifically intended to harm the existing

Pait Ui Uil UMUAVIIMGALIR, OV ARG AR 2 227 L1,

relatlon, or to prevent the a prospective relation from occurring; (3)
the absence of privilege or justification on the part of the defendant;
and (4) the occasioning of actual legal damage as a result of the
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[\
(ﬁ
-

s tortious interference claim be dismissed because

b db. - the statute of limitations?

Suggested Answer: Yes. Tortious interference claims are subject to a
two-year statute of limitations. Spanier pleads that he became aware
of the facts supporting his tortious interference claim in October 2013,
but did not file a writ of summons or complaint based on that claim
until February 2016. Because Spanier’s claims were filed after the
statute limitations expired, the tortious interference claim must be
dismissed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A preliminary objection in the nature of a demurrer tests the sufficiency of

Plaintiff’s complaint. Such a preliminary objection “must be sustained where it is



clear and free from doubt that the law will not permit recovery under the alleged
facts.” Africav. Horn, 701 A.2d 273, 274 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1997).

Spanier’s meager allegations are insufficient to meet Pennsylvania’s fact-
pleading standards or support any of the four elements necessary to state a tortious
interference claim. Further, Spanier’s tortious interference claim is subject to a
two-year statute of limitations. Based on Spanier’s own allegations
of the facts forming the basis of his tortious interference claim in October 2013,
but did not make any claim based on it or add FGIS as a defendant until February
2016. Accordingly, his claim is time-barred.

A.  Spanier Fails to Plead a Claim for Tortious Interference.

Spanier’s tortious interference claim should be dismissed because Spanier
fails to plead any facts supporting such a claim. In a complaint spanning 112
pages and over 330 paragraphs, Spanier devotes just 5 pages and 21 paragraphs to
the facts surrounding his tortious interference claim. His sparse allegations fail to
plead facts necessary to his claim and are insufficient to state a claim for tortious
interference.

The elements of a cause of action for intentional interference with
contractual relations, whether existing or prospective, are as follows: (1) the

existence of a contractual or prospective contractual relation between the

complainant and a third party; (2) purposeful action on the part of the defendant,



specifically intended to harm the existing relation, or to prevent the a prospective
relation from occurring; (3) the absence of privilege or justification on the part of
the defendant; and (4) the occasioning of actual legal damage as a resuit of the
defendant’s conduct. See Al Hamilton Contracting Co. v. Cowder, 644 A.2d 188,
191 (Pa. Super. 1994).> The Complaint fails to set forth sufficient facts support

any of these elements. Accordingly, this claim should be dismissed.

1.  Spanier Fails to Adequately Allege the Existence of a
Contractual Relationship or Prospective Contractual

Relations.
In the few paragraphs devoted to his tortious interference claim, Spanier

fails to make clear whether he claims that Freeh and FGIS interfered with existing

contractual relationships or whether his claim solely alleges interference with

. Compare Compl. at 110 (“Count V:
Tortious Interference with Prospective Contractual/Business Relations) with id.
19 327, 331 (“contractual and prospective business relations”) (emphasis added).

This lack of clarity evidences the vagueness with which the facts underlying
Spanier’s claim are pled. In any event, Spanier’s allegations fail to support either

claim.

3 Count V is based on interference with contractual or business relations. The

elements of the cause of action are the same regardless of the label attached. See
InfoSage, Inc. v. Mellon Ventures, LP, 896 A.2d 616, 627 (Pa. Super. 2006) (same
elements for tortious interference with business relations claim).



To the extent that Spanier attempts to set forth a claim for existing
contractual relations, he must identify a specific contract between himself and a
third party. See Northstar Waste, LLC v. Lishon, No. 04699, 2004 WL 242623
*1 (Com. PI. Phila. Cnty. Aug. 10, 2004) (citing Strickland v. Univ. of Scranton,
700 A.2d 979, 985 (Pa. Super. 1997)). Without identifying any contract or any
specific third party, Spanier alleges that
projects for the U.S. intelligence community” in March 2012; and (ii) his work was
terminated in April 2012. Compl. 9 244-45. He asserts that Freeh’s actions

relationship. Id. §251. In Spanier’s Claim for Relief, Spanier makes even more

imprecise allegations regarding his existing relationships, asserting that, “[a]s a

[and] Dr. Spanier was removed from the board of directors of a corporation.” /d.

1 330. Pennsylvania rules provide that, where a claim is based on an agreement,

laintiff mus Snpmf'(‘ﬂ” whether the ag

lll\ﬂ 1—/ lllllllll ' v aa - - - - -== 28 YV &R 4 L i i L i
if written, attach the agreement to the complaint. See Pa. R. Civ. P. 1019.
Spanier’s vague allegations regarding an unnamed government agency, an

unspecified board of directors, and the amorphous “intelligence community” fail to

' Each of the unpublished opinions cited herein are included in Exhibit 1.



meet Pennsylvania’s rigorous fact-pleading standards. See Foster v. UPMC South
Side Hosp., 2 A.3d 655, 666 (Pa. Super. 2010).

Spanier’s allegations regarding his prospective contractual relations are
similarly vague and conclusory. Spanier asserts: (i) “[a]rrangements were made
for the opportunity for Dr. Spanier to serve in a contractual capacity on significant
projects that the U.S. government felt he was uniquely qualified to undertake”;
that Freeh’s actions caused an unnamed government agency to terminate a
“prospective business relationship”; and (ii) that he lost out on “prospective
relations that were reasonably certain to occur but

Compl. 9 243, 251, 330.

Courts have held that, to adequately allege tortious interference with

hope or the innate optimism of a salesman,” Glenn v. Point Park College, 272

A.2d 895, 898-99 (Pa. 1971); see Thompson Coal Co. v. Pike Coal Co., 412 A.2d

A66
TFUYU

, 471-72 (Pa. 1979) (the law does not protect a mere “expectation

does not allege facts from which one could determine that a future contractual

relationship was reasonably certain. See Phillips v. Selig, 959 A.2d 420, 428-29

o~
~

Pa. Super 2008) (existing relationship insufficient to support tortious interference

) See also Lackawanna v. Verrastro, 9 Pa. D. & C. 5th 35, 54 (Com. PL.
Lackawanna Cnty. 2009) (sustaining preliminary objections where “no prospective
contractual relationship has been identified by defendant™).



with prospective relations claim); Foster, 2 A.3d at 666 (“no facts are set forth to
support an inference that there was a reasonable probability that Appellant would
enter a contract with any of the named entities™).

“As defined by courts in this Commonwealth, the tort contemplates a
relationship, prospective or existing, of some substance, some particularity, before

o 14l

an inference can arise as to its value to the plaintiff and the defendant’s

responsibility for its loss.” Behrend v. Bell Tel. Co., 363 A.2d 1152, 1160 (Pa.
Super. 1976) (emphasis added). Regardless of whether Spanier claims tortious
interference with existing or prospective contractu

meet this test and allege sufficient facts to establish the requisite relationship.

2. Spanier Fails to Adequately Allege that Freeh/FGIS Acted

For the Specific Purpose of Causing Harm to Spanier or
tha at l:‘wml.m(‘IQ Candunt wae Not Privilacgad ar Tunctifiad

(838 I/EULS S LONGUeT was INOv 1 TIVIIVELVU Vi S USLILIVA.
To establish a tortious interference claim, Spanier also must plead facts
sufficient to support the assertion that Freeh and FGIS acted for the “specific
purpose of causing harm to the plaintiff.” Phillips, 959 A.2d at 429 (citing Glenn,

272 A.2d at 899). Spanier must also allege facts sufficient to establish that “the

defendant’s actions were improper under the circumstances presented.” Id. (citing

10



Restatement (Second) of Torts § 767).° The second and third elements are closely
related. See Glenn, 272 A.2d at 899.

Spanier makes no allegation regarding either Freeh’s or FGIS’s purpose in
contacting the “federal prosecutors.” Absent an allegation that “[Freeh and FGIS]
took purposeful action specifically intended to harm plaintiff’s business relations
with prospective third parties,” Spanier has not st:
interference. Harbor Hosp. Servs., Inc. v. GEM Laundry Servs., LLC, No. 4830,
2001 WL 1808556, at *13 (Com. PL. Phila. Cnty. July 18, 2001).

Spanier’s sol
information and belief, Freeh contacted the unnamed “federal prosecutors”

mentioned in his April 12, 2012 email to state that “Spanier was not fit for the

50. Spanier does not allege that these unnamed “federal prosecutors” would have

6 Those “circumstances” include: (i) the nature of the actor’s conduct; (i1) the
actor’s motive; (iii) the interests of the other with which the actor’s conduct
interferes; (iv) the interests sought to be advanced by the actor; (v) the social
interests in protecting the freedom of action of the actor and the contractual
interests of the other; (vi) the proximity or remoteness of the interference; and (vii)
the relations between the parties. See id. As discussed further supra, it is difficult
to see how those elements could weigh in favor of Spanier, even if Spanier alleged
facts regarding Freeh’s purpose, where: Freeh, pursuing an investigation into
sexual abuse of children at a public university, communicated with federal
prosecutors regarding “the latest information,” even if Freeh, in so doing,
expressed an opinion regarding Spanier’s fitness for “national security work.”
Compl. 9 249-50.

11



had any contact with the unnamed government agency, unnamed board of
directors, or amorphous “intelligence community” such that Freeh’s
communication with the federal prosecutors was “substantially certain

Spanier’s termination. Moreover, it is difficult to see sow Spanier could ever make
p

such an allegation in good faith, given that he asserts that “the federal government
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fitness to hold a Top Secret clearance, including questions about his role, if any, in

the Sandusky matter.” Id. § 179. Spanier’s allegation that “Freeh had no privilege

: 9
Dr. Spanier’s employment, or, if

he did, he abused that privilege,” amounts to a mere legal conclusion unsupported

by the facts he pleads. /d. §329.

Freeh/FGIS said to “federal prosecutors” for what purpose, and its conclusory
abuse of privilege allegation, fail to state a viable claim. See Miketic v. Baron, 675

A.2d 324, 330-3

P
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r. 1996). First, Spanier’s allegation that Freeh stated
that Spanier was “not fit” for his national security work is nothing more than the

expression of an opinion. Compl. § 250. Attacks on “job performance and

‘6‘ 3

professional competence,” even when they appear in the press, are not “‘improper

for purposes of a tortious interference claim.” Phillips, 959 A.2d at 435; see also

Small v. Juniata College, 682 A.2d 350, 354 (Pa. Super. 1997) (players on football

12



team did not act improperly by voicing negative of opinions of coach to college
administration). Spanier’s allegations regarding Freeh/FGIS’s alleged tortious

R P of AR S A

conduct do not go beyond the proffer of an opinion. As

recognized, whether someone is fit for a given position relies on opinion and

cannot form the basis for a tortious interference claim.

that Freeh said anything false. There is no liability for interference against one

who merely provides truthful information. See Walnut St. Assocs., Inc. v.

plaintiff fails to allege that a defendant communicated untruthfully, the plaintiff
fails to state a claim. See Pecha v. Botta, No. 2:13¢cv1666, 2014 WL 4925152, at

*4 (W.D. P

{ a
LAY .

antmetwork, Inc. v. Underwood, No. 4:11-

cv-1283,2012 WL 1021326, at *16 (M.D. Pa. Mar. 26, 2012).

Third, Spanier alleges only that Freeh and FGIS contacted certain “federal
249. The Pennsylvania Superior Court has held that
statements made to law enforcement are absolutely privileged. See Pawlowski v.
Smorto, 588 A.2d 36, 43 (Pa. Super. 1991) (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts §
587 & cmt. b). Spanier fails to allege, in more than conclusory terms, that Freeh

and FGIS were not justified in conferring with federal prosecutors regarding

13



Freeh’s investigation of activity that later formed the basis for criminal charges
against Spanier.

Even taking Spanier’s allegations as true, he has
FGIS took purposeful action specifically intended to harm Spanier or that, if they

did, such statements were not opinion, true, or a privileged communication to

3. Spanier Fails to Adequately Allege that Freeh/FGIS Caused

Lo W7 oo - Nmewna ¥ 1
the Unnamed Entities to Terminate or Fail to Engage in

Contractual Relations with Spanier.

The final element of a tortious interference claim requires Spanier to show
the causal connection between Freeh/FGIS’s conduct and the termination of his
contractual or prospective contractual relations. See Hydrair, Inc. v. Nat’l Envtl.
Balancing Bureau, No. 2864, 2001 WL 1855055, at *6 (Com. PL. Phila. Cnty. Apr.
23, 2001) (“Since there are no allegations of specific conduct by [defendant]
causing plaintiff’s decertification, the tortious interference claim against
[defendant] is legally insufficient and insufficiently specific.”). Spanier’s
allegations lack several causal connections necessary to connect Freeh/FGIS’s
alleged conduct to the termination of Spanier’s national security “opportunities.”

Accordingly, Spanier fails to state a claim.

7 . . . .
Moreover, Spanier’s reliance on the “discovery rule” coupled with vague

allegations that are made “upon information and belief” suggest that Spanier does
not possess any facts sufficient to support his tortious interference claim.

14



First, Spanier fails to allege facts connecting the “federal prosecutors” to

whom Freeh/FGIS spoke with the unnamed governmental agency and board of

directors with whom Spanier alleges he had contractual relations. Compl. § 249,
330. Spanier does not state that these unnamed federal prosecutors would ever

have had cause to speak to Spanier’s current and prospective employers. Spanier

does not even allege that these unnamed federal prosecutors w

PR [ B PO o
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to identify these “Top Secret” employers in the “U.S. intelligence community”

the unnamed board of directors. Neither the Complaint nor the article mentioned

in the April 12, 2012 email name the entities that

contacted as a result of Freeh/FGIS’s purported communications. See Compl. at

75 (article mentions “special project for the U.S. government,” “federal agencies,”
and “national security agencies” without i

Second, Spanier fails to allege facts to establish that Freeh or FGIS was

aware of Spanier’s alleged government employment or government employment

Martinez, No. 172 MDA 2014, 2014 WL 10789964, at *6 (Pa. Super. Oct. 8, 2014)
(“In fact, it is unclear [whether Defendant] was even aware of the alleged

contractual relationship.”). rmation in the Complaint establishing that

h he only in

Freeh and FGIS were aware of Spanier’s national security employment is the April

12,2012 email. Compl. at 75. The Complaint seems to assert that the article

15



contained in the April 12, 2012 email notified Freeh/FGIS of Spanier’s
employment opportunities, but there are only four minutes between that email
notification and Freeh’s response that he spoke to “federal prosecutors.” /d.
Spanier does not allege when Freeh contacted the federal prosecutors or when his
employment opportunities with the unnamed government agencies and unnamed
board o
Third, Spanier fails to allege what Freeh/FGIS could have said to

prosecutors that would have caused his termination. Spanier asserts that

security work that he was being employed to undertake.” Compl. § 250. Yet, only

a few paragraphs earlier, Spanier alleged that “the federal government had

Secret clearance, including questions about his role, if any, in the Sandusky
matter” and had determined that Spanier was fit to keep his clearance. Id. §179.

Nor does Spanier assert facts regarding why the statement “we have done our job
notifying the Federal prosecutors regarding the latest information,” should be read
to mean that Freeh spoke to them about Spanier’s employment prospects. Compl.
at 75.

Accordingly, Spanier has failed to plead an adequate factual basis that Freeh

or FGIS caused any of Spanier’s alleged damages.
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This Court is not required to accept the conclusory, vague, and insufficient
allegations pled in support of Spanier’s tortious interference claim. “Pennsylvania
is a fact pleading state, which requires that the pleader define the issues, apprise
the defendant of an asserted claim, and set forth all material and essential facts to
support that claim.” San Lucas Constr. Co., Inc. v. St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co., No.
2190, 2001 WL 1807786, at *8 (Com. PL. Phila. Cnty. Mar. 14, 2001). Spanier’s
sparse factual allegations fail to satisfy any of the elements of a tortious
interference claim.

B.  Spanier’s Tortious Interference Claim Plainly Is Barred by the
Statute of Limitations.

Spanier’s tortious interference claim against Freeh and FGIS likewise must
be dismissed because the statute of limitations on that claim expired prior to its

arthy-Pascuzzo, 777 A.2d 1128, 1132 (Pa. Su

Soblar bidy T4 e CiiiNs g ¥ -

per.
2001) (“A plaintiff may not add a new defendant after the applicable statute of
limitations has expired.”); Heckman v. Sanchez, No. 1229 CD 2014, 2015 WL
5314523, at *3 (Pa. Commw. Ct. Mar. 2015) (“[A]ln amendment to the pleadings
introducing a new cause of action will not be permitted after the statute of
limitations has run in favor of [the] defendant.”).

The statute of limitations is ordinarily considered an affirmative defense that

must be pled as new matter. See Pa. R. Civ. P. 1030. However, where the bar
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posed by an affirmative defense is clear on the face of the complaint, courts have

recognized the efficiencies of considering such arguments on preliminary

may be raised by way of preliminary objections where it is established on the face

of the complaint.” Pelagatti v. Cohen, 536 A.2d 1337, 1346 (Pa. Super. 1987)
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Courts have further recognized that preliminary objections raising the statute of
limitations are appropriate where a plaintiff pleads facts regarding the expiration of
ocese of Altoona-Johnston, 67 Pa. D & C.
4th 419, 430 (Com. P1. Westmoreland Cnty. 2004) (analyzing statute of limitations

where plaintiff pled the discovery rule exception). Not only have courts

on the face of the complaint, but Pennsylvania courts have held that they may

consider a statute-of-limitations argument before a complaint is even filed. ? Freeh

8 See also Sloan v. Coleman, No. 539 C.D. 2014, 2015 WL 5453073, at *4
(Pa. Commw. Ct. June 5, 2015) (trial court did not err where the expiration of the
statute of limitations “was apparent on the face of the complaint™); Gusky v. Metro.
Life Ins. Co., No. GD00-4527, 2002 WL 34097436 (Com. P1. Allegheny Cnty.
Aug. 6,2002) (“There is case law supporting the dismissal of a claim where an
affirmative defense, based solely on the allegations in plaintiff's complaint, is
raised through preliminary objections.”).

? See Hoare v. Bell Telephone Co. of Pa., 500 A.2d 1112, 1113-14 (Pa. 1985)

(joinder properly denied where the statute of limitations on proposed claim against
party to be joined has expired); Liba v. Colony Square Builders, 41 Pa. D. & C. 3d

18



and FGIS have raised these arguments on preliminary objections to spare the Court

and the parties the time and expense of engaging in discovery on or answering

time-barred claims. If the Court would prefer to consider these issues on a

time.

subject to a two-year statute of limitations. See Maverick Steel Co., LLC v. Dick

Corp./Barton Malow, 54 A.3d 352, 355 (Pa. Super. 2012)." Spanier’s tortious

sent from his FGIS email address, dated April 12, 2012. See Compl. {7 248-49.

Spanier alleges that his “national security work opportunities were suddenly

he claims prompted that withdrawal) until October 2013. See id. 4 245-46. In an

attempt to fall under the “discovery rule” exception to the statute of limitations,

666, 669-70 (Com. P1. Allegheny Cnty. 1983) (“The power of the courts to order
joinder of additional parties is limited by the applicable statute of limitations.”).

o As Defendants asserted in opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Join Additional
Parties, the one-year defamation statute of limitations appropriately applies to
Spanier’s claim. See Evans v. Phila. Newspapers, Inc., 601 A.2d 330, 334 (Pa.
Super. 1991) (holding that one-year statute of limitations applied to tortious
interference claim “based upon the alleged false and defamatory nature of the
communication complained of”). Because Spanier’s claim fails under either
limitations period, however, Defendants will not address the “gravamen of the
complaint” analysis under Evans here.

19



Spanier alleges: (i) he could not have seen or been aware of the email chain
through exercise of reasonable diligence until October 2013; and (ii) without an
awareness of the email chain, Spanier could not have been aware “o
communications with federal officials about him.” Id. Y 252-54.""
Despite Spanier’s own allegations that he became aware of Freeh’s April 12,
e

o Vo YO I o SNSRI & PN
2012 email in October 2013, see Co

this litigation'” and no tortious interference claim was asserted against Freeh until
February 2016 — almost three years after Spanier purportedly became aware of

rrankh and TIIQ?
10011 Al 1’10

an action against FGIS and assert his tortious interference claim, but failed to do

SO.

) « . .
w, an action may only be commenced “by filing with

the prothonotary (1) a praecipe for a writ of summons, or (2) a complaint.” Pa. R.

Civ. P. 1007. “Our Supreme Court has stated that the language of Rule 1007 is

" Defendants do not believe that the discovery rule applies. Indeed, Spanier’s

assertion that he could not have known of the April 12, 2012 email before October
7, 2013 strains credulity given Spanier’s allegation that Ryan Bagwell, a third
party to this entire dispute, was able to obtain the email in August 2013 via a
Right-to-Know-Law request. See Compl. § 247. If Spanier truly had been harmed,
he could have made his own request under the Right to Know Law and learned of
the April 12, 2012 email well before October 2013.

This Court, in granting the motion to join FGIS, took no position with
respect to the statute of limitations. See Opinion at 8, n.3, dated January 11, 2016.
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clear and unambiguous, and its underlying purpose is to provide certainty as to the

commencement of an action. Attempts to commence an action by means other

than those allowed by Rule 1007 have consistently been rejected by the courts.’
Burger v. Borough of Ingram, 697 A.2d 1037, 1040 (Pa. Super. 1997) (internal
citations omitted). One such attempt rejected by the courts: the filing of a petition

to amend or a draft complaint to toll t

Drever Furnaces, 613 A.2d 595, 599-600 (Pa. Super. 1992)."3

In Aivazoglou, the plaintiff filed a petition to amend to add defendants one

4L

e L- o~ am . - - f\ﬁ 11y Yo Vel 1. oy
month before the statute of limit: sett See id. at 597. Both the

O TuUil. € ia. at Oul i1
grant of the petition and the filing of the amended complaint occurred only after

the limitations period had run. See id. The court then granted a motion for

id. On appeal, the Pennsylvania Superior Court affirmed, holding:

In this case, the plaintiffs had ample opportunity to
commence a timely action against the additional
[defendants] in the manner provided by the Pennsylvania
Rules of Civil Procedure. The rules were promulgated to
promote uniformity and to provide procedural due
process for all litigants. Rather than adopt an ad hoc

13 See also Anthony v. St. Joseph’s Hosp. Sch. of Nursing, Inc., No. 2236 EDA
2013, 2014 WL 10917675, at *3 (Pa. Super. June 10, 2014) (“{T]his Court has held
that the only authorized way to commence an action in Pennsylvania is to proceed
in accordance with Pa.R.C.P. 1007. Further, the filing of a motion to amend a
complaint to add a party does not commence an action and, therefore, will not toli

the statute of limitations.”).
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exception to the rules and decisions interpreting those

rules, we hold, consistent with prior appellate court

decisions, that an action is commenced only by filing

with the prothonotary a praecipe for a writ of summons, a

complaint, or an agreement for an amicable action.
1d. at 600.

Based on Spanier’s own Complaint, he became aware of Freeh’s and FGIS’s

alleged tortious interference in October 2013, see Co

any claim against Freeh or FGIS until he filed that February 10, 2016 Complaint,

see id. 9 326-31. Even assuming that the discovery rule applies and that Spanier

October 2013, the two-year tortious interference statute of limitations expired in

October 2015. Spanier was dilatory in pursuing his tortious interference claims

and his Co laint 1
and his Complaint comes too late to save them from being barred by the statute of
limitations.

It is no answer to say that the case was stayed (upon Spanier s request),

act. The stay in this case was not

granted until February 25, 2014 — months after Spanier asserts he learned of the
alleged facts underlying his tortious interference claim. Spanier could have sought
m the stay, or alerted the Court to the looming expiration of the statute of
limitations. Moreover, at any time before the statute of limitations expired,

Spanier could have served a writ of summons with respect to his tortious
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interference claim. (Indeed, Spanier instituted his defamation claims against Freeh
and FSS by writ of summons,'* but at no time filed such a writ naming FGIS or
indicating “tortious interference” as a cause of action.) It was only upon the filing
of the Complaint, on February 10, 2016, that Spanier formally asserted his tortious
interference claim and added FGIS as a party. That filing comes too late to fall
within the statute of limitations, which by Spanier’s own admission began to run
on October 7, 2013. Accordingly, Spanier’s tortious interference claim should be

dismissed as barred by the statute of limitations.

<7 T T T

. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ Preliminary Objections to Spanier’s

tortious interference claim should be sustained and Plaintiff’s tortious interference

IS should be dismissed.

o,
o
3
[
4\e}
=
=
wn
-
3!
-
(4]
[q"]
-
o)
=
o
]
9

14 See Writ of Summons, dated July 7, 2013; Amended Writ of Summons,
dated Sept. 22, 2013.
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NORTHSTAR WASTE LLC Plaintiff,

|—4 M

and Enviro-Waste Solutions, efendants

No. 04699 FEB.TERM 2004, CONTROL 062185.

Aug. 10, 2004.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

COHEN, L.

o P PR "a1e At s ] 3ane Som
*1 Before the court are Defendants' Preliminar

to Plaintiff's Complaint. For the reasons fully set forth
below, said Preliminary Objections are sustained in part and

y UUJC\/UUIID

overruled in part.

DISCUSSION

Count IV of Plaintiff's Complaint purports to state a claim
for tortious interference with a contract. The elements of a
cause of action for intentional interference with contractual

ralatinng

relations, whether ex istine or prncnprfnm are as follows:

TLOCY CALSunig VSpeitl aib as 00UV

(1) the existence of a contractual or prospective contractual
relation between the complainant and a third party; (2)
purposeful action on the part of the defendant, specifically
intended to harm the existing relation, or to prevent a
prospective relation from occurring; (3) the absence of
privilege or justification on the part of the defendant; and
(4) the occasioning of actual legal damage as a result of the
defendant's conduct. A! Hamilton Contracting Co. v. Cowder,
434 Pa.Super. 491. 497. 644 A.2d 188. 191 {1994).

As previously stated, an essential element of such a claim is
“the existence of a contractual relationship between plaintiff
and a third party.” Strickland v. Univ. of Scranton, 700 A.2d
979. 9085 (Pa.Super.1997). At bar, Plaintiff had failed to
identify a specific contract between itself and an identifiable
third party that has been interfered with by Defendants. As
such, Count IV is insufficiently pled.

overruled. This court finds that, at this preliminary stage, the
remainder of Plaintiff's Complaint has been pled sufficiently
to withstand the instant Preliminary Objections. However,
this court makes no finding as to the future viability of
any of the counts contained therein and enters this Order
without prejudice so that Defendants may later file a motion
challenging same, if warranted.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this court finds as follows:
1. Defendants' Preliminary Objection to Counts IV (tortious
interference with contract) is SUSTAINED and Count IV is

NI AT OO

DISMISSED.

2. The remainder of Defendants’ Preliminary Objections are
OVERRULED.

This Court will enter a contemporaneous Order consistent
with this Opinion.

ORDER and MEMORANDUM

AND NOW, this 10t day of August 2004, upon
consideration of Defendants' Preliminary Objections, all
responses in opposition, the respective memoranda, all
matters of record and in accordance with the Opinion
being filed contemporaneously with this Order, it hereby is
ORDERED and DECREED as follows:

1. Defendants' Preliminary Objection to Count IV (tortious
interference with contract) is SUSTAINED and Count IV is
DISMISSED.

2. The remainder of Defendants’ Preliminary Objections are
OVERRULED.

3. Defendanis are ORDERED io file an answer to the
remaining averments in Plaintiff's Complaint
(20) days from the date of entry of this Order.

within twenty
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HARBOR HOSPITAL SERVICES, INC., Century
Textile t/a Harbor Hospital Laundry Services,
Harbor Service Corp., and Ear]l Waxman
v.

GEM LAUNDRY SERVICES, L.L.C., Royal of
PA, Inc., Royal Institutional Services, Inc., Mark
Johnson, Shawn Ryan, and Mark Leibovitz
HARBOR HOSPITAL SERVICES, INC.

v,

GEM LAUNDRY SERVICES, L.L.C., Royal of

Inc., Mark

PA Tnoa Raval Inchi
STLT 1¢., 2

PA, Inc., Royal Institutional Services,

Johnson, Shawn Ryan, and Mark Leibovitz
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July 18, 2001.
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OPINION
SHEPPARD, J.

*] Presently before this court are two sets of Preliminary
Objections: (1) the Preliminary Objections of defendants,
Royal of PA, Inc., Royal Institutional Services, Inc., Mark
Johnson, Shawn Ryan and Mark Leibovitz, to Counts 11, III,
IV and VII of the Second Amended Complaint filed in the
action captioned as July Term, 2000, No. 4830; and (2) these
same defendants' Preliminary Objections to the Amended
Complaint in the consolidated case, captioned as August

Term, 2000, No. 207.

tha - frrt
thc reasons set iorin,

sustained in part and overruled in part.

BACKGROUND

This lawsuit arises out of a failed business venture to provide
commercial laundry services to Philadelphia-area hospitals.

The lead plaintiff is Harbor Hospital Services, Inc.

(*Harbor™), a Pennsylvania corporation engaged in the
business of distributing and marketing linen and related
products to various healthcare and health services institutions.
Also named as plaintiffs are: Harbor Service Corp. (“HSC")

et atmemd Faa Ao b ST Tl L T

owner 01 l.ht: rcgl'swlcu lIdUCl[ld.lK I1arur LzlllCll . \,CIILUIV
Textile, Inc. trading as Harbor Hospital Laundry Services
(“Century™), which was engaged to provide commercial
Jaundry services for Virtua Health System in New Jersey; and
Earl Waxman (“Waxman'), the sole shareholder of Harbor,
HSC and Century. Plaintiffs are sometimes collectively
referred to as “Harbor” or the “Harbor Group.” The
defendants include GEM Laundry Services, L.L.C. (“*GEM™),
a Pennsylvania limited liability company, whose members
include Harbor and co-defendant, Royal of PA, Inc. (“Royal
PA™). Royal PA was formed at the direction of co-defendant,
Royal Institutional Services, Inc. (“RISI™), a Massachusetts
corporation engaging in the commercial laundry business.
RISI is a signatory to the GEM Operating Agreement.
Together, RISI and Royal PA are sometimes referred to

Al e nAd afnm
Also named as defendants are

ac Lo T e 1" Lelél o
as the “Royal” entities.

RISI's shareholders: Mark Johnson (“Johnson™), Shawn Ryan
(*Ryan™) and Mark Leibovitz (“Leibovitz").

Harbor has allegedly provided linen supply services for the
past twenty-five (25) years to various healthcare facilities
in the greater Philadelphia area, including the Jefferson
Health System (“Jefferson™) and the Virtua Health System
(“Virtua™). In March 1998. after extensive discussions and
negotiations, Harbor entered into a long-term agreement with
Jefferson, whereby Harbor was engaged as the exclusive
commercial laundry service provider for identified facilities
within the Jefferson system and engaged as the exclusive
provider for linen and linen-related products (“the Jefferson

Agreement™). See Second Am.Compl.. Exhibit A.> The
Jefferson Agreement contempiated that Harbor may enter
into subcontracts to fulfill various obligations under the
agreements, such as the laundry services required to be
performed by Harbor, since Harbor did not have the capacity
to provide laundry services to hospitals. /d. at § 18.

*2 Harbor and its affiliates then had discussions with
RISI and the individual defendants, who had experience in
hospital laundry services in Massachusetts. about forming
a joint venture to perform the laundry services to Harbor's
hospital customers in Pennsylvania and New Jersey. These
discuss
dated July 29,
formation of GEM. See Second Am.Compl.,

ions led to the execution of the Operaling Agreement,
1998 (“Operating Agreement™) and the
Exhibit B.

g
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Pursuant to the Operating Agreement, Harbor was to assign
the Jefferson Agreement to GEM as part of its capital
contribution. /d . at § 1.2.6.1. In the event that Harbor could
not obtain the consent of Jefferson to this assignment, then
the Operating Agreement was to be considered a subcontract
beiween Harbor and GEM. /d. at § 1.2.6.1.1. In addiiion, the
Royal entities were to arrange for the necessary capital for
the operation of GEM's business activities. /d. at § 6.3. Royal
PA, at all times, was also to provide to GEM the supervisory
support necessary for the efficient operations of GEM. /d. The
payment and performance of Royal PA's obligations under
the Operating Agreement were guaranteed by the individual

defendants and RISI, as sureties. Jd. at 32.

Harbor also entered into a Laundry Services and Marketing
Agreement with GEM dated July 29, 1998 (“Marketing
Agreement”), pursuant to which Harbor was exclusively
engaged to provide certain marketing services for GEM and
GEM was obligated to pay Harbor a sales fee based upon a
percentage of the GEM's laundry service revenues from all

meg Avralenn tlan tames A8 eem
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laundr Iy S€r vice custoim
See Second Am.Compl., Exhibit C at § 3(c). This provision
was to be binding on GEM's successors and assigns. /d GEM
was also supposed to pay a service fee to Harbor based on
“customer support activities” and a percentage of the laundry
processed by GEM. /d. at § 3(g). In addition, the Marketing
Agreement obligated GEM and the Royal entities to pay
Harbor a “termination fee” in the event that any laundry
services customer procured by Harbor terminated its laundry
services agreement (including the Jefferson Agreement) on
account of a deficiency of GEM's services. Id at § 3(f).

As alleged, the beginning of GEM's operations was delayed
due to the negligent actions and inactions of the Royal
entities. GEM's services were allegedly substandard and

inferior due to the R \/ql Pnhhpc nrncc]v r‘pﬁrwpnf rpr‘lzlpnn
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and wanton management and supervision of GEM's business
activities. As alleged, the Royal entities failed to provide for
GEM management personnel with expertise in the operation
of a commercial laundry for heaithcare; failed to properiy run
the day-to-day operations of GEM in a cost-effective manner;
and failed to pay GEM's debts and obligations as they became
due. Further, as alleged, the Royal entities efforts had been
focused on selling their entire business operations, including
GEM, rather than supervising the daily business affairs of
GEM.

*3 By late November 1998, GEM was in a severe cash-flow
crisis due allegedly to the Royal entities’ conduct. The Royal

entities then insisted that Harbor or Waxman make available

to GEM on a temporary or * hndop basis. an emergency loan
in the amount of $200,000 which would be repaid from the
first proceeds of any alternative financing made available to
GEM. On November 24, 1998, Waxman extended this loan
to GEM in exchange for a promissory noie in the amount
of $200,000. See Am.Compl., Exhibit A. RISI. Royal PA
and the individual defendants guaranteed, as sureties, GEM's

obligations under the note to Waxman. /d. at 2-3.

In July 1999, the Royal entities advised the Harbor group that
Royal would abandon its obligations to oversee and supervise
the performance of GEM's operations. Thereafter, on August
1, 1999, Harbor was required to arrange for an alternative
laundry services provider to fulfill the needs of Harbor's
laundry service customers. Certain performance problems
with the laundry services provider did not dramatically
improve. On October 7, 1999, Jefferson sent written notice
to Harbor of its intent to terminate the Jefferson Agreement.
Virtua has also elected to terminate Harbor, Harbor has not
been paiu a termination fec Uy the uucuuauLS_, nor has it
received any portion of sales fee or services fee. Harbor also
has allegedly suffered substantial damage to its name and
reputation and has been foreclosed from numerous business
opportunities on account of this damage.

RISI, or another corporation owned by some or all of the
Royal shareholders or their affiliates, referred to as “Royal
" is alleged to be presently engaged by Jefferson
to provide commercial laundry services afier Harbor was
terminated by Jefferson.

Successor,

With this background, plaintiffs filed both actions against the
defendants. First, in the July action, plaintiffs set forth Counts
for intentional misrepresentation/fraud. negligence and gross

npnhnpnt‘p breach of contract, breach of fiduciary dut
alvialinw Ll WAL Gy ViWAwil VL Liuuviial y uuL

unjust enrichment, conversion, and tortious mterference/
violation of corporate opportunities. Second Am.Compl.,
Counts I-VIIL Royal PA, RISI and the individual defendants
filed Preliminary Objections, in the form of a demurrer to
Counts IL, II1, IV and VIII of the complaint, as well as moving
to strike the complaint for failing to attach any writing which
reflects that any of the plaintiffs were engaged to provide

laundry services to Virtua. 3

Additionally, Harbor commenced the August action by filing

a Complaint in Confessed Judgment, to rec

over on the
recover on the

promissory note. Defendants initially filed a Petition to Strike
Off and/or Open the Confessed Judgment. On November 28,
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2000, this Court ordered the confessed judgment stricken
in ils entirety as to ail defendants.* Harbor then filed an
Amended Complaint against the same defendants, seeking to
recover under the Note. Royal PA, RISI and the individual
defendants, also referred to as the “guarantor defendants™
filed Preliminary Objections to this complaint, asserting
Harbor's lack of standing to enforce the guaranty and the

failure to attach any written assignment.

*4 This court will address both sets of objections seriatim.

Rule 1028(a)(4) of the Pennsylvania Rules of Civil Procedure
{Pa.R.C.P.] allows for preliminary objections based on legal
insufficiency of a pieading or a demurrer. When reviewing
preliminary objections in the form of a demurrer, “all
well-pleaded material, factual averments and all inferences
fairly deducible therefrom™ are presumed to be true.
Tucker v. Philadelphia Dailv News, 757 A.2d 938, 941-42
(Pa.Super.Ct.2000). Preliminary objections, whose end result
would be the dismissal of a cause of action. shouid be
sustained only where “it is clear and free from doubt from
all the facts pleaded that the pleader will be unable to prove
facts legally sufficient to establish [its] right to relief.” Bourke
v. Kazara, 746 A.2d 642, 643 (Pa.Super.Ct.2000) (citation

omitted). Moreover,

[T]t is esscntial that the face of the
complaint indicate that its claims may
not be sustained and that the law will
not permit recovery. If there is any
doubt, it should be resolved by the
overruling of the demurrer. Put simply,

the thstnen prpcpnfpﬂ h\

demurrer is
whether, on the facts averred, the law
says with certainty that no recovery is

possible.

Bailey v. Storlazzi. 729 A.2d 1206. 1211 (Pa.Super.Ct.1999).
However, the pleaders' conclusions of law, unwarranted

inferences from the facts, argumentative allegations,

AAAAAAAAA A ha
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admitted as true. Giorduno v. Ridge, 737 A.2d 350, 352
(Pa.Commw.Ct.1999), aff'd. 559 Pa. 283, 739 A.2d 1052
(1999), cert. denied, 121 S.Ct. 307 (11.5.2000). In addition, it
is not necessary to accept as true averments in the complaint
which conflict with exhibits attached to the complaint.

Philmar Mid-Arlantic. Inc. v. York Street 4ssociares I, 389
Pa.Super. 297. 300, 566 A.2d 1253, 12 (1989).

Applying this standard, this court finds that plaintiffs

have fax]ed to state causes of action for ncghgcnce and

us witanfnnan~a onrmora
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opportunity or
prospective contractual relations. However, the court finds
that plaintiffs have sufficiently stated causes of action for
breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty. The court
further finds that plaintiff, Harbor, does have standing 1o sue
on the promissory note as against the guarantor dcfendants.
Thus, the Preliminary Objections will be sustained in part and
overruled in part.

DISCUSSION

I. PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS TO AMENDED
COMPLAINT-JULY ACTION

A. Count 1I-Negligence and Gross Negligence
Defendants demur to Count II on the grounds that
Pennsylvania does not recognize a cause of action for

negligent breach of contract.” This court agrees.

Our Superior Court has stated the following rule regarding
the “gist of the action™ doctrine: “to be construed as a tort
action, the wrong ascribed to the defendant must be the gist
of the action with the contract being collateral ...
action may not be converted into a tort action simply by

a contract

alleging that the conduct in question was done wantonly.”
Phico Ins. Co. v. Presbvierian Medical Servs. Corp., 444
Pa.Super. 221, 229. 663 A.2d 753, 757 (1993)(holding that
policy exclusion for contractually based claims precluded
coverage under insurance policy, notwithstanding allegations
that medical corporation engaged in gross negligence or
willful misconduct in the administration and management of
the nursing home resulting in a breach of the management
agreement). The main inquiry for applying the doctrine is the
source of the duties that the defendant violated. /d
action arises from the breach of a duty imposed as a matter
of social policy while a contract action arises from the breach
of a duty imposed by agreement or mutual consensus of the
parties. Id. See also, Redevelopment 4uth. of Cambria County
v. International Ins. Co., 434 Pa.Super. 374.394-96. 685 A.2d
581. 591-92 (1996)(holding that general liability insurer had
no duty to defend or indemnify public authority in undertying
suit which essentially alleged a breach of contractual duties

A
i
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since liability did not stem from negligent behavior).
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*5  Plaintiffs rely on Hirsch v. Mount Carmel District
Indus. Fund. Inc., 363 PaSuper. 433, 436-37, 526 A.2d

422, 424 (1987) for the proposition that Pennsylvania law
allows for a negligent breach of contract where the plaintiff
alleges an improper performance of a contract rather than a
nonperformance. However, the court in /firsch relied on Raab
v. Kevstone Ins. Co., 271 Pa.Super 185, 187-88. 412 A.2d
638, 639 (1979) for the misfeasance/nonfeasance distinction.
This distinction was implicitly overruled by Phico Ins. Co..
444 Pa.Super. at 228, 663 A.2d at 757. Therefore, Hirsch
should no longer be controlling on this point.

Here, in Count IL. plaintiffs allege that “[t]he acts
of the Royal Group defendants in negligently and
grossly mismanaging the commercial laundry obligations
of GEM as required pursuant to the GEM Operating
Agreement constitute negligence. gross negligence, reckless
or intentional misconduct.” Second Am.Compl. at | 47.
Plaintiffs also allege that damages flowed from this alleged

pr~inl
Telidn

af il
t 01 n¢ Commer

negligent and
laundry obligations in that: (1) Harbor had to forfeit its rights
to perform laundry services under the Jefferson Agreement;
(2) Century had to forfeit its rights to perform laundry
services under the Virtua Agreement; (3) Harbor did not
receive the marketing, sales and termination fees that it was
owed pursuant to the Marketing Agreement on account of
the termination of the Jefferson and Virtua Agreements;
(4) Harbor would not realize the distribution of cash flows
from the anticipated profits of GEM; (5) Harbor has been
obligated to issue credit adjustments to Jefferson and Virtua
Health Systems; (6) Harbor's and Waxman's business and
professional reputations have been injured; (7) Harbor has
been compelled to defend claims of creditors of GEM and

incur expemes and (8) Harbor has been obligated to satisfy
sof GEM. /4 at 11 48,

£ross misman

agculel

Clearly, these allegations reflect that plaintiffs are relying
on the GEM Operating Agreement and the Marketing
Agreement to sei forth their claim for negligence
negligence. Their proper redress belongs in contract, not in
tort, pursuant to the *“gist of the action™ doctrine. Therefore,
the Preliminary Objections 1o Count II are sustained. Count

11 is stricken from the complaint.

orang

ain l\.l sl usd>

B. Count III-Breach of Contract

Defendants demur, on several grounds, to Count 1, which
purportedly seeks payment of sales fees, service fees and
termination fees. As to the sales fees, defendants contend

t plaintiffs are not entitled to the sales fees under the
erating and Marketing Agreements since sales fees were
never intended to apply to the Jefferson Agreement but were
to apply to customers who actually entered into laundry
service agreements with GEM and that plamuffs make only

L+« DICT: A
tnat R151 i8S LllC

L()[lblUbUly dlngaLlUllh
of GEM. As to the service fees, defendants argue that
GEM never entered into a laundry services agreement with
Jefferson, and, therefore, neither it nor its successor would
be liable for service fees. Defendants contend that plaintiffs’
claim as to service fees fails for lack of consideration. As to
termination fees, defendants assert that GEM's liability for
termination fces arises only after certain conditions precedent
are satisfied and that these conditions were not met in the
present instance since Harbor failed to assign the Jefferson
Agreement to GEM and no laundry service customer ever
alleged that it had terminated its agreement with GEM, but,
rather, Jefferson and Virtua had terminated the agreements
they had with Harbor and Century. Defendants also argue
that thls court lacks jurisdiction to decide whether the laundry

was terminated for cause,

Anag ARl
T

“successor o ﬁSSig'ﬁ

*6 This court concludes that the demurrer should be
overruled with respect to the sales fees and service fecs, but
sustained with respect 1o the termination fecs.

In Count TII of the Second Amended Complaint, plaintiffs
seek sales fees and service fees pursuant to certain
provisions of the Operating Agreement and related Marketing
Agreement, which are alleged to be a continuing obligation
of GEM or any entity succeeding to GEM's assets or business
who continues to perform laundry services for a laundry
customer procured during the term of the agreement(s). See
Second Am.Compl. at 7 42. 50. Plaintiffs implicitly seek
termination fees which defendants are allegedly obligated
to pay them under the Marketing Agreement on account
of Jefferson's termination of Harbor which is attributable
to defendants' alleged performance deficiencies. /d. at 19
38-40; 48(d), (e). Plaintiffs also allege that Rlbl or RO} al

[ h
SUCCESSOr nas sud

of GEM and continues to owe GEM's obligations to pay
Harbor these fees. /d. at 9§ 51. Further, plaintiffs allege that
defendants Royal PA, RISI and the individual defendants,
who were guarantors of GEM's performance, breached the
Operating Agreement and related Marketing Agreement by
failing to secure GEM management personnel with sufficient
experience in the laundry business or properly and efficiently
run the daily operations of GEM. Jd. at {9 28-30, 52-55. In

addition to the alleged fees owed to them, plaintiffs allege
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that the) have suffered damages in thelr name, reputatlon and
f ons, Id

To maintain a cause of action for breach of contract, the
plaintiff must aiiege and uitimately prove (1) the existence
of a contract, including its essential terms, (2) a breach of
a duty imposed by the contract and (3) resultant damages.
CoreStates Bank, NA. v. Cutitlo, 723 A2d 1033, 1038
{Pa.Super.1999) (citations omitted). “While not every term of
a contract must be stated in complete detail, every element
must be specifically pleaded.” IZ at 1058. Further, to recover
on a breach of contract claim, a plaintiff must generally
aver that all conditions precedent have been performed or
occurred. See Britr v. Chestmut 11ill College. 429 Pa.Super.
263, 269. 632 A.2d 557, 560 (1993). See also, PaR.C.P.
1019¢¢). Our Superior Court exn]mn

this principle here:

when the consideration of the
defendant's contract was executory, or
his performance was to depend on
some act to be done or forborne by
the plaintiff, or some other event, the
plaintiff must aver the fulfiliment of
such condition precedent, whether it
were in the affirmative or negative, or
to be performed or observed by him or
by the defendant. or any other person,
or must show some excuse for the
nonperformance ....

Zeller v. Wunder, 1908 WL 3639, at *3 (Pa.Super.Ct. Nov.
14, 1907).

In analyzing plaintiffs' breach of contract claim, this court
must look to various provisions of the Operating and
Marketing Agreement to see whether plaintiffs are barred. as
a matter of law, from recovering sales fees, service fees and/
or termination fees for failure of a condition precedent and/

or lack of consideration. ¢ First, the fact that the Jefferson
Agreement may not have been assigned to GEM is not fatal
to plaintiffs' claim. The Operating Agreement provided, in
pertinent part, that:

*7 [i]n the event, notwithstanding Harbor's best efforts, as
aforesaid, Harbor cannot obtain the consent of the Jefferson
Health S DY ‘stem to the dSSigﬁmUlll of the Jefferson Scrvices

Agreement by Harbor to [GEM], this Agreement shall not
be considered under the Jefferson Services Agreement as

an assignment, but instead. as contemplated by Section
18 of the Jefferson Services Agreement, this Agreement
shall constitute a subcontract between Harbor and [GEM]
pursuant to which [GEM] shall be engaged to perform and
fulfill on behalf of Harbor all of Harbor's obligations for

the performance of Laundry Services ... to the Jefferson
Health System ... and [GEM] shall be entitled to receive all
compensation paid by the Jefferson Health System under
such Agreement for the performance of such Laundry
Services, to the same extent as if the Jefferson Services
Agreement were actually assigned to the Company....

Second Am.Compl., Exhibit B at § 1.2.6.1.1. Plaintiffs
alleged that GEM was engaged to perform the laundry
services required to be performed by Harbor undcr
the Jefferson Agreement. Second Am.Compl. at § 20.
Therefore, this court may reasonably infer that Harbor
performed its initial task of contributing to GEM the

right to perform the laundry scrvices under the Jefferson

Agreement.
In addition, the Operating Agreement stated that “the Sales
Tan foc Aafiwa askhnae CQamriinne A srrasss an

rec \as defined under the Harbor Services
continuing obligation of [GEM] for so long as [GEM] (or
any successor or assign to all or a substantial portion of
[GEM's] business) performs Laundry Services for any such
Laundry Service customer's facility....” Second Am.Compl.,
Exhibit B at § 6.2.1.1 (emphasis added). Prior to any sale
of the GEM's assets, the members. i.e., Harbor and Royal,
had to agree to this continuing obligation to Harbor. /d.
Under the Operating Agreement, RISI and Royal PA were to
arrange for the availability to GEM of all necessary capital
for the operation of GEM's business activities and Royal PA
was to provide GEM with all supervisory support necessary
for its operations. /d at § 6.3. Further, on the signature
page of the Operating Agreement, RISI and the individual
defendants guaranteed, as surety, in favor of Harbor, the

payment and nprfm'man‘f- of all of ann] PA's nh]mm‘mnc

LAV QN

under the agreement. /d. at 32. It is not clear from the broad
language of section 6.2.1.1 that the sales fee(s) were only
intended for laundry customers procured by Harbor, other

PRI, |

than Jefferson.

Moreover, under the Marketing Agreement. executed on the
same day as the Operating Agreement, Harbor was engaged
as GEM's exclusive sales and marketing representative and
Harbor was to use its best efforts to procure laundry
services customers for GEM. Second Am.Compl.. Exhibit
C at § 3(a). The exclusivity provision would not apply if
Harbor does not procure, within the eighteen (18) month
period following GEM's commencement of the Jefferson
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Agreement, commitments for GEM to perform laundry

services for an additional 7.25 million puhuda vn.n5h|, per

year of laundry. /d. at § 3(a)(ii). In such event, GEM could
solicit and procure laundry service customers directly. /d. In
consideration of Harbor's performance, Harbor was to receive
a sales fee at the rate of 3.5% of the net coliected revenues
collected by GEM (and its successors and assigns). /d. at §
3(e).

*8 Ttis not clear that the sales fee provision was not triggered
simply because GEM may not have formally entered into
an agreement with Jefferson or another laundry service
customer. Further., it is not clear that Royal Successor or some
other corporation who succeeded to GEM's assets could not
be obligated to Harbor to pay them a sales fee for laundry
services performed for Jefferson. The extent of sales fees

that ha awod tn
G W0

that may be owe arhor mayv denend on the term of

arpor Q) MLpLas =91t

the respective agreements, but this factual issue cannot be
determined at this point. Therefore, the demurrer to the breach
of contract claim as to the sales fee provisions is overruled.

As to services fees. the Marketing Agreement obligated
Harbor to perform certain long-term customer relationship
activities to the extent required under each Laundry Service
Agreement entered into by GEM. Jd at § 3(g). In exchange
for its performance. Harbor was to receive a service fee under
each Laundry Services Agreement at the rate of $.005 per
pound of soiled linen processed by the Laundry Facility for
the healthcare customers. /d The service fee was payable by
GEM to Harbor on a monthly basis. /4. Tt is not clear that
the fact that no service agreement may have been formally
entered into by GEM bars Harbor's recovery of a service
fee. when read in conjunction with the Operating Agreement
and the treatment of GEM as a subcontractor. Therefore, the
demurrer to the breach of contract claim as to the service fee

provisions is also overruled.

As to the termination fees, GEM and Royal agreed that
“in the event any Laundry Service Customer procured by
Harbor alleges that it has terminated its Laundry Service
Agreement with [GEM] on account of a deficiency in
[GEM's] quality of Laundry Services (referred to herein
as a ‘for cause termination’) during the initial ... term of
any such Laundry Service Agreement (including without
limitation. the Jefferson Services Agreement), [GEM] shall
pay to Harbor within ten (10) days following the effective
termination date of any such Laundry Service Agreement,
a termination fee...” Jd. at § 3(f) (emphasis in original).
However, Harbor's right to the termination fee was subject

to the condition that representatives of GEM and Royal
have the opportunity to interact with the Jaundry service
customer and discuss the customer's complaints prior to the
effective termination date. Id. at § 3(H)(ii)(1). Further, in the
event of a dispute between the parties concerning whether a
customer's termination of a laundry service agreement was a
“for cause termination,” such dispute shall be finally settled
by arbitration in accordance with the Rules of the American

Arbitration Association.

Plaintiffs fail to allege that GEM or Royal had the opportunity
to discuss Jefferson's complaints. Rather, Harbor, on its own,
appears to have undertaken the complaints of the laundry
service customers. Second Am.Compl. at 9§ 31-32. Failure
to aver the performance of this condition precedent bars

plaintiffs from recovering termination fees.” Therefore, the

- mi

demuirer as to termination fees i ined.

is sustaine

*9  Since this court cannot conclude with certainty that
plaintiffs have failed to state a cause of action for breach of
contract in Count I11 in order to recover sales fees or services
fees, the demurrer to Count I1I is overruled as to those fees.

C. Count IV-Breach of Fiducrary Duty

Defendants demur to Count IV on the grounds (1) that all of
the plaintiffs lack standing to sue a co-member of the limited
liability company for breach of fiduciary duty; (2) the type
of misconduct on which plaintiff's claim is predicated is not
within the scope of fiduciary duty established by 15 Pa.C.S.A
§ 8943(a); and (3) that plaintiffs are no different than creditors
of GEM with respect to their contract damages. This court
disagrees with respect to Harbor, but not as to the other named
plaintiffs.

In Coun plaintiffs set

v
forth the following allegations:

v-o»

of the Second Amended Complaint, p

57. GEM was an entity created to effect a joint venture
between plaintiffs and defendants.

58. As a result of the defendants' breach of contract,
negligence, gross negligence, severe, inefficient and
willful or reckless mismanagement and otherwise,
defendants violated the fiduciary duty owed among
members of a limited liability company or among its

partners.

59. Jt was reasonably foreseeable to these defendants that
the entities comprising the Harbor Group would have an

(A1




to operate efficiently and to provide laundry scrvices at
least in a manner reasonably consistent with commercial
healthcare industry standards. This is particularly the case
due 10 the following language in the Marketing Agreement
(Exhibit C, p. 79 (i)):

... Laundry Co. [GEM] acknowledges that Harbor
'HHS] has eniered into ihis Agreemeni in reliance
upon [GEM's] and {GEM's] principal members,’ [Royal
PA]. representations and reputations of high quality of
service. [GEM] acknowledges that quality of service
at a competitive price is of paramount importance to
Laundry Service Customers and Harbor has entered into
this Agreement based upon Laundry Co.'s guaranty that
it will be able to satisfy such Laundry Service Customers'

demands with respect to such matters.

60. The aforementioned defendants breached this fiduciary
duty owed to the Harbor Group. The defendants
were also willfully, recklessly or grossly negligent by
misrepresenting their ability to perform the responsibilities
and undertakings in the joint venture.

Second Am.Compl. at §9 57-60.

In analyzing the demurrer to this Count, the court notes that
no Pennsylvania case has addressed whether one member of
a limited liability company may hold another member liable
for breach of fiduciary duty. Defendants refer to International
Flavors and Textures. L.L.C. v. Gardner. 966 F.Supp. 352,

SZA ST M AL AL 1O0TY Fase tha meamaciel
324 (wW.U.MICN. 1777 ), 101 tne plupumhﬁﬁ that a member

owes a fiduciary duty to the limited liability company, but
not to its members. Since that case was interpreting Michigan
law on limited liability companies, this court does not find it
helpful or applicable.

*10 Certain provisions of the “Limited Liability Company
Law of 1994,” codified at 15 Pa.C.S.A. §§ 8901 ef seq., are

relevant for deciding this issue. 8 First, Section 8904 states,

in pertinent part, that:

(a) General Rule.-Unless otherwise provided in the
certificate of organization, in any case not provided for in
this chapter:

(1) If the certificate of organization does not
contain a statement to the effect that the limited

liability company shall be managed by managers,
sions of Phantpr 81 (relating to general
prowslon) and 83 (relating to general partnerships)
govern, and the members shall be deemed to
be general parlners for purposes of applying the
provisions of those chapiers ..
{b) Basis for determining liability of members, etc.-
Except as otherwise provided in section 110 (relating
pr)if: entary generai pl‘ii‘lﬁp es of law applwamc;,
lhe liability of members, managers and employees of
a company shall at all times be determined solely and

exclusively by the provisions of this chapter.

15 Pa.C.S.A. § 8904 (emphasis added).” Further, Section
8922(a) provides that “[n]either the members of a limited
liability company nor the managers of a company managed
by one or more managers are liable, solely by reason
of being a member or a manager, under an order of
a court or in any other manner for a debt, obligation
or liability of the company of any kind or for the
acts or omissions of any other member, manager, agent
or employee of the company.” 15 Pa.C.S.A. § 8922(a)
(emphasis added). A reasonable mterpretat;on of this
scction does
liability, in all circumstances, but means that members
are not liable simply because of their status as members.
In addition. Section 8943, which governs when a limited
liability company is not to be managed by managers,
obligates every member to “account to the company for
any benefit and hold as trustee any profits derived by
him without the consent of the other members from any
transaction connected with the organization, conduct or
winding up of the company or any use by him of its
property.” 15 Pa.C.S.A. § 8943. The 1994 Committee
Comment to Scction 8943 relates the following:

.. members who do not act as managers, like corporate
shareholders and limited partners, do not have the fiduciary
duties of managers. Even if a member is not involved
in management, however, the member has no right to
appropriate for personal use property belonging to the
company. It is intended that the courts will fashjon rules
in appropriate circumstances by analogy to principles of
corporate or partnership law to deal with situations such
as oppression of minority members, actions taken in bad
faith, etc...

These sections, taken together, authorize this court to look to

principles of partnership law and/or corporate law. Under the

Uniform Partnership Act (“"UPA™), a partner is accountable
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to the partnership as a fiduciary for the profits derived by

him wiitha + nf tha atha

the partnershlp or from any use of the partnership's property.
15 Pa.C.S.A. § 8334(a). The UPA also applies to limited
liability companies. 15 Pa.C.S.A. § 8311(b). Further. partners
stand in a fiduciary relationship to each other. See Clement v.
Clement, 436 Pa. 466. 468, 260 A.2d 728. 729 (1970); Bracht
v. Brachi, 313 Pa. 397,402, 170 A. 297. 298 (1933). As stated
in Clement

narnars in tho ~cands
l JJI'-I.I ivio ul I'll\d oL

*11 partners owe a fiduciary duty one
to another.... One should not have to
deal with his partners as though he
were the opposite party in an arms-
length transaction. One should be
allowed to trust his partner, to expect
that he is pursuing a common goal and
not working at cross-purposes.

1d a1 468,260 A.2d at 729. See also, Haymond v. Lundy. 2000
WL 804432, at *14 (E.D.Pa. Junc 22, 2000)(finding that the
fiduciary of duty between partners has limits and does not
always apply to every interaction merely by the existence of
a partnership); Havdinger v. Freedman, 2000 WL 748055,

at *8 (E.D.Pa. June 8, 2000} determining that Pennsylvania
law allows a limited partner to bring an action against a
general partner for breach of fiduciary duties). Cf. Kenworthy

v, Hargrove, 855 F.Supp. 101, 105 (E.D.Pa.1994).

Here, the Operating Agreement provides that the management
of GEM shall be vested in the members. Second Am.Compl.,
Exhibit B at § 3.3 .1. Therefore, this court should treat the
members of GEM (i.e.. Harbor and Royal) like partners.
Further. the Operating Agreement includes the following
provision with respect to liability of members:

To the Company and Other Members. Each Member shall
be obligated to perform all promises and covenants to
contribute all monies and property undertaken by such
Member set forth herein. Notwithstanding the foregoing
and except as limited by the Act, any such obligation
to make a contribution and/or perform services may be
compromised and/or waived by a Super Majority Vote of
the Members, other than the Member responsible for such
obligation.

Id at § 4.3.2. Since Royal PA was allegedly obligated to
supply experienced personnel for GEM and supervise the
laundry services and since Royal PA allegedly failed to
properly run the daily operations of GEM, it may ultimately

be held liable for breach of fiduciary duty as a co-member of

SEN
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Nonetheless, this court finds that plaintiffs, Waxman and
Century, do not have standing to sue Royal PA, RISI or
the individual defendants for breach of fiduciary duty since

neither plaintiff is a member of GEM. 1o

Since this court cannot say with certainty that Harbor has not
stated a claim against Royal PA for breach of fiduciary duty,
the demurrer to Count IV is overruled.

D. Count VIII-Tortious Interference/Corporate Opportunity
Defendants demur to Count VIII on the grounds that (1)
plaintiffs have failed to allege an intentional interference

with r\lmnhf‘fe r\rncnr—mhvp contractual relationg and that (2)

............... VSPELLIVE LoTatiuar Iwauel MG (&

plaintiffs have failed to identify any prospective contractual
relationship. This court agrees as to the first point.

To establish a cause of action for intentional inierference
with contractual relations, the plaintiffs must allege the
following: (1) the existence of a contractual, or prospective
contractual relation between the complainant and a third
party: (2) purposeful action on the part of the defendant,
specifically intended to harm the existing relation, or to
prevent a prospective relation from occurring: (3) the absence
of a privilege or justification on the part of the defendant; and
(4) the occasioning of actual legal damage as a result of the
defendant's conduct. Shiner v. Moriarty, 706 A.2d 1228, 1238
(Pa.Super.Ct.1998).

*12 As to the second element of this tort. *“intent extends
both to the desired consequences and to the consequences
substantially certain to follow from the act.” Field v.

lDr’ih’L’id{?x’p/ﬁc’i Elec. Co., 388 Pa.S SUpPET. 400, 416. 565 A.2d
1170, 1178 (1989); Restatement (Second) of Torts § 8A
(stating that “intent” means “that the actor desires to cause
[the] consequences of his act, or that he believes that the
consequences are substantially certain to result from it.”).
As noted in the comment to Section 766 of the Restatement
(Second) of Torts, this tort can apply to “an interference that
is incidental to the actor's independent purpose and desire
but known to him to be a necessary consequence of his
action. The fact that this interference with the other's contract
was not desired and was purely incidental in character is,
however, a factor to be considered in determining whether the
interference is improper.™ Rest. (Second) of Torts § 766, cmt.
j- See also, Glazer v. Chandler, 414 Pa. 304. 308, 200 A.2d
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416, 418 (1964)(“where ... the allegations and evidence only

disclose that defendant breached his contract with plaintiffs
and that as an incidental consequence thereof plaintiff's

business relationships with third parties have been atfected,
an action lies only in contract for defendant's breaches, and
the consequential damages recoverable, if any, may only be
adjudicated in that action.”™).

In addition, a claim for tortious interference based on
a prospective contractual relation is not deficient where
it fails to specifically define the specific prospective
contract(s). Kelly-Springfiled Tire Co. v. D'dmbro. 408
Pa.Super. 301, 309, 596 A.2d 867. 871 (1991)(holding that
complaint was not deficient for failing to identify a specific
prospective contractual relation,
contractual relations are, by definition, not as susceptible of

definite, exacting identification as is the case with an existing

because “prospective
prosp:

contract with a specific person.™).

VIIL, plamtlff sets forth, in pertinent part, the

80. Plaintiffs have been successful providers of linen
services to various hospitals in their market area.

81. The grossly deficient performance of defendants
in supervising the operations of GEM, which have in
turn cauv.ed the damages to plamuffs conlended in thls

82. The activities of defendants have tortiously interfered

to develop and
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cxpand thCll’ operauons.

Second Am.Compl. at §§ 80-82. Plaintiffs also alleged that
“[tlhe GEM joint venture undertaking was never negotiated,
commenced or performed by the Royal Group defendants in
good faith. To the contrary, based upon the subsequent actions
of the Royal Group, the defendants entered into the GEM
joint venture principally in order to promote the siz
commercial laundry business operations in contemplation of
selling all of the Royal Group's business operations.” /d. at §
37. Further, defendants' alleged misconduct rests in its focus
on selling its entire business operations (inciuding GEM) and
failing to locate and secure experienced GEM management
personnel or to efficiently run the daily operations of GEM
in a cost-effective manner. /d. at §9 29-30. In addition,
plaintiffs alleged that the Harbor Group arranged for an
alternative laundry service provider in August 1999, after

the Roval Group advised it that they would abandon their

obligations to oversee and supervise the performance of
laundry services. Id. at 9 34. During this transition in the
performance of laundry services, the performance problems

did not dramatically improve. /d. at § 35.

*13 Even taking these allegations as true and assuming
all reasonable inferences, this court finds that plaintiffs
have not alleged that defendants took purposeful action
specifically intended to harm plaintiffs’ business relations
with prospective third parties. This court also cannot
reasonably infer from the allegations that defendants knew
or should have known that their behavior was substantially
certain to result in plaintiffs’ business relations with others
being negatively affected.

For these reasons, the demurrer to Count VIII is sustained and
Count VIII is stricken.

E. Failure To Attach Writings

Defendants also move to strike Counts II, IIT and IV, to
the extent that their based on an alleged agreement between
Virtua and Century and between Century and GEM, for

Preliminary objections may also be brought for failure of
a pleading to conform to Jaw or a rule of court. Pa.R.C.P.
1028(a)2). Currently, subsection (i) of Rule 1019 requires
a pleader to attach a copy of the writing or material part
thereof where a claim or defense is based upon that writing. 1

Pa.R.C.P. 1019(i). Further, a pleader may state that the
writing is not accessible, along with the reason and the
substance of the writing, in order to comply with the rule.
Id. Also, the current subsection (h) of Rule 1019 requires
the pleader to state whether an agreement is writien or oral.
Nonetheless, Rule 126 provides that the procedural rules are
to be liberally construed and allows the court to disregard any
procedural defect V\thh does not affect the substantial rights

AF s fae Da
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Here, the allegations do not state whether any agreement
betwecn Virtua and any of the parties was written or oral.
Plaintiffs also do not attach this agreement. Plaintiffs may not
assert their claims for breach of contract or breach of fiduciary
duty or any other claims without attaching this agreement
or providing an explanation for why it was not attached or

whether it was oral.
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In this instance, the court will overrule the Preliminary

Objection for failure to attach a writing with the specific
direction that plaintiffs either provide the written Virtua
Agreement, or provide in writing an explanation for the

reasons it is not provided.

I1. PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS TO AMENDED
COMPLAINT-AUGUST ACTION

All defendants. except GEM, have also filed Preliminary
Objections to the Amended Complaint in the August action
filed by Harbor on the grounds that Harbor may not bring a
claim against the guarantor defendants because the guaranty
in question is a special guaranty in favor of Waxman,
and cannot be enforced by Harbor as an assignee. These
defendants also object based on Pa.R.C.P. 1019(h) and (i) for
failure to attach a copy of the assignment or to state whether
the assignment was contained in a writing.

In the Amended Complaint, Harbor is suing on the
e (“Note™). exect ited on November 24, 1998,

sory Note ("Note cuted or cmber

in the principal amount of two hundred thousand dollars
($200.000.00) in favor of Earl Waxman. Am.Compl. at § 9.
See, Am.Compl., Exhibit A. Plaintiff alleges that the Note
provides that an event of default exists if Fleet National
Bank (“Fleet™) declares a default against GEM under the
July 29, 1998 Loan and Security Agreement. which Fleet
did so declare in or about May 1999. /d. at § 9. Further,
plaintiff alleges that the Note was assigned without recourse
by Waxman to Harbor, who is the current holder thercof. /d
atq 13.

*14 First, this court previously addressed part of this issue
in footnote 6 of its Opinion, granting the Petition to Strike
the Confessed Judgment. Harbor Hospital Services, Inc. v.
Gem Laundry Services, L.L.C., et al., August 2000, No. 207,
slip op. at 7 n. 6 (C.P.Phila.Nov. 28, 2000)(Herron, J. )(finding
that “this court cannot conclude that Harbor, as an assignee,
did not have authority to enforce the confession of judgment

cally provided

monimat tha grromnemdoars

% .
against tn¢ guarantors” since the Note specific

he Note specific
that the payee or any other holder thereof may cause such
judgment to be confessed). Further. this court does not find
that the “guaranty” at the end of the Note is a “special
guaranty” as argued by the defendants. Rather, it is a surety
agreement.

A guaranty is a “collateral agreement for performance of
another's undertaking” or “[a]n agreement in which the
guarantor agrees to satisfy the debt of another ... only if and
when the debtor fails to pay (secondarily liable).” Black's

Law Dictionary (6th €d.1990), at 705. A “special guaranty”

o the particular person

is a “guaranty which is available only
to whom it is offered or addressed; as dlsungulshed from a
general guaranty, which will operate in favor of any person
who may accept it.” /d. at 706. In contrast, a surcty is “[o}ne
who at the request of another, and for the purpose of securing
to him a benefit, becomes responsible for the performance
by the latter of some act in favor of a third person ... [or]
undertakes to pay money or to do any other act in event that
his principal fails therein.” /d. at 1441. A surety is a “person
who is primarily liable for payment of debt or performance
of obligation of another.” /d. A surety is usually bound with
his principal by the same instrument, executed at the same
time and on the same consideration. /d. On the other hand,
a guaranty agreement is a separate undertaking. in which the
principal does not join, and is usually entered into before or
after that of the principal and is often founded on separate

consideration. /d.

Here, the “guaranty™ in question is written directly under the
terms of the Note and GEM's signature on the N
executed at the same time as the Note. Am.Compl., Exhibit

A at 2-3. It states the following:

Trto omd ng
ULIC allud wad

e Aot mean sl Tan al
1

The liuuublg,ucu Royal Institution
Services, Inc., Royal of PA, Inc., and
Mark Johnson, Shawn Ryan and Mark
Leibovitz, collectively constituting the
sole shareholders of Royal of Pa, Inc.
and of Royal Institutional Services,
Inc.. do each hereby acknowledge the
foregoing Promissory Note executed
by GEM Laundry Services, L.L.C.,
and do each hereby, jointly and
severally, guaranty, as surety, in
favor of Earl Waxman the payment
and performance of all the Maker's
obligations under such Promissory
Note.

Id (emphasis added). Its express terms reveal that it is a
surety, not a special guaranty. There does nol appear to
be a prohibition against Harbor, as assignee, from suing
antors-RISI, Roval PA or the individual

the individual guar
defendants-for monies owed on the Note. Moreover, Harbor's
sole shareholder is Waxman, who should be able to assign the

Note to his own corporation.

*15 For these reasons, the demurrer to the Amended
Complaint is overruled.
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Additionally. Harbor, as assignee, did not have to attach a
copy of the assignment in order to proceed in this action.
See Manor Bldg. Corp. v. Manor Complex Assocs., Ltd..
435 Pa.Super. 246. 256, 645 A.2d 843. 848 (1994). See
also, Brown v. Esposite. 157 Pa.Super. 147. 149. 42 A.2d
93, 94 (1945)(assignees “were not required to set out [the]
assignment verbatim or attach a copy of the assignment as an
exhibit to their nleadmgs_ ).

Therefore, the Preliminary Objections, based on Pa.R.C.P.
1019¢h) and (i}, in this action are also overruled.

this court is

+hoa
BUDLGHHUIK Ui

For the reasons set forth, entering

a contemporancous
Objections to Counts II and VIII of the Second Amended
Complaint in the July action, as well as the Preliminary
Objections based on failure to attach the Virtua Agreement.
The Preliminary Objections to Count III are sustained, in part,
and overruled, in part. Additionally, this court is overruling
the remaining Objections in the July action and all of the
Objections to the Amended Complaint in the August action.
Defendants shall have twenty-two (22) days within entry of
this Opinion and contemporaneous Order to file an Answer

Nied . Daalisniem e,
vIuLL, risiiuuial y

to both complaints.

All Citations
CONCLUSION
Not Reported in A.2d, 2001 WL 1808556
Footnotes
1 By this court's Order, dated March 7, 2001, granting the motion to consolidate the two cases, the lead case was designated

as the one captioned as July Term, 2000, No. 4830. In this Opinion, the iead case shall be referred to as the “July action”
and the consolidated case shall be referred to as the “August action.”

2 All references in this Opinion to the Second Amended Complaint refers to the complaint filed in the July action. All
references to the Amended Complaint refers to the complaint filed in the August action. The term “Exhibits” refers to
those exhibits attached to the respective compiaints or to the defendants’ Preiiminary Objections.

3 GEM does not appear to have joined the other defendants in their objections, but rather, GEM filed an Answer to Counts V,
VI and V! of the Second Amended Complaint. RIS| and the other defendants also filed Answers to Counts |, V, VI and VII.

4 See Harbor Hospital Services, inc. v. GEM Laundry Services, L . L.C., et al., August Term, 2000, No. 207 (C.P.Phita.Nov.

Lo Ya¥aY2 Y W04 N Pumeunn

28, 20600) (Herron, J.).

5 Defendants also assert that plaintiffs lack standing to hold the Royal entities and the individual defendants liable for
negligent breach of contract. However, this court is sustaining the objections to Count Il on other grounds and need not

now address this argument.

] Interpretation of the Operating and Marketing Agreement is a matter of an for the court, and not a question of fact
Onofrey v.. Wolliver, 351 Pa. 18, 21, 40 A.2d 35, 37 (1944); Mellon Ban v. National Union Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh,
768 A.2d 865, 868 (Pa . Super.Ct.2001).

7 Having determined this issue, this court need not address whether it lacks jurisdiction to determine whether the termination

by lafferson was “for cause”
y Jefierson was 1or cause .

8 Plaintiffs explicitty alleged that GEM is a limited liability company. Second Am.Compl. at § 6. Therefore, notwithstanding
plaintiffs' characterization of GEM as a “joint venture” in paragraph 57 of the Second Amended Complaint, this court will

treat GEM as a limited liability company.

o] Section 110 provides that “[ulniess displaced by the particular provisions of this title, the principles of law and equity,

including, but not limited to, the law relating to principal and agent, estoppel, waiver, fraud, misrepresentation, duress,
coercion, mistake, bankruptcy or other validating or invalidating cause, shall supplement its provisions. 15 Pa.C.S.A. §

110.

10  Though Waxman is the sole shareholder of Harbor and Century, this fact alone does not give him standing to sue Royal
PA or the other defendants for an indirect injury to Harbor or to GEM, itself. See, e.g., Kelly v. Thomas, 234 Pa. 419,
427-28, 83 A. 307. 310 (1912)(relating the general rule that the right of an individual stockholder to act for the corporation
to remedy a wrong done to the corporation is exceptional and usually arises after the corporation has refused to sue
upon demand of the stockholder); Burdon v. Erskine, 264 Pa.Super. 584, 586, 401 A.2d 369, 370 (1879)(holding that
sole stockholder of corporation could not bring derivative action on behalf of corporation seeking restitution since injury

is too indirect).




Harbor Hosp. Services, Inc. v. Gem Laundry Services, i..L.C.,
2001 WL 1808556 ' -

This court previously recognized an exception to the shareholder-demand requirement in the case of the closely-held
corporation. See Levin v. Schiffman, July 2000, No. 4442, slip op. at 13-14 (C.P.Phila.Feb. 1, 2001)(Sheppard, J.)
and Baron v. Pritzker, August 2000, No. 1574, slip op. at 10-12 (C.P.Phila.Mar. 6, 2001)(Sheppard, J.). In both cases,
this court relied on § 7 .01(d) of the ALI Principles of Corporate Governance to hold that a shareholder's derivative
claim against a fellow shareholder may be treated as a direct claim in the case of a closely held corporation if it (i) will
not unfairly expose the corporation or defendants to a multiplicity of suits; (i) materially prejudice the interests of the
corporation's creditors; or (iii) interfere with a fair distribution or recovery among all interested parties.
Here, if Harbor's claim against Royal PA is construed as a “derivative” claim, this court may treat it as a direct claim
since Harbor and Royal PA are the only members of GEM. However, Waxman, though Harbor's principal, is too far
removed to bring a claim for breach of fiduciary duty against Royal PA. The duty, if any, would be between the members
of GEM, not between the individual shareholders of these members. Likewise, RIS! and the individual defendants, who
are shareholders of Royal PA and RISI, cannot be held liable for breach of fiduciary duty.

11 Formerly, subdivision (i) was listed as subdivision (h) which was amended in 2000. See Explanatory Comment-2000 to

Pa.R.C.P. 1019.

©
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MEMORANDUM OPINION
DAVID STEWART CERCONE. District Judge.

I. INTRODUCTION

*1 OnNovember 21, 2013, Plaintiff Chad Pecha (“Plaintiff™
or “Pecha™) initiated this action against a private attorney,
Frank Botta (“Defendant™ or “Botta™), asserting a variety
of statc and federal claims stemming from Botta's legal
rpprgsen’gaugn of Pecha's former employer, 5J Oilfield
Services. LLC (“5I™). (Doc. No. 1). Specifically, Plaintiff
asserts the following claims: “equal protection banning
plaintiff from seeking employment and to be secure

..... 4% 1T Qo £ 1082
UIIUCI - U.o.L. R 1763

in his person” {Count 1)
tortious interferecnce with business relations (Count II);
business disparagement (Count III); usurpation of business

opportunity (Count 1V); defamation (Count V); and a

declaratory judgment action (Count VI). 7

Presently pending before the Court is Defendant's Motion
to Dismiss (Docket No. 5). Plaintiff's Brief in Opposition
(Docket No. 8), and Defendant's Reply Brief (Docket No.
10). For the reasons set forth below, Defendants' Motion to
Dismiss will be granted in part and denied in part.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Prior to the events underlying this litigation. Pecha was
hi

epresented by Botta in hi

cn

employed by 5J, a company
capacity as a private attorney. (Compl.§{ 1-3). Upon leaving
his employment with 5), Pecha executed a Confidentiality
and Non—Compete Agreement (“the Agreement™), drafted
by Botta, pursuant to which Pecha agreed not io seek
employment with another company in the oil and gas industry
for a period of three years. (Compl.Ex. A). The Agreement
also contained geographic restrictions that encompassed
eleven states, including Ohio. (/d). In consideration for
Pecha's agreement not to compete, 5J agreed to withdraw a
prior federal lawsuit that it had filed against Pecha in the
Western District of Pennsylvania related to his termination.
(Id). Pecha and a representative for 5J each signed the
Agreement. (/d ).

At some in received word
that an Ohio company, Mid-East Trucking (“Mid—East™),
had either hired Pecha or was about to hire Pecha. (Compl.
4 8; Compl. Ex. B). In response, Botta drafted a letter to
Mid—East informing them ihat Pecha was subject io a non-
compete agreement and that any attempt to hire Pecha would
violate that agreement. /d. Botta also telephoned Mid—East to
advise them of the same. (Compl.§ 8). In the course of those
communications, Pecha asserts that Botta made “various
statements and accusations ... designed to cast [Pecha] in a
bad light 10 a potential employer.™ (/d. 4 51). Specifically,
Botta allegedly stated that *1 wouldn't trust [Pecha] as far as
I could throw him.” (/d. 9 52). As a result of Botta's actions,

Pecha failed to obtain employment with Mid—East. (/d 4 13).

point in October of 2013, Botta

III. LEGAL STANDARD

A valid complaint requires only “a short and plain statement
of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.”
Fed.R.Civ.P. 8(a)(2). “To survive a motion to dismiss [under
Rule 12(b)(6) ]. a complaint must contain sufficient factual
matter, accepted as true, to “state a claim to relief that is
plausible on its face.” ™ Ashcrofi v. Igbal, 356 U.S. 662.
£78. 129 £ .(t, 10"‘7' 173 1 Fé 3d QKQ ('7(\“0\ (nnnhno Rell

Do, ~ OF Guoullg 2<

Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.8. 344,127 S.Ct. 1955, 167
1..Ed.2d 929 (2007)).

*2 The Supreme Court in Igbal clarified that the decision
in Twombly “expounded the pleading standard for “all civil
actions .© * Igbal. 356 U.S. at 684. The court further
explained that although a court must accept as true all
of the factual allegations contained in a complaint. that
requirement does not apply to legal conclusions; therefore,
the pleadings must include factual allegations to support the
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legal claims asserted. /d. at 678-79. “Threadbare recitals

of the elements a cance of r-hnn cnpnr\riprl hv mere

of

conclusory statements, do not suffice.” /d at 678 (citing
Twombly, 530 U.S. at 535). The determination as to whether
a complaint contains a plausible claim for relief “is a context-
SpeClIlC laSl\ ma[ requlrcs lne I'CVIEW ll'lg court {0 draw on llb
judicial experience and common sense.” Igbal. 356 U.S. at
678-79 (citing Twombly. 5330 1.S. at 556). In light of Igbal,
the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit has
instructed that district courts should first separate the factual
and legal elements of a claim and then. accepting the “well-
pleaded facts as true,” “determine whether the facts alleged
in the complaint are sufficient to show that the plaintiff has a
‘plausible claim for relief.” “ Fowler v. UPMC Shadyside, 578
F.3d 203, 211 (3d Cir.2009). Ultimately, to survive a motion
to dismiss, a plaintiff must plead *“factual content that allows
the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant
is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Jghal, 556 U.S. at 678
(citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 356).

IV. DISCUSSION

A. Section 1983 (Count I)

Section 1983 imposes civil liability upon any person who,
under color of state law, deprives someone of the rights,
privileges, or immunities secured by the federal Constitution

or the laws of the United States. Gruenke v. Seip. 225
F.2d 290, 298 (3d Cir.2000). Section ot iteelf a2

290, 298 (3d Cir.2000). Section 1983 is “n
source of substantive rights, but merely provides a method
for vindicating federal rights elsewhere conferred.” Graham
v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386. 393-94. 109 S.Cu. 1865, 104
1..Ed.2d 443 (1989). To state a ciaim under Section 1983,
a plaintiff must allege a deprivation of a right secured by
the Constitution or laws of the United States and that the
deprivation occurred under color of state law. Lugar v.
Edmondson Oil Co.. Inc., 45711.8.922, 931, 102 S.Ct. 2744,
73 1L.Ed.2d 482 (1982). An individual acts under color of state
law when: “(1) he is a state official, (2) ‘he has acted together
with or has obtained significant aid from state officials,” or (3)
his conduct is, by its nature, chargeable to the state.” Angelico
v. Lehigh Valley Hosp.. Inc.. 184 F.3d 268.277 (3d Cir.1999)
(quoting Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., Inc., 457 U.S. 922,

937. 102 S.Ct. 2744, 73 L.Ed.2d 482 (1982)).

In his Section 1983 claim, Pecha contends that Botta violated
his right to seek and gain employment as secured bv the

n Aamn nee 4hn T Ten
lulllCllL LU i Ululcd S t

['Uul lCellLll MUICI
and Article 1. Section 10 of the Pennsylvania Constitution.

(Compl.99 18, 20). Pecha maintains that Botta is a state actor

for purposes of Section 1983 because of his role as a licensed
(Id § 15). Specifically,
Pecha contends that Botta acted under color of state Jaw by
“calling a potential Ohio employer from his Pennsylvania law
office” and by issuing an “actual and realistic threat of state

attorney and “officer of the Court.”

PSRN & P - | P e P T Agaimo
action [by] fil{ing] a lawsuit” against Mid—East if they hired

Pecha. (Doc. No. 8 at p. 7).

*3 There are few principles as well-settled in the law as
this: an attorney cannot be considered a state actor simply
because of his status as an attorney and officer of the court.
As explained by the United States Supreme Court:

It is often said that lawyers are
“officers of the court.” But the Courts
of Appeals are agreed that a lawyer
representing a client is not, by virtue
of being an officer of the court, a state
actor “under color of state law™ within
the meaning of § 1983.

Polk Countv v. Dodson, 454 1.8, 312, 318-19, 102 S.Ct
445, 70 L.Ed.2d 509 (1981). Thus, “[a]lthough states license
lawyers to practice, and although lawyers are deemed
‘officers of the court,” this is an insufficient basis for
concluding that lawyers act under color of state law for the
purposes of [Section 1983].” Henderson v. Fisher, 631 F.2d
1115, 1119 (3d Cir.1980): see also Angelico. 184 F.3d at 277~
78 (*Attorneys performing their traditional functions will not
be considered state actors solely on the basis of their positions
as officers of the court.™). Pecha's argument that Botta acted
under color of state law by making an interstate telephone call

and lﬂl‘cdlb[ll[lb o

o ek i

£21 . Tic Aldammdto wlinlasa ta
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patently frwolous. the absence of any statc action, Pecha's

ol
Section 1983 claims must be dismissed. ©

B. Tortious Interference with Business Relations (Count
)

It is generally recognized that a person “has the right to pursue
his business relations or employment free from interference
on the part of other persons except where such interference
is justified or constitutes an exercise of an absolute right.”
Adler, Barish. Daniels, Levin and Creskoff'v. Epsiein, 482 Pa.
416.393 A.2d 1175, 1182 (Pa.1978). In order to state a claim
for tortious interference under Pennsylvania law. a plaintiff
must allege:
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(1) The cxistence of a contractual, or prospective
contractual relation between the complainant and a third

party;

(2) purposeful action on the part of the defendant.
specifically intending to harm the existing relation, or to
prevent a prospective relation from occurring;

(3) the absence of privilege or justification on the part of
the defendant; and

(4) the occasioning of actual legal damage as a result of the
defendant's conduct.

CGB Occupation Therapy. Inc. v. RHA Health Servs. Inc.,
357 F.3d 375. 384 (3d Cir.2004).

In his complaint, Pecha alleges that Botta violated his right
to pursue a business relationship with Mid—East by “call[ing]
his potential employer in an attempt to prevent [Pecha]
from becoming gainfully employed™ and “[sending] a letter
threatening [Pecha’s] potential employer with civil suits if the
Plaintiff would be or was hired.” (Compl.q{ 27-28). There is
no question that this averment properly alleges the existence

afa
of a prospective contractual relationship with Mid-East, an

act by Bocha intended to harm that prospective relationship,
and legal damage as a result of that action. The only remaining
issue concerns the third element of Pecha's prima facia case:
the existence or absence of a priviiege or justification for
Botta's acts.

*4 In determining whether a defendant's actions are
privileged or justified, consideration is given to the following
factors:

(a) The nature of the actor's conduct,
{(b) The actor's motive,

(¢) The interests of the other with which the actor's conduct

(d) The interests sought to be advanced by the actor,

(e) The proximity or remoteness of the actor's conduct to
the interference, and

(f) The relations between the parties.

Adler, Barish. 393 A.2d at 1 184. In addition, the Pennsylvania
Supreme Court has held that “the conveyance of truthful

information is not ‘improper’ interference.” Walnut Street

610 Pa. 371,

!v courts have determined

Associates. Inc. v. Brokerage Concepis. Inc.,
20 A.3d 468. 478 (Pa.2011). Fin
that an attorney does not act improperly when he acts in
good faith to protect a client's legitimate interests. Ke/fy—
Springfield Tire Co. v. D'4mbro. 408 Pa.Super. 301,596 A.2d

Gz omA T 1001

sD/. 872 (¥4 UllpLF i771).

Citing the foregoing principles, Botta contends his actions
were privileged because his communications with Mid-East
stemmed directly from his representation of 5J and his client's
interest in enforcing Pecha's agreement not to compete.
The Court agrees. Under Pennsylvania law, an individual is
privileged to take action when he has a legally protected
interest and takes action or threatens to take action to protect
that interest using proper means. Gresh v. Potier McCune
Co., 235 PaSuper. 537, 344 A.2d 340. 341 (Pa.1975).
Moreover, as noted above. legitimate activities undertaken
by an attorney in the course of representing a client do not
constitute improper interference. Ke/h--Springfield, 596 A.2d
at 872. Pecha does not allege there is anything improper about

4 omfacan o nmaciismatiualy alid
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threateni
contractual agreement; indeed, he concedes in his complaint
that Botta acted at all times in the interest of his client, 5J.
(Compl.q 32).

Finally, there is “no liability for interference with a
contractual relation on the part of one who merely gives
truthful information to another.” Rantnerwork, Inc. v
Underwoaod, 2012 WL 1021326, *16 (M.D.Pa. Mar.26.2012)
{(quoting Restatement (Second) Torts § 772, comment b);
Walnut Streei 4ssociates. 610 Pa. 371. 20 A .3d at 478.
Pccha does not dispute that Botta's statements to Mid-East
concerning the existence of an agrecment not to compete and
5J's willingness to file a civil action to protect that agreement
were true. Consequently, Pecha cannot establish the third

element of his claim for tortious interference with business

A5 Lad

relations.

C. Busin

ess Disparagement (Count I1I)

In order to prevail on a claim for commercial disparagement
under Pennsylvania law, a plaintiff must show that the
defendant published a statement about plaintiff's business to

PR E S |
anoiner ana t

(1) The statement was false;

(2) the publisher either intended the publication to cause
pecuniary loss or reasonably should have recognized that
publication would result in pecuniary loss;
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*5 (3)p

= 7

cuniary loss did in fact result; and

(4) the publisher either knew the statcment was false or
acted in reckless disregard of its truth or falsity.

Pro Golf Mfg., Inc. v. Tribune Review Newspaper Co.. 570 Pa.
242. 809 A.2d 243 (Pa.2002) (citing Restatement {Second)
of Torts § 623(A)). An action for business disparagement “is
meant to compensate a vendor for pecuniary loss suffered
because statements attacking the quality of its goods have
reduced their marketability.” Svivgy, Ine. v. Scott—Levin, Inc.,
51 F.Supp.2d 570, 579 (E.D.Pa.1999). Consequently, the

NImark of an actionable “disparacing st

ha
nalimark of an actionabvi¢e "dis palaging Su

statement “is intended by its publisher ... to cast doubt upon
the cxistence or extent of another's property in land, chattels
or intangible things, or upon their quality.” {.S. Healthcare,
Inc. v. Bive Cross of Greater Phila., 898 I'.2d 914. 924 (3rd
Cir.1990) (quoting AMenefee v. Columbia Broadcasting Svs..
Inc.. 458 Pa. 46, 329 A.2d 216 (Pa.1974)).

. s
atement” ig that the

Notably, an action for disparagement is separate and distinct
from an action for defamation. As stated by the Third Circuit:

The distinction between actions for
defamation and disparagement turns
on the harm towards which each is
directed. An action for commercial
disparagement is meant to compensate
a vendor for pecuniary loss suffered
because statements attacking the
quality of his goods have reduced
their marketability, while defamation

is meant protect an entity's interest in
character and rcputation.

{/.S Healthcare. 898 F.2d at 924. In other words, “[a]
claim for defamation lies where the defamatory statement
fraud, deceit,
conduct” to the plaintiff, whereas a claim for commercial

imputes dishonesty, or reprehensible

disparagement attacks “the goods or products of a corporate
vendor.” Eleciro Med. Equip. Lid. v. Hamilton Med. AG.
2000 WL 675716, *2 (E.D.Pa. May 24, 2000) (internal quotes

omitted).

In the instant action, Pecha's business disparagement claim
consists entirely of his aliegation that Botta “published
false statements to a potential employer ... that were
disparaging to the Plaintiff regarding his ability as an
effective employee.” (Compl.{ 39). Any such statements,
if proven, would clearly represent an attack on Pecha's

rather than his “goods or

" {]
Consequently, Pecha's allegations fall entirely

“character and reputation™

A
products.

within the purview of defamation law, rather than business
disparagement. See, e.g, U.S. Healthcare. 898 F.2d at
924; see also The Knit With v. Knitting Fever. [nc., 2010
WL 3792200. *7 (E.D.Pa. Sep.28. 2010) (noting that a
defamatory statement attacks the reputation of an individual
or a company, while a commercially disparaging statement
attacks the quality of a company's goods or products);
Electro Med. Equip., 2000 WL 675716 at *2 (construing a
defamation claim as one for business disparagement because
it attacked the defendant's product rather than reputation).
Pecha's independent ctaim for business disparagement must
be dismissed.

D. Usurpation of a Business Opportunity (Count IV)

*6 In the fourth count of his complaint, Pecha attempts
to state a claim for “usurpation of a business opportunity”
under Pennsylvania law. This claim. based entirely on
Rotta's conduct in contacting Mid—Fast concerning Pecha's
potential employment, is unsupported and frivolous. The
corporate opportunity doctrine deals entirely with actions
taken by a director of a corporation in violation of his
fiduciary obligations. See. e.g., Committec of Unsecured
Creditors of Specialry Plustic v. Doemling, 127 B.R. 945. 951
(W.D.Pa.1991). Thus, in order to state a claim for usurpation
of a business opportunity, the plaintiff must establish that
a corporate director “utilized their position to obtain any
personal profit or advantage other than that enjoyed by their
fellow shareholders.” Hill v. Hill, 279 Pa.Super. 154, 420
A.2d 1078. 1081 (Pa.Super.1980). No such facts have been
alleged in the instant case.

E. Defamation (Count V)

To state a claim for defamation, a plaintiff must establish:
(1) the defamatory character of the communication; (2)
its publication by the defendant; (3) its application to
the plaintiff; (4) the understanding by the recipient of its
defamatory meaning; (5) the understanding by the recipient
of it as intended to be applied to the plaintiff; (6) special harm
resulting to the plaintiff from its publication; and (7) abuse of
a conditionally privileged occasion. 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 8343(a);
Bvars v. Sch. Dist., 942 F.Supp.2d 552 (E.D.Pa.2013). A
statement is defamatory if it tends to harm the reputation of
another so as to lower him in the estimation of the community
or to deter third persons from associating or dealing with him.
Tucker v. Phila. Dailv News, 377 Pa. 598, 848 A 2d 113.124
(Pa.2004). Whether a statement is capable of a defamatory
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the court. Blackwellv. Fskin,

r.2007) (glung Tucker, 848

meaning is a question of law for
916 A2d 1123, 1125 (Pa.Supe

A2d at 123).

It is well-established that “an opinion without more does not
create a cause of action in fibel.™ Baker v. Lafaverie College.
516 Pa. 291, 532 A.2d 399, 401 (Pa.1987). Rather, in order
to prevail, the “allegedly libeled party must demonstrate that
the communicated opinion may reasonably be understood to
imply the existence of undisclosed defamatory facts justifying
the opinion.” Beckman v. Dunn, 276 Pa.Super. 527. 419 A.2d
583. 587 (Pa.Super.1980) (citing Restatement (Second) Torts
§ 366). As explained by the Third Circuit:

[Aln opinion which is unfounded
reveals its lack of merit when the
opinion-hoider discloses the factual
basis for the idea. If the disclosed facts
are true and the opinion is defamatory,
a listener may choose to accept or
reject it on the basis of an independent
evaluation of the facts. However, if
an opinion is stated in a manner that
implies that it draws upon unsldtcd

farte for s

1AV LY 1Ud Il. \4
to make an evaluauon of the soundness
of the opinion.

*7 In the instant case. Pecha broadly alleges that Botta
made “various statements and accusations ... designed to cast
[Pechaj in a bad iight to a potential employer.” (id. § 51). This
vague allegation lacks the requisite level of specificity to state
a claim under Igbal and Twombley. Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678;
Twombly, 350 U1.S. at 556. However, Pccha does provide one
specific example of allegedly dcfamatory conduct: Botta's
statement, “I wouldn't trust [Pecha] as far as I could throw
him.” (Jd. 4 52). Although this statcment is clearly an opinion,
a reasonable listener could conclude from the statement
that Botta intended to imply the cxistence of undisclosed
facts indicating that Pecha is a dishonest person who cannot
be trusted in the workplace. Under such circumstances.
courts have regularly permitted plaintiffs to proceed with
defamation claims. See, e.g., Regis Ins. Co. v. A.M. Best Co.,
Inc.. 2013 WL 775521, *7 (E.D.Pa. Mar.1, 2013} (holding
that a press release downgrading plaintiff's credit rating was
capable of defamatory meaning because it failed to disclose
the underlying reasons for the downgrade); M-wnane v.
Winfrev, 693 F.Supp.2d 442, 494 (E.D.Pa.2010) (statements

that new school employees would provide a “different kind

the direction of the

of leadership” and “course correct™ the direction of th
school was capable of defamatory meaning with respect to
a deposed employee because it implied “undisclosed facts
that reflect poorly on Plaintiff's fitness for her profession
as an educator™); Heinsfein v. Bullock, 827 F.Supp. 1193.
1198-99 (E.D.Pa.1993) (police officer's opinion indicating
skepticism over an alleged rape victim's description of events

was capable of defamatory meaning).

Botta contends that an abundance of verifiable facts support
his alleged statement that Pecha is untrustworthy. (Doc. No. 6
at p. 18 n. 9). However, at this stage in the proceedings. those
facts are not part of the record before the Court. Consequently.
Botta's motion to dismiss will be denied with respect to
Pecha's defamation claim.

F. Declaratory Judgment (Count VI)

Finally, Pecha asks this Court to declare that the Agreement
itself is invalid. Pecha contends that the Agreement “was not
ancillary or contemporaneous with [his] employment™ and
“was not supported by adequate consideration nor reasonably
limited in duration and geographic extend.” (Compl.|y 63~
64).

To obtain declaratory relief under the Declaratory Judgment
Act, a plaintiff must demonstrate the cxistence of “a case of
actual controversy.” 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a). Whether a request
for declaratory relief is ripe depends on consideration of the
following list of non-exhaustive factors: (1) the adversity
of the interests of the parties; (2) the extent to which the
judgment would conclusively define and clarify the legal
rights or relations of the parties; and (3) the practical help,
or utility, that the judgment would have in remedying the
plaintiff's injury. Step-Saver Data Svstems, [nc. v. Wyse
Tech.. 912 F.2d 643, 647 (3d Cir.1990). Moreover, even
where a declaratory judgment action is ripe, it is within a
court's discretion to decline to issue declaratory relief. /d. at
646647 (“Even when declaratory actions are ripe. the Act
only gives a court the power to make a declaration regarding
the rights and other legal relations of any interested party

cnupua:ua 1ll
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original).

*8 In the instant case, declaratory relief is inappropriate for
the simple reason that the defendant, Botta, is not a party to
the Agreement in question and has no personal stake in the
Agreement's validity. See, e.g., American Home Assur. Co. v.
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Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 475 F.Supp. 1169. 1172 (E.D.Pa.1979)
(finding a lack of standing for declaratory relief because
the parties were not signatories to the indemnity agreement
at issue). In drafting the agreement and communicating its
existence 1o Mid-East, Botta merely provided a legal service
to 5], the true party in interest. As such. Botta and Pecha do
not have “adverse legal interests” within the meaning of the
Act.? Marviand Casualty Co. v. Pacific Coal & Oil Co., 312

£1 Qe K10 Q31 01 @24 71041
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V. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ Motion to
Dismiss (Docket No. 5) is granted in part and denied in part.
An appropriate order follows.

All Citations

Slip Copy. 2014 WL 4925152

Footnotes

1 In his complaint, Pecha mistakenly labeled his third and fourth claims as “Count ill.” Consequently, the numbers for
Counts IV, V and VI in his complaint are each off by one. (Doc. No. 1).

2 As noted above, Pecha invoked both the United States Constitution and the Pennsylvania Constitution in his Section 1983

of state Iaw, of federal statutory law or constitutional rlghts." Benn v. Universal Health Sys,, inc., 371 F.3d 165, 174 (3d
Cir.2004) (emphasis added). Simply put, “Section 1983 does not provide a cause of action for violations of state statutes”
or state constitutional rights. /d. Consequently, Pecha's Section 1983 claims based upon the Pennsylvania Constitution

are subject to dismissal on this basis as well.

3 Pecha did not address this claim in his brief in opposition to Botta's motion to dismiss.

End of Document
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MEMORANDUM
CHRISTOPHER C. CONNER, District Judge.

*1 This civil action is about an email. According to the
complaint (Doc. 1-4), plaintiff Rantnetwork, Inc., suffered
over $5 million in damages as the result of an email that
defendants Troy R. and Christina A. Underwood (*Mr.
Underwood” and “Mrs. Underwood.” respectively) sent
near the end of 2009 to Rantnetwork's CEO and several
of the company's investors. (/d 9 18, 24.) This email
allegedly caused one of the company's investors. Dr. Angelo
Mancuso, to withhold further investment in the company,
despite his previously expressed willingness to invest up
to $500,000. (Jd 99 22, 17.) The complaint describes an
avalanche of negative consequences that flowed from Dr.
Maricuso's cessation of further investment, ultimately causing
2

S8 e
Rantnetwork losses that it values at $5.478,166.00. (/d. § 24.)

Rantnetwork's complaint contains two counts against
Mr. and Mrs. Underwood: Count I alleges that the
Underwoods' sending of that fateful email constituted
intentional interference with prospective contractual relations
between Rantnetwork and Dr. Mancuso, for which they seek a
judgment in their favor in the above-mentioned sum; Count IT

seeks an injunction against the Underwoods to prohibit them

from meddling with Rantnetwork's future business affairs.
Presently before the court is the Underwoods' motion (Doc.
3) to dismiss the complaint (either for this court's lack of
I SIS TIC I TR SIS » YAUSDTRIR P DU NS SR
PCIdOIIAl Jull>UICHIVI UVOT UICIIL O 10I RAIlUICIWOIK S IdliuIc
to state a claim) or alternatively to stay this action pending the
outcome of an action previously filed in California state court.

For the reasons that follow, the court will grant the motion.

I Background]

The Pennsylvania-based Rantnetwork is a corporation that
develops various kinds of software. including network
translation software for the mobile-phone industry. (Doc. 1-
4,99 1. 4.) The Underwoods are both residents of California.
(1d. 9 3.) Although the complaint was originally filed on
June 16, 2001, in the Pennsylvania Court of Common Pleas,
Columbia County, the Underwoods removed the action to
{ederal court on the basis of complete diversity between the
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court subject-matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a).

The founder and CEO of Rantnetwork, William Grandizio,
spent part of his time raising capital for the company,
seeking funds for the development of the translation software.
(Id. § 5-6.) It was in this capacity and pursuit that Mr.
Grandiozo “was placed in contact™ with the Underwoods,
who, following some preliminary communications, sent their
agent to Bloomsburg, Pennsylvania to perform due diligence
on Rantnetwork as an investment. (/d §7.)

When the Underwoods' agent completed his investigation
and, evidently. recommended investing, the Underwoods
“forwarded to Rantnetwork, Inc. a Convertible Note™ for
$300,000, simple interest pavable at 20% annually, with
accrued and unpaid interest payable at the end of each
calendar month. (/d. § 8.) The note, dated November 19, 2007,
in Elk Grove, California, required Rantnetwork to commence

ot . R
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making paymen
the final payment of the principal and any remaining accrued
interest due on November 15, 2010. (/d.; see also Doc. 14,
at 11 (reproducing the note).) The note contained a clause that
allowed the Underwoods to “convert all or any part” of the
then-outstanding principal and interest “into that number of
shares™ of Rantnetwork's common stock. (Doc. 14, at 11 ¢l.

2)
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*2 With the Underwoods' investment in hand, Mr. Grandizio
d wo
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conti
business partnerships, and seeking further capital to finance
the software's development and marketing. (Doc. 1-4, 9 9.)
However, Mr. Grandizio died on August 26, 2008, at which
point Raninetwork's software was yei incoimpie
the company had accrued investment capital of at least
$475,000—$300,000 from the Underwoods and $175,000
from Dr. Mancuso—*“additional capital was needed to bring

the product to mass market.” (/d. 99 10, 11.)

Alels oo L
cie. Allougil

After Mr. Grandizio's death, his widow, Elisa, took the
company's reins and sought to determine the company's
financial standings and the barriers yet in place to market
entry. (/d 9 12.) Elisa hired a new CEO for Rantnetwork.
Kenneth Volet, whose primary tasks were to complete
the software's development, bring it to market, and avoid
taking the company into bankruptcy. (/d. § 13.) He became
Rantnetwork's CEO on October 15, 2008. (Doc. 9,at 189 1.)

As CEO. Volet asscssed Rantnetwork's financial condition
and “found it to be grossly undercapitalized™ to the point

that the company's “very existence™ was “tenuous.” (Id
¢ 14.) Volet then contacted Rantnetwork's shareholders,
lienholders. creditors, and suppliers, providing them with his
assessment of the company's precarious condition and asking
them to be patient while he tried to “salvage™ the company,
its translation-software product, and the investments that the
company had received. (/d. 9 15.) The financial condition
of the company prevented Rantnetwork from making the
monthly payments on the Underwoods' note. (Id. §16.) “Over
the following year,” Dr. Mancuso, brother to Elisa Grandizio.
“made it known to Mr. Volet that he was able and willing™ to
invest another $500.000 in Rantnetwork if such funds were
needed. (/d §17.)

Enter the fateful email. On December 29, 2009, Mr.
Underwood, purportedly acting on behalf of both himself
and Mrs. Underwood, sent the following email “to 4 the

I\I) -
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including Dr. Mancuso:

nm A wnimn o netaticca AF D aenten
and representative of Rantnetw

1 thought you all should know of recent communications
between Ken ¥ ﬁ‘. and myself. Please read below. As you

must understand not one single promise made by Rant [sic]
to me has ever been kept. I will seek aggressive collection
efforts if 1 do not receive some payment.

Ken,

Your answers are not sufficient. | must demand some form
of payment even if it is minimal. Also. you bave not been
proactive in keeping investors updated. I have to regularly
ask for updates.

Please let me know when a payment will arrive. I will be
forced to seek legal action if I do not receive a check soon.

(Id 1 18: see also Doc. 1-4, at 22 (reproducing the email).)
Dr. Mancuso made no further investments in Rantnetwork
after this email was sent.

Rantnetwork alleges that Dr. Mancuso's decision not to
invest further funds in Rantnetwork was the “result of” the
Underwoods' email. (Doc. 14, § 19.) It asserts that the
Underwoods' sending of that email “served no legitimate

rtentionally and improperly done to place

purpose and was in d improperly dor
Rantnetwork, Inc. in a bad light to pressure it into paying
the Underwood debt when, because of the untimely death of
William Grandizio, it did not have the means to do so.” (/d.
9 20.) This email. insists Rantnetwork, caused Dr. Mancuso
to refrain from further investment in the company. Count I
of the complaint maintains on this basis that the Underwoods
intentionally interfered with prospective contractual relations
between the company and its potential investors—namely, for

present purposes, Dr. Mancuso. (/d. 1§ 21, 22.)

*3 As a result of the Underwoods' email—scaring off
potential investors (especially Dr. Mancuso)}—Rantnetwork
was unable to complete its contract for development of the
translation software; the inability to complete the contract
caused Rantnetwork to “forfeit™ its “preliminary payment”
and lose “all rights and access to the software application
developed.” (Jd. 9§ 24). Consequently, Rantnetwork was
forced to shut down its demonstration system and customer-

and calac
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marketing activities, as well as the loss of customers and
revenues. (Id) Lost, too, were another software-distribution
contract, sales opportunities, and market traction with
eleven other internationai ieiephone carriers. {/d.) Ultimaiely,
Rantnetwork “was forced to end all sales and marketing
campaigns while it was required to redevelop the application

with a new technology partner as a result of the loss of the

program,

rights under the software development contract previously
entered into which were forfeited as set forth above.” (/d)
The damages: $5.478,166.00. (/d.)

Count II of the complaint requests that the Underwoods be
enjoined “from intentionally interfering with™” Rantnetwork’s
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prospective contractual relations, because without such an
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irreparable harm, and it has no adequate remedy at law. (/d.
1926-27.)

the comnanv will
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One week afier removing this action io federal court on july
8, 2011, the Underwoods filed the pending motion (Doc.
3) to dismiss the complaint, wherein they set forth two
separate grounds for dismissal. First, they contend that this
court lacks personal jurisdiction over them, making dismissal
appropriate under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)
(2). (Doc. 3, €9 17-34.) Second, the Underwoods argue for
dismissal under Rule 12(b)6) based on the the complaint's
failure to adequately state a claim of intentional interference
with prospective contractual relations against them. The
Underwoods' motion alternatively seeks a stay of this action
pending resolution of a purported related action currently
under way in California state court. (/d. §9 51-60.)

1. Standard of Review
Rule 12(b) (6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
provides for the dismissal of complaints that fail to state a

claim upon which relief can be granted. FED.R.CIV.P. 12(b)
(Y Whan milinog an amn mtn Aiamice nndar Dunla 13/hr £0)
(V. ¥yrvldl) uuue vis a lllUllUll lU ULOHIIOD UWLIULL INUIL 1 QU u g,

the court must “accept all factual allegations as true, construe
the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff,
and determine whether, under any reasonable reading of the
complaint, the plaintiff may be entitled to relief.” Gelman
v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 583 F.3d 187, 190 (3d
Cir.2009) (quoting Phillips v. County of Allegheny. 315 F.3d
224, 233 (3d Cir.2008)); see also Kanter v. Barella. 489
F.3d 170, 177 (3d Cir.2007) (quoting Evancho v. Fisher, 423
F.3d 347. 350 (3d Cir.2005)). Although the court is generally
limited in its review to the facts contained in the complaint, it
“may also consider matters of public record, orders, exhibits
attachcd to the complaint and items appearing in the record of
the case.” Oshiver v. Levin, Fishbein. Sedran & Berman. 38
F.3d 1380, 1384 0. 2 (3d Cir.1994); see also In re Burlington
Coat Factory Sec. Litig., 114 F.3d 1410, 1426 (3d Cir.1997).
*4 Federal notice and pleading rules require the complaint
to provide “the defendant notice of what the ... claim is and
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the £Ioundas upon which it rests.
(quoting Bell 4t Corp. v. Twomblv. 530 U.S. 544. 555, 127
S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 {2007)). To test the sufficiency
of the complaint in the face of a Rule 12(b}{6) motion, the
court must conduct a three-step inquiry. See Sawriago v.
Warminster Twp.. 629 F.3d 121, 130-31 (3d Cir.2010). In
the first step, “the court must ‘tak[e] note of the elements a

plaintiff must plead to state a claim.” “ Id (quoting .4shcroft
v. Ighal. 356 U.S. 662,129 S.Ct. 1937, 1947, 173 L.I:d.2d
868 (2009)). Next, the factual and legal elements of a claim
should be separated; well-pleaded facts must be accepted as
true, while mere legal conclusions may be disregarded. /d.;
see aiso Fowler v. UPMC Shadyside. 578 F.3d 203, 210-
11 (3d Cir.2009). Once the well-pleaded factual allegations
have been isolated, the court must determine whether they are
sufficient to show a “plausible claim for relief.” 4shcrofi v.
Igbal, 556U.8. 662, 129 S.Ct. at 1930 (citing Twombly. 550
U.S. at 356); Twommbly, 550 U.S. at 555 (requiring plaintiffs
to allege facts sufficicnt to “raise a right to relief above the
speculative level™). A claim “has facial plausibility when the
plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw
the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the
misconduct alleged.” lgbal, 556 U.S. 662. 129 S.Ct. at 1949,
173 L.Ed.2d 868. When the complaint fails to present a prima
facie case of liability. however, courts should generally grant
leave to amend before dismissing a complaint. See Gravson v,
Mayview State Hosp., 293 F.3d 103, 108 (3d Cir.2002); Shane
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I11. Discussion >

Among the tssues contested at this juncture is this court's
exercise of personal jurisdiction over the Underwoods.
Complicating the resolution of this contest is Rantnetwork's
allegation that Mr. Underwood was acting as his wife's
agent, the theory being that, although the vast majority
of acts that Rantnetwork claims to support the exercise
of personal jurisdiction were allegedly undertaken by Mr.
Underwood (particularly the sending of the December 29,
2009, email), those acts can be imputed to Mrs. Underwood
if she were Mr. Underwood's principal—and thus this court
would have personal jurisdiction over her as well. Essentially,
Rantnetwork argues that the court hag personal jurisdiction

over Mrs. Underwood via her role as principal to her husband.

Because the alleged principal-—agent relationship between
Mrs. and Mr. Underwood not only creates a threshold
question affecting the jurisdictional analysis but is
intertwined with the question of jurisdiction itself, the
determination of whether Rantnetwork has sufficiently
established its claim of agency must precede the personal-

jurisdiction inquiry.

A. Existence of an Agency Relationship
*S Under Pennsylvania law, all agency relationships have
three basic features in common: (1) “the manifestation by the
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principal that the agent shall act for him™; (2) “the agent's

arcantanco of tho indartal-ing™
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of the parties that the principal is to be in control of the
undertaking.” Scort v. Purcell, 490 Pa. 109, 415 A.2d 36.
01 (Pa.1980) (quoting Restatement {Second) of Agency §

i, cmt. b (1958)). Although Pennsylvania recognizes four

kinds of agency—actual (or express)‘ authority, apparent
authority, implied authority, and agency by estoppel—agency
relationships typically arise through the granting of either

actual or apparent authority. * These two kinds receive focus
here.

Express or actual authority is directly granted by the
principal to the agent, whereas apparent authority arises from
representations that the principal makes to those third parties
with whom the agent acts on the principal’s behalf. Reifsnyder
v. Doughterry, 108 NJ.L. 424, 158 A. 98, 100 (Pa.1930).
In the case of apparent authority, the answer to a question
essentially appealing to common sense determines whether
such authority is legitimate: “The test ... is whether a man
of ordinary prudence, diligence and discretion would have
a right to believe and would actually belicve that the agent
possessed the authority he purported to exercise.” .4pex Fin.
Corp. v. Decker, 245 Pa.Super. 439, 369 A.2d 483. 485-86
(Pa.Super.1976) (citing AMurphy v. Beverly Hills Realty Corp..
98 Pa.Super. 183 {1930)).

Whether the is al.l.ua}. a})pa.lcul.. O

otherwise, “the element of control is the touchstone of a
principal—agent relationship.” Johnson v. Summa Corp., 632
F.Supp. 122. 125 (E.D.Pa.1985) (citing Kellv v. U.S. Steel
Corp.. 170 F.Supp. 649 (W.D.Pa.1939)). Accord Scott v.
Lackev, No. 02-1586. 2010 WL 272275, at *6 (M.D.Pa.
Jan.20, 2010) (citing Colantonio v. Hilton Int'l Co., No. 03—
1833, 2004 WL 1274387. at *6 (E.D.Pa. June 8. 2004}). See
also Basile v. H & R Block, Inc.. 563 Pa. 359, 761 A.2d 1113.
1120 (Pa.2000) (quoting Smalitch v. Westiull. 430 Pa. 409,
269 A.2d 476, 480 (1971)) (“[Algency results only if there
is an agreement for the creation of a fiduciary relationship
with control by the beneficiary.”) (alteration in original). Of
equally broad applicability in all matters of agency, “the
agent must act with the utmost good faith in furthering and

* which includes “a duty to

advancing the principal's interests,”
disclose to the principal all relevant information.” Basile. 761
A.2d at 1120 (citing Syfvester v. Beck. 406 Pa. 607, 178 A.2d

755.757 (Pa.1962)).

The existence of an agency relationship is a question of
fact. Folunteer Fire Co. v. Hilltop Oil Co.. 412 Pa.Super.

140, 602 A.2d 1348,
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1221 (Pa.Super.1987)). The parry claiming that an agency
relationship exists has the burden of so showing. /d (citing
Apex Fin. Corp. v. Decker. 245 Pa.Super. 439, 369 A.2d
483. 485 (Pa.Super.1976). This burden uitimately requires the
party asserting agency to prove it “by a fair preponderance
of the evidence,” id, but given that. in this case, the
issue of agency before the court is cast as part of the
jurisdictional question. Rantnetwork is held to the same
burden of production here as in the context of jurisdiction
itself: to the extent that the Underwoods contest agency
in Mr. Underwood's affidavit, Rantnetwork must make a
prima facie showing of an agency relationship between the
Underwoods through the introduction of its own “affidavits or

other competent evidence.” See infra Part H1.B. Cf Merculfe
.3d 324, 330 (3d Cir.2009)

=TI Jod M.el 1TLiJ.

v. Renaissance Marine, Inc., 566 F
(quoting Dayhoff Inc. v. H.J. Heinz Co., 86 F.3d 1287. 1302
(3d Cir.1996)) (citing Pinker v. Roche Holdings Lid. ., 292
F.3d 361. 368 (3d Cir.2002)) (placing an equivalent burden
of production on a plainiiff when the defendant has raised a
jurisdictional defense). Direct proof is unnecessary when the
proffered evidence allows an inference of “at least an implied
intention to create the relationship of principal and agent.”
Morilus v. Countrywide Heme Loans, Inc.. 651 F.Supp.2d
292 (E.D.Pa.2008) (quoting B & L Asphalt Indus.. Inc. v.
Fusco, 753 A.2d 264, 269 (Pa.Super.2000)). However, the
“mere showing that one person does an act for another™
does not give rise to an inference that an agency relationship
existed. Fusco, 753 A.2d at 269 (citing Ferrv v. Fisher, 709
A.2d 399. 409 n. 5 (Pa.Super.1998)).

*6 In its brief opposing dismissal and attachments thereto,
Rantnetwork emphasizes four facts in support of its claim that
Mrs. and Mr. Underwood were engaged in a principal—agent

alatinnchin Rirct Rantnatuarl nainte At AMree TTed o ad
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was a party to the $300,000 note; second, she wired $50.000
of the loan to Rantnetwork; third, she was copied on certain
emails that her husband sent to Rantnetwork's representatives
regarding the status of their foan; and fourth, the consuitant
who performed due diligence on Rantnetwork before the
Underwoods made their full investment was paid with funds
from the loan (to which, of course, Mrs. Underwood was a

party).

“Quod erat demonstrandum,” Rantnetwork effectively says,
proffering these four facts to the court. “Why would Troy
Underwood copy his wife, a party to the note, with emails
dealing with collection of their joint debt.” Rantnetwork
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rhetorically asks in its brief, “if he was not acting as her
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defendants, Mr. Underwood was the sole person that acted
first to negotiate the loan and then attempt to collect upon it,
which supports an infcrence that he was all the while “acting
on behaif of his wife.” (/d.)

But the very documents that Rantnetwork submitted in an
attempt to show a principal—agent relationship between
the Underwoods belie such a claim. Even when viewed in
a light most favorable to Rantnetwork, neither the well-
pleaded allegations of the complaint nor other competent
cvidence before the court do so much as hint at Mrs.
Underwood possessing the critical element of control in her
relationship with Mr. Underwood. To the contrary, all the
relevant material before the court tends to show that Mr.
Underwood acted independently in his business dealings
with Rantnetwork. Of the sixty-two emails between Mr.
Underwood and Rantnetwork that Rantnetwork chronicled in
the attachments to its opposition brief (See Doc. 9, at 18-
20, 21-22), Mr. Underwood copied only five of those emails
to Mrs. Underwood. The instance in which Mrs. Underwood
sent $50.000 to Rantnetwork personnel appears to have been
taken at Mr. Underwood's behest, according to emails that

Rantnetwork submitted:

On Feb 22, 2008, at 7:50 AM. <bill@rantnetwork.com>
wrote:

Hello Troy—

When possible could you wire $50K to our account. It's
now time to prepare for our 3 new deployments for the next
60 days

Regards,

Bill [Grandiozo]

{Doc. 9, at 30.) Mr. Underwood responded by email the
next moring: “Hi bill sounds great! I'm out of town but
christina will send $50,000 on Monday.” 3 (/d.) Other than
that single instance, Mrs. Underwood was neither the sender
nor among the direct recipients of any communications
regarding the business relationship between the Underwoods
and Rantnetwork. The five emails that she received copies

of represent 2

that Rantnetwork documented. And as to the email central
to Rantnetwork's complaint—the one that Mr. Underwood

ont eicht nercent of the cixtv-two emails
OUL CIgil POreeit O e SIXLYy-tWO Cnals

sent on December 29. 2009 which allegedly caused Dr.

Mancuse to cease in Rantnetwork—

vianvust o Llase

Mrs. Underwood neither sent nor received that email; in
addition, she appears not to have been among the carbon-copy
recipients. Nor indeed, as the Underwoods assert, is there the

t record ihai Mrs.

or in causing that

?llgnlﬁﬁl suggcsuon any WHCI'C in mc pI'C
Underwood played any role in formulatm
email to be sent.

*7 In short, upon review of the well-pleaded allegations in
the complaint and other competent evidence before the court.
there is nothing but speculation to support the notion that
Mr. Underwood sent the December 29th email at his wife's
direction or that she was otherwise, at any point, in control of
the relationship between the Underwoods and Rantnetwork.
Rantnetwork has failed to make a prima facie showing that
Mr. Underwood served as agent for his wife. As a result. there
is no basis upon which to impute any of Mr. Underwood's
acts to Mrs. Underwood, and the questions of whether this
court may exercise personal jurisdiction over each of the

Dargnnal iuricdiotinn Yeanracantc o roctrictinn on iudieial
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power ... as a matter of individual liberty,” and relates to

whether a court may permissibly exercise decision-making
power over a defendant. Ruhrgas v. Marathon Oil Co.. 526
U.S. 5374, 584, 119 S.Ct. 1563. 143 L.Ed.2d 760 (1999)
(quoting /ns. Corp. of Ireland v. Comagnie dex Bawxites de
Guinee, 436 U.S. 694, 702, 102 S.Ct. 2099. 72 1..Ed.2d 492
(1982)). Because the fundamental issue is not the court's
ability to adjudicate the dispute but the court's ability to
issue decisions affecting a given person's rights, a defendant
may either invoke jurisdictional limitations or waive them.
Defendants believing that a court does not have personal
jurisdiction over them bear the burden of raising the issue. /d.;
Clark v. Matsushira Elec. Indus. Co.. 811 F.Supp. 1061, 1064
(M.D.Pa.1993) (citing Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(h)1} (indicating that
the defense of lack of personal jurisdiction is waivable));
Fed R.Civ.P.
dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction).

12(b)(2) (allowing a defendant to move to

= A At M
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risdictional defense, the
burden shifts to the plamtlff to “prov[e] by affidavits or other
competent evidence that jurisdiction is proper.” AMercalfe v.
Renaissance Marine, Inc., 566 F.3d 324, 330 (3d Cir.2009)
(alteration in original) (quoting Davhoff Inc. v. H.J. Heinz
Co.. 86 F.3d 1287. 1302 (3d Cir.1996)) (citing Pinker v.
Roche Holdings Ltd., 292 F.3d 361. 368 (3d Cir.2002)). In
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the absence of an evidentiary hearing, a plaintiff *need only

establish a nrima facie case of nersonal jurisdiction.” because
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as with Rule 12(b) (6) motions to dismiss, “a court is required
to accept the plaintiff's allegations as true, and is 10 construe
disputed facts in favor of the plaintiff.” /d. (quoting O'Connor
496 F.3d 312. 316 (3d Cir.2007)
318 F.3d 446, 437

v. Sandy Lane Hotel Co..
and Tovs “R”
(3d Cir.2003)).

Us, Inc. v. Step Two S.A4.,

Because Pennsylvania's long-arm statute authorizing personal
jurisdiction, 42 Pa. Cons.Stat. Ann. § 3322(b) (West 2011),
is coextensive with the Due Process Clause, “the statutory
assessment of jurisdiction collapses into the constitutional
one.” Clark v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Ca.. 811 F.Supp. 1061,
1065 (M.D.Pa.1993).

orms of personal ju

*8 There are two urisdiction: specific

and general. In rough terms, specnﬁc Jurisdiction allows a
court to adjudicate the rights of a nonresident person whose
activities within or directed toward the forum of adjudication
are related to the subject matter of the action,
jurisdiction allows adjudication over a dispute even when the
person's connections to the forum are unrelated to the dispute,
although the exercise of such jurisdiction requires the person
to have “systematic and continuous contacts™ with the forum
state-a much higher threshold. Helicopteros Nacionales de
Colombia. S.4. v. Hall. 466 1.S. 408. 414 n. 8. 415 n.9. 104
S.Ct. 1868. 80 1..Ed.2d 404 (1984); Marten v. Godwin, 499
F.3d 290, 296 (3d Cir.2007); Telcordia Tech Inc. v. Telkom
S.A., 438 ¥.3d 172, 177 (3d Cir.2006). The “central concern™
of the personal-jurisdiction inquiry is the particular facts that
define “the relationship among the defendant, the forum, and
the litigation.” Shaffer v. Heitner, 433 17.S. 186,204, 97 S.Ct.
2569. 53 L.Ed.2d 683 (1977).

W llCl cad Ebllhl dl

ument that either of the

ause Rantnetwork m 10 argu ith

Underwoods' contacts w1th Pennsylvania would be sufficient
to support the exercise of general jurisdiction, specific
jurisdiction will be the sole focus of the court's jurisdictional

analysis.

(1) Doctrinal principles of specific jurisdiction

Three factors determine whether the court has specific
personal jurisdiction over a party: (1) whether the party
purposefully directed his activities at the forum; (2) whether
the litigation relates to at least one of those activities; and (3)
if the first two requirements are met, the court may consider

whether the exercise of jurisdiction otherwise comports with

fair play and substantial justice. [3Jamoos ex rel. Estate of

Weingeroff v. Pilatus Aircrafi Ltd, 566 ¥.3d 94. 102 (3d
Cir.2009) {citing Burger King, 471 U.S. 462,476, 105 S.Ct.
2174, 85 1..Ed.2d 328 (1985)). See also Hunson v. Denckia,
337 U.S. 235, 253, 78 S.Ct. 1228, 2 L.Ed.2d 1283 (1958)
(citing /nt’l Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310. 319, 66

ng it “essential” that

the defendant “purposefully avail[ ] itself of the privilege of
conducting activities within the forum State, thus invoking

S.Ct. 154, 90 L.Ed. 95 (1945) (callu

the benefits and protections of its laws™).

The first two parts of the test “determine whether a
defendant has the requisite minimum contacts with the
forum.” D'Jamoos, 566 F.3d at 103. The defendant's physical
entrance into the forum is not necessary. Burger King Corp.

v. Rud-ewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 476, 105 S.Ct. 2174, 85 L.Ed.2d
328 (1985); Grand Entm't Grp.. Ltd v. Star Media Sales,

Inc., 988 F.2d 476. 482 (3d Cir.1993). When a defendant has
“deliberately™ engaged in “significant activities” or created
“ ‘continuing obligations' between himself and residents of
the forum, he manifestly has availed himself of the privilege
of conducting business there.”
475-76 (citations omitted) (quoting Horid- 1ide } olkswagen
Corp., 444 U.S. 286, 295, 100 S.Ct. 559. 62 1..Ed.2d 4950
{(19803) (citing Travelers Health Ass'n v. Virginia. 339 U.S.

643. 648. 70 S.Ct. 927, 94 L.Ed. 1154 (1930)). Litigation
against the defendant in that forum becomes foreseeable, and
“it is presumptively not unreasonable to require him to submit
to the burdens of litigation in that forum as well.™ /d.

TS
Burger King, 471 U.S. at 474,

*9 The final factor is consideration of whether the
exercise of jurisdiction otherwise “comport[s] with “fair
play and substantial justice.” “ Burger King, 471 U.S.
at 476 (alteration in original) (quoting /mi'!/ Shoe. 326
U.S. at 320). The existence of minimum contacts makes

jurisdiction presumptively constitutional, and the defendant
“must present a compelling case that the presence of some
other considerations would render jurisdiction unreasonable.”

Id. at 477. If a plaintiff establishes that a defendant has
minimum contacts with the forum state, jurisdiction will be
unreasonable only in those “rare cases™ where the defendant
meets its “heavy™ burden of showing “an abscnce of fairness
or lack of substantial justice.” Pennzoil Preds. Co. v. Colelli
& Assocs.. Inc., 149 F.3d 197, 207 (3d Cir.1998); Grand
Enrm't Grp., 988 F.2d al 483. See also Asahi Metal Indus.
Co. v. Superior Court, 480 U.S. 102, 114, 107 S.Ct. 1026,
94 1..:d.2d 92 (1987) (“When minimum contacts have been
established, often the interests of the plaintiff and the forum
in the exercise of jurisdiction will justify even the serious

burdens placed on the alien defendant.”).
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(2) Application to Troy Underwood

As the following paragraphs show, Rantnetwork has set forth
sufficient facts to make out a prima facie case that this
court may exercise jurisdiction over Mr. Underwood. This
conclusion rests upon application of the traditional three-step
analysis for specific jurisdiction rather than the “effects™ test

first enunciated in Calder v. Jonm 465 11.8. 783, 104 S.Ct.

1482, 79 L.Ed.2d 804 (1984), ¢ on which both parties based
their jurisidictional arguments.

According to the complaint, the affidavit of Kenneth
Volet, and other competent evidence that Rantnetwork
has submitted in connection with the pending motion,
the court finds, for the sole purpose of adjudicating this
motion, that Troy Underwood has purposefully directed
toward the forum state of Pennsylvania sufficient activities
related to this litigation to satisfy the constitutional
“mintmum contacts™ requirement. Near the begmnmg of Mr.

Underwood's series of related activities i

issuance of the $300,000 convertible note to Rantnetwork,
a Pennsylvania corporation, after an agent that Mr. and
Mrs. Underwood hired had traveled to Pennsylvania to
perform due diligence on Rantnetwork. Both before and
after issuing the note, Mr. Underwood carried on a series
of emails and telephone conversations with Pennsylvania-
based Rantnetwork personnel; by Rantnetwork's count, Mr.
Underwood sent or received at least sixty-two emails
to or from Rantnetwork personnel spanning a period of
over two vears, all of which concerned Rantnetwork's
product development or the repavment of the note that the
Underwoods issucd. (Doc. 9, at 18-27, 30.) Finally, Mr.
Underwood sent the December 29, 2009, email that forms
the basis of this claim to at least six recipients, four of
whom were residents of Pennsylvania. Mr. Underwood's
years-long series of contacts, directed toward Pennsylvania,
exclusively concerning Rantnetwork or the note he and his
wife issued to Rantnetwork and culminating in the very email

that Jed Rantnetwork to file suit agains

can be characterized as nothing less than “minimal” for
constitutional due process purposes.

E
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*10 Mr. Underwood has set forth no overriding concerns
that, in light of his contacts with Pennsylvania, would make
this court's exercise of jurisdiction over him unconstitutional
in the present case. To the contrary, his issuance of the
$300,000 note to Rantnetwork, which by its very terms
established a relationship between them that would last

nearly three ycars (See Doc. 14, at 11) created continuing
obligations between Mr. Underwood and Rantnetwork.
The note, combined with Mr. Underwood's subsequent
related activities—his communications with Rantnetwork to
keep abreast of its product development and to attempt

nnnnnnn Aalilaswada
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the privilege of conducting business in Pennsylvania and
made litigation against him in this forum both foreseeable
then and presumptively reasonable now. Burger King Corp.
v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 475-76, 105 S.Ct. 2174, 85
L.Ed.2d 528 (1985) (citations omitted) (quoting H'orld—
Wide I'olkswagen Corp., 444 .S, 286, 295, 100 S.Ct. 559,
62 L.Ed.2d 490 (1980)) (citing Travelers Health Ass'n v.
Virginia, 339 U.S. 643, 648, 70 S.Ct. 927. 94 L.Ed. 1154
(1930)). Nothing before the court suggests that this is one
of those rare cases that, despite Mr. Underwood's at-least-
minimal contacts with Pennsylvania, jurisdiction would be
unfair or unjust. Pennzoil Prods. Co. v. Colelli & A4ssocs..
Inc., 149 I.3d 197. 207 (3d Cir.1998).
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(3) Application to Christina Underwood
In contrast to her husband, and despite some overtap between
the facts concerning their contacts with this state, Christina

Underwood's conn

1ection with Pennsylvania is too tenuous for
this court to exercise jurisdiction over her person in a way
that would comport with the requirements of constitutional
due process. The following paragraphs explicate the different

VoS 1 oL~

answers io the 'll.lI'lb(.ll(..llOHdl quest tion for the husband-and-

wife defendants.

To restate briefly the three parts of the traditional analysis
for specific personal jurisdiction, jurisdiction properly lies
in a given forum when (a) the defendant purposefully
directed activity toward or availed herself of the privilege of
conducting business in the forum; (b) the litigation relates to
or ariscs out of such activity; and (c) exercising jurisdiction
otherwise comports with traditional notions of fair play and
substantial justice. See Part [IL.B.1 supra.

For the sake of clarity in maintaining the distinctions between
the analyses for the codefendants, each of the three parts of
the jurisdictional analysis will be addressed seriatim.

a. Purposefully directed activity

“Reaching out” to create a business relationship with a
resident of the forum state generaily supports constitutes
purposefully directed activity. The Supreme Court clearly
enunciated this doctrinal principle at least as long ago as 1985,
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stating: “[W]ith respect to interstate contractual obligations,
we have emphasized that parties who ‘reach out beyond
one state and create continuing relationships and obligations
with citizens of another state’ are subject to regulation and
sanctions in the other State for the consequences of their

T
e
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activities.”™ Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471
105 S.Ct. 2174, 85 L.Ed.2d 528 (1985) (quoting Travelers
Health Ass'n. v. Virginia, 339 U.S. 643, 647, 70 S.Ct. 927.
94 L.Ed. 1154 (1950) (citing McGee v. Int'l Life Ins. Co., 355

U.S. 220, 222-23. 78 S.Ct. 199. 2 L.Ed.2d 223(1957).

*11 In Burger King, defendant Rudzewicz (of Michigan)
applied to be a franchisee of Burger King (a Florida
corporation) and ultimately had his franchise terminated for
failure to make franchise payments. /d. at 46466, 68. Burger
King filed suit against Rudzewicz in Florida; the Supreme
Court upheld the district court's exercise of jurisdiction over
him despite his lack of physical ties to Florida. /d. at 479—
80. Recasoning that the litigation “grew directly out of” a
contract that had a “substantial connection™ with Florida

eliber traachiedl
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beyond® Michigan™ to negotiate with a Florida corporation
rather than take “the option of operating an independent local
enterprise”—the Court held that the “quality and nature™ of
his reiationship to the Fiorida-based company couid “in no
sense be viewed as ‘random,’ “fortuitous.” or ‘attenuated.” ”
Id (alteration in original) (quoting Travelers Health Ass'n,
339 U.S. al 647. Huanson v. Denckla. 357 U.S. 235. 253,
78 S.Ct. 1228, 2 L.Ed.2d 1283 (1958), Keeron v. Hustler
Magazine, Inc.. 465 U.S. 770. 774, 104 S.Ct. 1473, 79
I..Ed.2d 790 (1984), and World-Wide Tolkswagen Corp. v.
oodson, 444 1U.S. 286. 299. 100 S.Ct. 359. 62 L.Ed.2d 490
(1980)).
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Significantly, it was entirely Rudzewicz' own actions that
suit against him: his “refusal to make
the contractually required payments in Miami” and his
“continued use of Burger King's trademarks and confidential
business information ... caused foreseeable injuries to the

in 1 ida ™ T4 At AQN
in Florida.” Id at 480. However, the Court was

prompted the
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COrporation
careful to avoid creating a hard-and-fast rule that a defendant
who enters into a contract with a resident of another state
is, simply by virtue of that contract, subject to suit in that
state. Asking hypothetically “whether an individuai's contract
with an out-of state party alone can automatically establish
minimum contacts in the other party's home forum,” the
Court answered its own question in no uncertain terms:
“[W]e believe the answer clearly is that it cannot.” /d
at 478. See also id at 478-79 (citing /'l Shoe Co. v.

Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 319, 66 S.Ct. 154, 90 L.Ed. 95
(1943)) (underscoring the Court's longstanding rejection of
“mechanical™ tests for personal jurisdiction).

The Third Circuit decided a case some years later that

hnd fanto e
naa iaCits i man

King, ultimately reachmg a similar conc1u31on although
the court called the jurisdictional question “close.” Mellon
Bank (E.) PSFS, Nat'l Ass'nv. Farino, 960 F.2d 1217, 1223
(3d Cir.1992). Mellon Bank, a Pennsylvania corporation.
filed suit in Pennsylvanja district court against several
nonresident defendants who were limited partners of limited
partnerships. Jd at 1219. Before Mellon filed suit, these
limited partnerships sent their mortgage broker to Mellon to
seeking financing for the partnerships. /d. at 1219-20. The
broker told Mcllon that the limited partners would personally
guarantee any loans made to the partnerships; the partnerships
themsetves insisted to Mellon that “the talent and experience
that each partner brough to the partnerships was fundamental
to their success.™ /d. Based in part on these representations,

Mellon made over $4 million in loans to the n'n'!nﬁrchmﬂ but
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the partnerships defaulted on all the loans and the guarantors
all failed to remit payment. /d.
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~14 m upnommg the (Jlbl.['lbl court's pcrsumu JLlflbulL«llU[]
over the partnerships, the Third Circuit stressed that “Mellon
did not approach the borrowers seeking to lend money nor did
Mellon initially request the [guarantees].” /d. at 1223. Rather,
the partnerships had approached Mellon, establishing through
their own deliberate efforts a business relationship with the
Pennsylvania-based bank. /d.

A third case provides contrast to Burger King and
Mellon Bank: when a nonresident defendant is merely a
“passive buyer” of a plaintiff's products, the defendant
is unlikely to be found to have purposefully directed its
activities toward the plaintiff's home state. See I'etrotex
Ceriainteed Corp v. Consol. Fiber Glass Prods. Co., 73 F.3d
147, 148, 132-53 (3d Cir.1996) (discussing the differing

of whether the

jurisdictional purposes,

plaintiff or the defendant actively solicited a business
relationship). In that case, Vetrotex CertainTeed Corporation
(Vetrotex), a Pennsylvania corporation, sued California-
based Consolidated Fiber Glass Products Company (Conglas)
in Pennsylvania district court. /d. at 148. On appeal, the Third
Circuit held that personal jurisdiction over Conglas did not lie
in Pennsylvania because Conglas did not purposefully direct
its activities there. /d.




The district court in Fetrotex had found the following facts

d which the anm-llme nanP] recounted thus:

undisput.
ndispu

Vetrotex solicited Conglas to obtain
the 1991-92 contract by telephone
and by personal visits to Conglas
headquarters in California. The parties
engaged in telephone communication
prior to entering into the 1991-
92 contract.

disputed contract in California and
sent it to Vetrotex in Pennsylvania.
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Conglas made all payments for goods
to Vetrotex CertainTeed's California
office. Under the disputed contract,
Vetrotex did not deliver any goods to
Conglas in Pennsylvania.

Id at 152. On these facts, the Tetrotex court characterized
Conglas as “merely a passive buyer of Vetrotex's product.”
Id. Distinguishing the case from others in which jurisdiction
over a nonresident defendant was found proper largely on the
basis of the defendant's contract with a plaintiff residing in
the forum. the Third Circuit observed that Ferrotex was not a
case in which the defendant “solicited the contract,” “initiated
the business relationship leading up to the contract,
any payments to the plaintiff in the forum state.” or “engaged

in extensive post-sale contacts with the plaintiff in the forum
state” Id at 15253 (gl ing and rhchnonlc]'nno Mellon Bank,

960 F.2d at 1217, N. Penn Gas v. Corning Natural Gas, 897
F.2d 687. 690-91 (3d Cir.1990). and Mesalic v. Fiberfloat
Corp.. 897 F.2d 696. 700 (3d Cir.1990)). See also id. at
152 n. 5 (quoting United Flec. Workers v. 163 Pleasant
St. Corp., 960 F.2d 1080, 1089 (1st Cir.1992)) (citing Bell
Paper Box, Inc. v. Trans Western Polvmers, Inc., 53 F.3d
920. 922 (8th Cir.1993) and Margaret G. Stewart, 4 New
Litany of Personal Jurisdiction, 60 U. COLO. L.REV. 5, 45—
46 (1989)) (remarking that in the 8th Circuit, “ ‘reaching
out’ is particularly difficult to find™ when the nonresident
defendant is a buyer, not a scller, of the resident plaintiff's
products. a distinction “even more telling when the defendant
is a ‘passive’ buyer” solicited as a customer by the plaintiff;
and observing that the First Circuit requires a defendant's
“forum-related activities in contract cases [to have been]

EL IR
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‘instrumental in the formation of the contract.” ™)

*13 Applying the principles and comparing the facts of these
p
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the instant case elucidates the basis for holding that Christina
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The nature of the relationship between the Underwoods
and Rantnetwork shows that the Underwoods have much
in common with what the i’efrofex court and the Eighth
Circuit have called “passive buyers.” 8 1t was Rantnetwork,
not the Underwoods, that initiated the business relationship
and solicited the loan from the Underwoods. }'etrorex. 75
¥.3d at 152. (Compare Doc. 14, 1Y 7-8 (Rantnetwork's
allegation in the complaint that Grandizio, Rantnetwork's
CEO, “was placed in contact with” the Underwoods, who
later “forwarded” the convertible note to Rantnetwork) with
Doc. 3-2, 97 5-6, 9 (Troy Underwood's declaration that he
and his wife were approached by Rantnetwork personnel; that
such personnel solicited their investment in the company; and
that Rantnetwork “made, executed and delivered”™ the note
10 them in California to reflect their loan of $300.000 to the
company).) Moreover, although the Underwoods did send
money to Rantnetwork in Pennsylvania ($50.000 of which
was allegedly sent by Mrs. Underwood), these transfers were
not independent transactions but separate remittances of a
single loan to Rantnetwork. See I'etrotex. 75 F.3d at 152 (in
explaining their holding that plaintiff had not purposefully
availed itself of the forum state, giving weight to the absence
of payments by defendant to plaintiff in the forum state). And,
of course, there is the Supreme Court's statement that the
mere exislence of a contract like the convertible note under
discussion here “clearly™ cannot, by itself, “automatically
establish sufficient minimum contacts™ in the plaintiff's home
state. Burger King Corp. v. Rud-ewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 478,
105 S.C 2174, 85 L.EJ 2d 328 (19853). If the relevant
of the instant case went no further than those discussed
in this paragraph, neither of the Underwoods, being very
much like passive buyers, could be said to have purposefully
availed themselves of the privileges of doing business in

Pennsylvania. 9

But the facts go further. and these further facts detail
crucial differences in the Underwoods' respective activities.
Although Christina Underwood remained largely in the
background throughout the course of the relationship between
the parties. apparently actively participating only to the extent
that she wired $50,000 of the loan to Rantnctwork, Troy
Underwood engaged in significant, extensive, and ongoing
communications and other contacts with Rantnetwork after
the issuance of the loan. He admits writing emails and
making telephone calls to Rantnetwork (Doc. 3-2, 1% 20,
22); Rantnetwork submitted a table documenting sixty-two




over the course
ed either to Rantn

etwork's
product development or the company's repayment schedule
for the loan (Doc. 9, at 21-22). Mrs. Underwood had no
telephone communication with Rantnetwork (Doc. 3-2,
23); she sent no emails to Rantnetwork (/d. § 21); and of
the dozens of emails exchanged between Mr. Underwood
and Rantnetwork, Mrs. Underwood was copied on only
five of them. Further, Rantnetwork's Cap Table datcd July
1, 2009, lists Mr. Underwood, but not Mrs. Underwood,
as a partial owner of Rantnetwork (Doc. 9, at 28), and
an agreement authorizing an increase in Rantnetwork's
authorized shares from 1000 to 2000 listed Mr. Underwood,
but not Mrs. Underwood, as a party to the agrecment, despite
the agreement stating that the named partiers were “all of
the shareholders™ of Rantnetwork (id. at 29). Finally, the
December 29, 2009, email that precipitated the instant matter
was sent by Mr. Underwood, not Mrs. Underwood, and as
discussed in Part III.A supra, there is no basis to impute the

sending of this email to Mrs. Underwood.

*14 Accordingly, the facts as currcntly presented to the
court definitively establish that Christina Underwood did
not engage in exiensive contacts with Rantnetwork afier the
issuance of the loan. Her conduct throughout the relevant time
span makes her analogous to the “passive buyer” described
in Fetrotex and unlike the active solicitors of out-of-state
business discussed in Burger King and Mellon Bank. The
facts of this case and the applicable law point unerringly to
the conclusion that Christina Underwood did not “reach out™
to Pennsylvania and did not “purposefully avail” herself of
the privilege of conducting business in Pennsylvania.

b. “Relates to” or “arises out of” forum-related activity

Although Mrs. Underwood, as a cosigner of the loan to
Rantnetwork, could be said to have committed acts “but for™
which this litigation would not have arisen (i.e., but for the
loan that she and her husband made to Rantnetwork, Mr.
Underwood would not have sought payment on the loan and
would not have sent the email that prompted Rantnetwork 10
file suit), but-for causation “cannot be the sole measure of
relatedness because it is vastly overinclusive in its calculation

e Corrya drs
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of a defendant's reciprocal obligations.”
Lane Hotel Co., Lid., 496 F.3d 312, 322 (3d Cir.2007). As
the parenthetical remark above illustrates, but-for causation
“has ... no limiting principle; it literally embraces every event
that hindsight can logically identify in the causative chain.”
Id. (alteration in original) (quoting Nowak v. Tak How Invs.,
Lid, 94 F.3d 708, 715 (1st Cir. 1986)).

0 avoid suc urd results, the Q'Connor court held that
specnﬁc }unsdlctlon “requires a closer and more direct causal
connection than that provided by the but-for test.” /d. at 323.

And by any “closer and more direct” measure, thc instant

—]
»)
AV
o
2
-
v
&
=
1~
&
2]
5
(=9

~ P L rwn A

action cannot be characterize
any of Mrs. Underwood's actions. Essentially, all that she did
was jointly issue a loan to Rantnetwork, wire the company
a $50,000 portion of the loan, and passively receive copies
of a handful of emails containing communications between
other people. Further, the loan itself is not the focus of this
litigation, which is not a contract case but a tort case; the
Joan forms part of the background, but Rantnetwork explicitly
states that Mr. Underwood's December 29, 2009 email “is the
crux of [the company's] claim of intentional interference with
prospective contractual relations.” (Doc. 9. at 8.)

¢. Fair Play and Substantial Justice

After reaching a conclusion regarding the previous two
elements, together composing the “minimum contacts™ test,
a court has the option of considering whether the exercise
of jurisdiction would comport with traditional notions of
fair play and substantial justice. Pennzoil Prods. Co. v.
Colelli & Assocs., Inc., 149 ¥.3d 197. 205. However, given
Rantnetwork's failure to show that Christina Underwood has
sufficient minimum contacts to warrant exercising personal
jurisdiction over her in this court, no fair-play inquiry is
necessary. id.

C. Intentional Interference with Prospective Contractual
Relations

*15 A complaint must adequately allege four elements
in order to properly state a cause of action for inientional
interference with prospective contractual relations: “(1) a
prospective contractual relation; (2) the purpose or intent to
harm the plaintiff by preventing the relation from occurring;
(3) the absence of privilege or justification on the part of the
defendant; and (4) the occasioning of actual damage resulting
from the defendant's conduct.™ Thompson Coal Co. v. Pike
Coal Co., 488 Pa. 198. 412 A.2d 466. 471 {Pa.1979) (citing
Glenn v. Point Park Coll., 441 Pa. 474, 272 A.2d 895, 898
(Pa.1971). The dispute in the instant case focuses on the
second and third clements.

With regard to intent, case law from the Pennsylvania

...-...n ol atahlichac thot tha
upreme Court establisnes that the Cump]lahu must contair

allegation that the defendant acted for the specific purpose of
causing harm to the plaintiff. Glenn, 272 A.2d at 899. The
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complaint contains no such allegation; the closest averment
qtota I anornlly tha mber 202000

states only generally that Underwood" ember 29, 2009,
email consututed intentional and improper mterfercncc with
the prospective contractual relations between Rantnetwork
and potential investors (Doc. 1-4, at § 21), but this is
nothing more than a threadbare recitation of the iort aliegediy
committed—a statement devoid of any averment of fact,
a legal conclusion of the sort that Twombly and Igbal
disapprove and disregard. Rantnetwork's complaint does not
adequately allege intent.

Rantnetwork cites Kelh—Springfield Tire Co. v. D'dmbro.
408 Pa.Super. 301. 596 A.2d 867, 872 (Pa.Supecr.1991), for
the proposition that a defendant necd not have knowledge
of the specific prospective contractual relation that the
defendant allegedly interfered with (and that a complaint
need contain no such averment), but Rantnetwork's reliance
on D'Ambro is misplaced for two primary reasons. First,
the complaint in D'4mbro alleged (1) that the plaintiffs
were (rying to sell a warchouse they owned; (2) that the
defendani, a law f{irm, knew of the plaintiff's cfforts; (3)
the defendant filed suit against the plaintiff not to protect a
legitimate interest of a client but solely “for the purpose of
harrassing [the plaintiff] and interfering wrongfully with its
efforts to resell the warehouse property™; and (4) potential
buyers had been deterred from purchase by the pending
litigation. /d. at 871-72. On the basis of these allegations, the
D'Ambro court held the complaint to have sufficiently stated
a claim for intentional interference with prospective business
relations. /d. at 872. Not only was the actual claim under
consideration not the same—interference with prospective
business rather than contractual relations—but the litigation
that the D'Ambro defendant initiated against the plaintiff
could reasonably be expected to have a much greater cooling
effect vis-a-vis prospective buyers than could the single

email at issue in the instant case be expected to have on

prospective investors, given that the email, sent to six people,
contained only a seven-sentence forwarded message with an
additional four prefatory sentences. The different legal claims
1n ,U/imDI'O and ll'l the prcscm case, as wcu as tne ld(.ludl
differences, make D'Ambro uncompelling. Second, D'Ambro
is a Superior Court case, nonbinding on this court, whereas
Glenn and Thompson Coal Co. are both decisions of the
Pennsylvania Supreme Court that this court must regard as

binding authority.

*16 Asto the lack of privilege or justification, Pennsylvania
law contains no hard-and-fast rules delineating privileged

from unprivileged conduct in this context. However,

in this case, there neecd be no meandering through

the thicket of considerations concemine what constitutes

inNg UICKCL O CONSIACTANIONS CONCCITIINE Whal CONIRRCS

privileged or improper conduct. Mr. Underwood responded
to Rantnetwork's allegation that the sending of the December
29, 2009, email was improper by claiming that the contents
of the email were irue—and ihe Pennsyivania Supreme Court
recently held that a defendant's raising a truthfulness defense
per Restatement (Second) of Torts § 772(a) against a claim
of tortious interference obviates the need for an analysis
of the relative weight of the seven othcrwise-applicable

considerations in § 767 of the Restatement. Walnur Street

Assocs.. Inc. v. Brokerage Conceprts. Inc., 20 A.3d 468. 477

{Pa.2011) (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 766, 767.
772 (1979)). Quoting comment (b) to § 772, which states that

“[tlhere is of course no liability for interference with ... a
prospective contractual relation on the part of one who merely
gives truthful information to another,” the Walnut Street court
adopted § 772 on its basis of its consistency with “the very
nature of the tort™ as well as Pennsylvania law. H#'alnut Sireet,
20 A.3d at 478-79 (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts §

A%

Not only has Mr. Underwood claimed that the contents of
his email were true, but Rantnetwork neither states in its
complaint that the email’s contents were untrue nor effectively
rebuts Mr. Underwood's claim in its brief opposing the
Underwoods' motion. In fact, Rantnetwork admits that the
email truthfully states that Rantnetwork failed to repay any
portion of the Underwoods' loan as of the writing of the
cmail. Rantnetwork attempts to minimize the significance of
this admission by claiming that “the email contains more
than factual assertions; it implies dishonesty on behalf of
the corporation.” (Doc. 9, at 14.) But, as the Underwoods'
reply brief points out, Rantnetwork made no attempt to
explain what those “more than factual” assertions are; and the
email, rather than implying that Rantnetwork was somehow
dishonest, simply states the fact that Rantnetwork had not
kept its promises to repay the loan on the schedule set forth
in the note. (Doc. 10, at 17, 19.)

The Underwoods' unrefuted assertion of truthfuiness is
sufficient grounds by itself to dismiss Rantnetwork's claim
for tortious interference. Dismissal is only further justified by
the complaint's failure to allege that the email was sent for the
specific purpose of causing harm to the plaintiff.

D. Rantnetwork's request for an injunction
The complaint's failure to properly state a claim for relief
renders Rantnetwork's request for an injunction moot, thus
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relieving the court from any need to say more on the matter
than this brief statement.

E. Alternative motion to stay this action

*17 The inadequacy of the complaint's statement of its
sole cause of action and the consequent conclusion that the
complaint should be dismissed likewise renders moot the
Underwoods' alternative motion to stay this action pending
the outcome of a previously filed case in California involving
the same parties to the instant case.

IV. Conclusion

For the above-stated reasons, the court will grant the motion
to dismiss filed by the defendants, Troy and Christina
Underwood, and deny as moot their alternative motion to stay
this action. Rantnetwork shall be granted leave of court to
file an amended complaint within twenty (20) days to address
the deficiencies in personal jurisdiction over Christina A.

Underwood and the deficiencies in its principal cause of

action—intentional interference with prospective contractual

Failure to file an amended complaint shall result
in termination of the action. An appropriate order follows.

relations. '

ORDER

AND NOW, this 26th day of March, 2012, upon
consideration of the motion to dismiss the complaint or
alternatively for a stay (Doc. 3) filed by Troy and Christina
Underwood, and for the reasons set forth in the accompanying
memorandum, it is hereby ORDERED that:

1. The motion to dismiss is GRANTED; the complaint is
DISMISSED without prejudice.

2. The alternative motion to stay this action is DENIED as
moot.

3. Within twenty (20) days of the date of this Order, plaintiff

may file an amended complaint. Failure to file an amended
complaint in a timely fashion shall result in the termination of
this matter and the Clerk of Court shall mark this file closed

without further order of court.

All Citations

Not Reported in F.Supp.2d
f 1 8

Footnotes
1 Following the standard of review for a motion to dismiss under Ruie 12{(b)(6), the complaint's well-pleaded factual
allegations are taken as true, except where controverted by an opposing affidavit. See infra Parts 1l |Il. Although the

(]

[&0N9)]

Federal Rules demand no “detailed” averments of fact in a complaint, “[a] pleading that offers ‘labels and conclusions'
or ‘a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do.’ “ Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 129 S.Ct.
1937, 1949, 173 L.Ed.2d 868 (2009) (quoting Beil Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d
929 (2007)). Those portions of the complaint that demonstrate the shortcomings disapproved of in /gbal are disregarded.
See Santiago v. Warminster Twp., 629 F.3d 121, 130-31 (3d Cir.2010) (applying /gbal in giving no presumption of truth
to mere “conclusions”).

Subject-matter jurisdiction in this case is based on diversity of citizenship. Accordingly, Pennsylvania law applies to

the parties’ substantive claims, with the state’s Supreme Court decisions binding on this court and the Superior Court
decisions nonbinding but persuasive. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Estate of Mehiman, 589 F.3d 105, 107 n. 2 (citing

Jewelcor Inc. v. Karfunkel, 517 F.3d 672, 676 n. 4 (3d Cir.2008)); Norfolk S. Ry. Co. v. Basell USA Inc., 513 F.3d 86,
91-92 (3d Cir.2008).

The most precise definitions of express authority and actual authority evince slight differences between them, but
recognizing those distinctions in the context of this case would be a hair-splitting distraction.

The four kinds of agency are concisely defined in Bolus v. United Penn Bank, 363 Pa.Super. 247, 525 A.2d 1215, 1221
(Pa.Super.1987) (quoting SE/ Corp. v. Norton & Co., 631 F.Supp. 497 (E.D.Pa.1986)). For a brief discussion of why
actual and apparent authority are usually the focus of disputes over agency, see generally Scott v. Lackey, No. 02-1586,
2010 WL 272275, at *5 & n. 12 (M.D.Pa. Jan.20, 2010).

Typographic and other errors are reproduced here as they appear in the record.

In the briefing (Docs.8, 9, 10) on the pending motion, both Rantnetwork and the Underwoods focused their jurisdictional
arguments exclusively on the Calder effects test, apparently in reliance on a prior memorandum and order that this court

issued: Scott v. Lackey, No. 02-1586, 2010 WL 272275 (Jan. 20, 2010) (Conner, J.). The following passage appears
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in Lackey: “When a defendant is charged with committing an intentional tort, the court's juridictional inquiry is guided
by the ‘Calder effects test.’ "(/d. at *9 (citing Calder v. Jones, 465 U.S. 783, 788-90, 104 S.Ct. 1482, 79 L.Ed.2d 804,
(1984); Miller Yacht Sales, Inc. v. Smith, 384 F.3d 93, 96 n. 2 (3d Cir.2004); /MO Indus., Inc. v. Kierkert AG, 155 F.3d
254, 261 (3d Cir.1998)). The parties in this case seem to have read Lackey to mean that the Calder effects test controls
the jurisdictional inquiry in intentional-torts cases, but this is not so. Rather, Calder merely provides an alternative route
to satisfying constitutional due process requirements.
Calder held that jurisdiction over out-of-state parties was proper because their intentional conduct was “calculated to
cause injury” to the respondent in California, Calder, 465 U.S. at 791, but not before remarking that a plaintiffs “lack
of ‘contacts' will not defeat otherwise proper jurisdiction,” id. at 788 (citing Keeton v. Hustier Magazine, Inc., 465 U.S.
770, 777-81, 104 S.Ct. 1473. 79 L.Ed.2d 790 {1984)). This general language in Calder suggested that satisfying the
“effects” test is not the only way to establish jurisdiction in intentional-tort cases. The Third Circuit made this suggestion
explicitin a subsequent case applying Calder, stating that Calder did not “carve out a special intentional torts exception
to the traditional specific jurisdiction analysis.” /MO Indus., Inc. v. Kierkert AG, 155 F.3d 254, 265 (3d Cir.1998). Rather,
the unique circumstances that intentional-tort cases present may sometimes “render the defendant's contact with the
forum—which otherwise would not satisfy the requirements of due process—sufficient.” /d.
Although the parties' briefs do not incorporate the traditional specific-jurisdiction analysis, this court is still free to
undertake the analysis itself: “When an issue or claim is properly before the court, the court is not limited to the
particular legal theories advanced by the parties, but rather retains the independent power to identify and apply the
proper construction of governing law .” Tenafly Eruv Assoc., Inc. v. Borough of Tenafly, 308 F.3d 144, 158 n. 15 (3d
Cir.2002) (quoting Kamen v. Kemper Fin. Servs., /nc., 500 U.S. 80, 99, 111 S.Ct. 1711, 114 L.Ed.2d 152 (1991))
{internal quotation marks omitted).
As in the previous section—discussing whether personal jurisdiction over Mr. Underwood lies in Pennsyivania—the
analysis here focuses on the traditional three-part minimum-contacts analysis. Not only does Calder not control the
jurisdictional inquiry, as explained in note 6 supra, but application of the Calder effects test to Mrs. Underwood’s would
clearly counsel against exerting jurisdiction: the sole basis of the intentional-tort ctaim, which would also form the operative
basis of the Calder effects test, is an email sent by Mr. Underwood that cannot be imputed to his wife.
The analogy of the Underwoods to (passive) buyers, rather than just lenders, receives support from the provision in the
note that gave the Underwoods the option of converting some or all of the principal and interest of their loan into shares
of Rantnetwork's stock, although nothing before the court suggests that this option was exercised.
In the context of the “passive buyer” analogy, there is little significance to the Underwoods' sending of an agent to
Pennsylvania to perform due diligence on Rantnetwork before they ient the company $300,000. The nascent business
relationship between the parties in this case was initiated and solicited entirely by Rantnetwork, as was the loan, and
from the standpoint of common good business practices, it would have been sheer foolishness for the Underwoods to
loan over a quarter-million dollars to a company without conducting some limited research into that company. Cf. United
Elec. Workers v. 163 Pleasant St. Corp., 960 F.2d 1080, 1089 {1st Cir.1982) (requiring, in contract cases, a showing that
the defendant's forum related activities were “instrumental in the formation of the contract”).
When a complaint is found to be defective upon a successful challenge by a defendant, courts should generally grant the
plaintiff leave to amend the complaint before dismissing the action with prejudice. See Grayson v. Mayview State Hosp.,

NOND T Na AND
283 F.3d 103, 108 Lou Cir. LUUA) Shane v. Fauver, 213 F.3d 113, 116-17 (3d Cir. 2000)

End of Document
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2001 WL 1855055
Pennsylvania Court of Common Pleas.

HYDRAIR, INC. et al
V.
NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL
BALANCING BUREAU et al

No. 2846 FEB.TERM.2000.
I

April 23, 2001.
OPINION
HERRON, J.
*]  Defendants National Environmental Balancing

Burcau (NEBB), Pennsylvania Environmental Balancing
Association (PERA), Eastern Air Balance, Inc. (EAB).

Bobby Roaten, Ted Salkin, Patricia Casey. Michael Dolim,
Carlin Management and William Reardon filed six sets of
preliminary objections to the second amended complaint

OI pldll’lullb l‘l\’(.ll'dl[.. II]L and Atoert nawmua
sustains the objections in part.

Tha ~ncet
11T Lourt

BACKGROUND

NEBB is a trade association that certifies environmental
balancing firms. NEBB's offices are in Gaithersburg,
Maryland. Dolim is a {former vice-president of NEBB. He has
not worked for NEBB since November 30, 1999.

chapter of NEBB Carlin

PERA is the Pennsvlvania

the Pennsylvan
Management is the company that PEBA hired to manage
its office. Reardon is an owner of Carlin Management
and secretary or treasurer of PEBA. Casey is a Carlin

DM AT ~AFF A
das reopas 0IIice

J.V]dﬂdgc Ill LHlplUyCC V\llU SEIVES
manager. Salkin is chairman of the PEBA technical
committee. Roaten is the former president of PEBA.

Environmental balancing firms test and balance heating and
air conditioning systems. EAB and Hydrair are Pennsylvania
environmental balancing firms and are competitors. Roaten is
the president and owner of EAB, and Hawkins is an employee
of Hydrair.

defendants conspu‘ed to revoke the plamnffs cemﬁcatlon by
misrepresenting the quality of the plaintiffs’ balancing work
to each other and to plaintiffs’ customers. Plaintiffs allege
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work.

On February 25, 2000, plaintiffs Hydrair and Hawkins filed
the original complaint against defendants NEBB, PEBA,
EAB and Roaten. On July 27, 2000, the court sustained in
part these defendants’ preliminary objections to the complaint
and granted the plaintiffs leave to file an amended complaint
within 20 days. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on
August 21, 2000—5 days late. Defendants filed preliminary
objections, including an objection to strike the amended
complaint as untimely. Instead of answering the preliminary
objections, the plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint.
The second amended complaint added Salkin, Casey,
Dolim, Carlin Management and Reardon as defendants. The

Aofandaonte noain 1 imi i
defendants again filed preliminary objections, including a

motion to strike the second amended complaint based on
the untimeliness of the first amended complaint. The court
sustained the objection 1o untimeliness and struck the second
amended compiaint. On motion for reconsideration the court
vacated that order.

At issue now are the preliminary objections to the second
amended complaint. The second amended complaint—which
is not a model of clarity—has five counts. Count I asks for an
injunction against only NEBB to that orders NEBB to restore
the certification. Count II claims tortious interference with
contractual relations against all defendants. The plaintiffs
base this claim on two sets of actions: Roaten and EAB's
interference with Hydrair's existing balancing contracts with
two school districts and all defendants' participation in
decertifying the plaintiffs such that plaintiffs could not get
future balancing contracts. Count III claims fraud against
all defendants. Count IV claims defamation against all

Aafandanie
aciendaanis

about the quality of the plaintiffs' work. Count V claims
conspiracy to defame against all defendants except NEBB.

+ NCTDDR A A
except NEBB based on dercgatory statements

DISCUSSION

I. THE COURT OVERRULES THE OBJECTIONS TO
PLAINTIFFS' UNTIMELY AMENDMENT OF THE
COMPLAINT.
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*2 NEBB objects to the second amended complaint as
untimely. The court overrules the objection. In their motion
for reconsideration, the plaintiffs set forth just cause for the
five-day delay, and the court sees no prejudice accruing to
the defendants from the delay. Peters Creek Sanitary Auth. v.

Trr £2O1T A AT 1 T T S
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II. THE COURT SUSTAINS DOLIM'S OBJECTION TO

TRADD MNANEN TADM AR QORYVIAD
LVIFRUILN F'URIVI U DERVILLD,

Dolim objects on the ground of improper service of the second
amended complaint and lack of personal jurisdiction. The
court sustains the objections and quashes service on Dolim.

Under Pennsylvania's Long-Arm Statute, a plaintiff may
serve a defendant outside of Pennsylvania by any form
of mail addressed to the defendant and requiring a signed

receipt. 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 5323(&1)(3).k The defendant or his
authorized agent must sign the return receipt. Pa.R.C.P. 403
and 404(2). The certificate of service that the plaintiffs filed

1th tha Prathanatlary chawe that tha nlaintiffc cont a conv
WiItD e Frotnondiary Snows mnat iné piaintiiis seént a Copy

of the second amended complaint to NEBB in Gaithersburg.
Maryland. Attached to the certificate of service are the
transmittal Jetter addressed to Dolim at NEBB and the return
receipt addressed only to NEBB, received on October 16,
2000 and bearing the signature of what appears to be “Toni
Day.” Dolim did not sign the receipt. Without Dolim's
signature, service was not proper. Pa.R.C.P. 403.

In their brief, plaintiffs argue that service was proper because
they served NEBB and NEBB is Dolim's agent. The court
disagrees for two reasons. First, the certificate of service
that plaintiffs filed is not sufficient for this court to find
that NEBB or Day was Dolim's authorized agent to accept
service of process. Pa.R.C.P. 405(b)(“A return of service
shall set forth ... the identity of the person served and any
other facts necessary for the court to determine whether
proper service has been made.™), Neff v. Tribune Printing
Co., 421 Pa. 122, 218 A.2d 756, 757 (1966)(stating that

soa af nearace and

thara i =
i viCC G1 procCess, and

there is no p!
holding service was invalid where, among other things, the
return of service did not set forth the agency of the person
served). Second, the plaintiffs have admitted that Dolim has
not appointed an agent for service of process. In paragraph
26 of his preliminary objections, Dolim alleges that he “has
not authorized any person at NEBB's offices or anyone else to
accept. receive or sign for service of process on his personal
behalf.” In violation of Pa.R.C.P. 1029(a) and Phila.Civ.R.
*1028(C)(1). plaintiffs did not specifically admit or deny this

raciimntinn af unliditg ~Af e
TCSUIT puion O1 vuuuu_y O1 5CI

factual averment or assert lack of knowledge under Pa.R.C.P.
1029(¢). Instead. plaintiffs answered paragraph 26 as follows:
“Denied. This allegation avers matters outside the four
corners of the complaint and is thus not cognizable by way
of preliminary objection.” Answer to Dolim's Preliminary

mlndael PRV S [P
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that they need not specifically answer this objection raising
outside evidence. The rules specifically provide for the
admission of outside evidence to resolve an objection raising
issues of fact about improper service. Pa.R.C.P. 1028(c}(2})
and Note. Had plaintiffs specifically denied paragraphs 26
or alleged lack of knowledge, the court might have ordered
discovery to resolve the objection. But because plaintiffs did
not specifically admit or deny paragraph 26 or assert a lack of
knowledge, the court must deem plaintiffs to have admitted
that Dolim has not authorized anyone at NEBB to accept
service for him. Pa.R.C.P. 1029(b). Cercone v. Cercone, 234
Pa.Super. 381,386 A.2d 1. 4 (1978). Therefore, Day was not
Dolim's agent to accept service.

they served Dolim at hlS usual place of business. The court
disagrees. A plaintiff may serve process by handing the
complaint at the “office or usual place of business of the
defendant 10 his agent or the person for the time being in
time of the office.” See Pa.R.C.P. 402(a)2)(iii) and 404(1).
Because plaintiffs mailed a copy of the complaint, the service-
by-hand rules do not apply. Pa.R.C.P. 403 governs service by
mail. See also Pa.R.C.P. 404(2). Since that rule contains no
provision allowing a person in charge of a defendant's office
to sign for the defendant. such service is ineffective. Heaver v.
Martin, 440 Pa.Super. 185,655 A.2d 180. 193 (1995 )(stating
that service of process by mail is allowed only pursuant to
the limited procedures under ’a.R.C .P. 403. and holding that
service was improper where plaintiff's attempted service by
mail did not follow any of those limited procedures).

Plaintiffs did not properly serve Dolim and the court cannot
exercise personal jurisdiction over Dolim. Sharp v. Valley

iz Adnd iz mad ITooes LI A7 Ds 1794 I A N4
1 UIS AVICEU., 7, Wik 1icur i Il(./.)[/ oo 1A 1™, sl N

185, 187 (1966) (“The rules relating to service of process
must be strictly followed, and jurisdiction of the court over
the person of the defendant is dependent upon proper service
having been made....”). The court sustains the preliminary
objection to improper service and personal jurisdiction. The
court will order service of the complaint on Dolim stricken.
Should the plaintiffs have the complaint reinstated, they
shall serve Dolim in Pennsylvania within 30 days after that
reinstatement or outside of Pennsylvania within 90 days after
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Park, 423 Pa.Super. 64

that reinstatement. See I’a R.C.P.

Super. 601. 621 Az
that, “[wlhere service of process is defectlve, the proper
remedy is to sct aside the service[.]” and that plaintiff cannot
proceed against defendant until plaintiff effects proper service
on the defendant).

Because the lack of effective service deprives the court of
personal jurisdiction over Dolim, the court need not now
consider Dolim's other arguments regarding lack of personal
jurisdiction. Dolim may raise these arguments again should
plaintiffs serve Dolim properly.

Dolim also alleges that plaintiffs did not attach copies of all
prior pleadings to the process that they attempted to serve on
Dolim. Pa.R.C.P. 425(a). The court decms plaintiffs' failure to
specifically deny this factual allegation as an admission that
they did not attach the pleadings. Pa.R.C.P. 1029(b}; Cercore.
386 A.2d at 4. Though a violation of Pa.R.C.P. 425(a) would
not ordinarily warrant striking service, it would warrant an

RS IR DS IS o o o nmaitiad wlandiaae

order that pmiuuu) serve Dolim with the omitted pi€aaings.
Almart Stores v.. Liberty Shop Cir., 34 Pa.D. & C.2d 415. 418
(C.P. Lehigh 1972); Jacobs v. Brocoks. 69 Pa.l). & C.2d 112,
114(C.P. Somerset 1972); 2 Goodrich Amram 2d § 425(a)(2).
Should plaintiffs attempt to serve Dolim again, that service
shall include all prior pleadings.

111. THE COURT OVERRULES NEBB'S PRELIMINARY
OBJECTION TO COUNT I (INJUNCTION).

*4 Count 1 secks to enjoin NEBB from decertifying
plaintiffs. NEBB argues that Count I is insufficiently specific
and legally insufficient because Count I does not identify any
bylaw, statute or common law that NEBB violated. The court
disagrees and overrules the objection.

Count I alleges that defendants' actions in decertifying the
plaintiffs were “omissions to do acts which are specifically
required 10 be done under the NEBB by-laws and under the
statutory and common law, the requirements of which are
incorporated under the NEBB charter and by-laws.” Second
Amended Complaint § 48. The court interprets the “acts

which are specifically required ... under common law™ as

2 againgt NEBR in Cou
3 against NEBDB in Counts IT and

. Lo 4t

lv;Jeluug to the tort claim
I11. The claim for tortious interference in Count II, if proven.
would support a claim for an injunction. See .4dler, Barish,
Daniels, Levin and Creskoff v. Epstein, 482 Pa. 416, 393
A .2d 1175, 1181-1186 (1978) (affirming trial court's order
enjoining tortious interference with contraciual relations).

Therefore. the court must overrule NEBB's objection to Count
L

The court notes, however, that the plaintiffs' claim for an
injunction must depend entirely upon their right to relief

G PRIV ¥ ot B (R0 SUURY a

for toriious interference, for the plainiiis’ Ciaim un der the
bylaws is not legally sufficient and is insufficiently specific.
Count 1 alleges that the NEBB bylaws give plaintiffs the

right to notice of allegations and the right to a full and fair

evidentiary hcaring, and that NEBB violated these rights. 2
Second Amended Complaint §9 49. 50. In considering this
preliminary objection, the court accepts as true the factual
allegation that the bylaws state that plaintiffs shall receive

notice of allegations and a full and fair evidentiary hearing. 3
Borden v. Baldwin, 444 Pa. 577, 281 A.2d 892 (1971). But
the court need not accept as true plaintiffs' legal conclusion
that these provisions confer egally enforceabie rights on the
plaintiffs. Denweiler v. School Dist. of Borough of Hatfield,
376 Pa. 555. 104 A.2d 110, 113 (1954) (though court must
accept as true the plaintiff's factual averments as to the
contents of a writing, the court is not bound by plaintiff's
legal interpretation of these provisions). In their complaint,
plaintiffs cite no law giving plaintiffs the right 1o cnforce
the bylaws against NEBB. In their brief. plaintiffs do not
even discuss Count I. Do plaintiffs base their right to enforce
the bylaws on contract law? Do plaintiffs base their claim

on tort law? Do they base it on the Maryland General
Corporation Law? Md.Cede.Ann., Corps. & Ass'ns § 1-101
er seq. After three rounds of pleading. the court still can
only speculate as to plaintiffs' legal theory; and the plaintiffs'
failure to attach a copies of the bylaws—which defendants
produced to plaintiffs during discovery—compounds the
court's confusion. Therefore, if plaintiff's tortious interference
claim eventually fails, so must its claim for an injunction.

IV. THE COURT SUSTAINS IN PART THE
PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS TO COUNT 11
(TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE).

*§ Count II alieges that the defendants tortiously interfered
with Hydrair's existing and prospective contractual relations.
The defendants object on the grounds of legal insufficiency
and insufficient specificity. The court sustains these
objections in part.

The elements of a claim for tortious interference with existing
or prospective contractual relations are
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(1) the existence of a contractual, or prospective contractual
relation between the complainant and a third party;

(2) purposeful action on the part of defendant, specifically
intended to harm the existing relation, or to prevent a
prospective relation from occuiring;

(3) the absence of privilege or justification on the part of
the defendant; and

(4) the occasioning of actual legal damage as a result of the
defendant's conduct.

Strickland v. University of Scranton, 700 A2d 979, 985
(Pa.Super.Ct.1997) (citations omitted), quoted in Flynn
Corp. v. Cytometrics, June 2000, No. 2102, op. at 11
(C.P.Phila.Nov. 17, 2000) (Sheppard, J.). “Absence of
privilege or justification™ means that the defendant's conduct
was “improper.” Cloverleaf Dev., Inc. v. Horizon Fin,
F.4.. 347 Pa.Super. 75, 500 A.2d 163. 167 (1985) (citing
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 767 for six factors to
consider when determining whether defendant's conduct was
improper). The plaintiffs must show actual pecuniary loss.
Shiner v. Moriarty. 706 A.2d 1228. 1238 (Pa.Super.CL.1998).
ress or injury to

They cannot recover solely for emotional dist

20y 2 Moo

reputation. /d.

A. Hawkin's Tortious Interference Claims.
As did the original complaint, the second amended complaint
fails to allege the existence of a contract to which Hawkins
was a party or a prospective contract to which he would

Lomon PN PV
101¢€, lllC court bubtdlllb lllC UC] 1urers o1

be a party. There
all defendants to Hawkins' tortious interference claim in
Count 11. Rutherfoord v. Preshvterian-University Hospital,
417 Pa.Super. 316. 612 A.2d 500. 507 (1992) (stating
that the existence of a contractual relationship between the
plaintiff and a third person ts an esscntial element of tortious

interference).

B. Hydrair's Tortious Interference Claims.
Hydrair's tortious interference claim is legally sufficient
against all defendants except Reardon.

1. Hydrair's claims for tortious interference with existing
contractual relations.

Hydrair states a legally sufficient claim against Roaten
and EAB for tortious interference with existing contractual

relations based on the Hamburg and Kunkle contracts. The
complaint identifies contractual relations with third parties:
Hamburg and Kunkle school districts. The complaint alleges
that Roaten and EAB acted purposefully to harm those
relations: they made false statements to the Hamburg and
Kunkle school districts in an effort to take over those jobs.
Second Amended Complaint {9 20, 34-36. The complaint
alleges that the actions of Roaten and EAB were unprivileged,
Second Amended Complaint 4 48, and sufficiently alleges
that Roaten and EAB acted improperly: they made false
statements to Hamburg and Kunkle. Birl v. Philadelphia
Elec. Co., 402 Pa. 297, 167 A2d 472. 474-75 (1960)
(allegation that defendant made false statements to plaintiff's
employer with purpose and result of inducing employer to
terminate plaintiff employee stated legally sufficient claim of
intentional interference with contract); £vans v. Philadelphia
Newspapers, Inc.. 411 Pa.Super. 244, 601 A.2d 330. 333
(1991) (stating that plaintiff may basc claim of intentional
interference on a varietv of torts, including defamation)- see

an existing contract). The complaint alleges actual damage:
Roaten and EAB caused Hydrair to be delaved in finishing
the Hamburg job and caused Hydrair to lose the Kunkle job.
See Kelly-Springfield Tire Co. v. D’Ambro, 408 Pa.Super.
301, 596 A.2d 867. 871 (1991) (holding that allegation that
defendant's
sale of plaintiff's property to a third party was a sufficient

interference caused unnecessary delay in the

allegation of actual damage). 4

*6 2.

nrosnectiv
Fospectlv

'+

Hydrair's claim for tortious interference with

[,

contractual relations.
Hydrair states a legally sufficient claim against all defendants
except Reardon for tortious interference with prospective
coniractual relations. Hydrair does not identify any specific
prospective contracts with third parties, but instead alleges
that defendants' conduct completely barred Hydrair from
doing business in its territory. Second Amended Complaint
§ 46. This is a sufficient allegation that prospective
contractual relations existed. Hydrair need not identify
specific prospective contracts. See Keilv—Springfield Tire
Co.. 596 A.2d at 871 (holding that plamtiff's was not deficient
for failing to identify a specific prospective contractual
relation, because “prospective contractual relations are,
by definition, not as susceptible of definite, exacting
identification as is the case with an existing contract with a
specific person.™).
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The complaint alleges specific purposeful actions by NEBB,
PERA, Roaten, EAB, Salkin, Casey, Carlin Management and
Dolim to decertify Hydrair. Second Amended Complaint {f
22, 24, 29, 33, 34, 37, 38, 39. The court can reasonably
deduce from the complaint that NEBB certification is a
requirement for obtaining a balancing coniract, see Second
Amended Complaint 41 46 and 51, and that these defendants
would have known that the substantially certain result of
decertification would be Hydrair's inability to get balancing
contracts. Field v. Philadelphia Elec. Co., 388 Pa.Super. 400.
565 A.2d 1170. 1178 (1989) (stating that
both to the desired consequénces and to the consequences
substantially certain to follow from the act.”); Restatement
{Second) of Torts § 8A (stating that “intent™ means “that the
actor desires to cause [the] consequences of his act, or that
he believes that the consequences are substantially certain to
result from it.™). See also B.1.Z.. Inc. v. Grove, 803 I'.Supp.
1019, 1023 (M.D.Pa.1992) (stating that the intent required for
a tortious interference claim can be inferred where the result
is substantially certain to occur.). Therefore, the complaint

“intent extends

sufficiently
action ... specifically intended ...
getting balancing contracts. Strickland, 700 A.2d at 985.
But the second amended complaint does not allege any
specific actions by Reardon. It only alleges that Reardon
was the “owner/member”™ of Carlin Management, that he was
“Secretary and/or Treasurer of PEBA.” that he ran “the daily
workings of PEBA,™ that he hired Casey, that he was a co-
conspirator and that he caused PEBA's members to vote for
Hydrair's decertification. Second Amended Complaint § 27.
33, 37. Since there are no allegations of specific conduct
by Reardon causing plaintiffs' decertification, the tortious
interference claim against Reardon is legally insufficient and
insufficiently specific.

e , ey
took purposeful

13! that th Aafand
ancges inai uiest aeiendants

to prevent” Hydrair from

*7 The co a e
actions were not privileged, Second Amended Complaint
48, and it alleges sufficient facts such that the court cannot
now conclude that the defendants did not act improperly.

2€ AN Con
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alleges that the defendants
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Creeger Brick & Bldg. Supply, Inc. v. Mid-State Bank &
Trust Co.. 385 Pa.Super. 30, 560 A.2d 151. 152 (1989) (“If
there is any doubt as to whether a claim for relief has been

27
37,

stated, the trial court should resolve it in favor of overruling
the demurrer.™).

The complaint alleges actual damage: the decertification
made Hydrair unable to get balancing contracts.

C. The Demand for Punitive Damages

Roaten, EAB, Carlin Management, Dolim and Casey 3 object
to the demand for punitive damages in Count II. A plaintiff
may recover punitive damages for tortious interference when

thhn Anfnmdomits
LUIC dcicnualit o

wa ~f o Aan aitraoanna

P Pt s Py 1y b
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“actions
as to demonstrate intentional, willful, wanton or reckless
conduct....” SHY Coal, Inc. v. Continental Grain Co., 520
Pa. 489. 587 A.2d 702. 704 (1991). The complaint alleges
intentional acts by Roaten, EAB, Dolim, Casey and Carlin,
and the court overrules their objections to the punitive
damages demand in Count I

In summary the court (1) sustains Reardon's objections to
Count H; (2) sustains the objections of the NEBB, PEBA,
Roaten, EAB, Salkin, Casey, Dolim and Carlin Management
to Hawkin's claims in count II; (3) overrules the objections
of NEBB, PEBA, Roaten, EAB, Salkin, Casey, Dolim
and Carlin Management to Hydrair's claims in Count II;
and (4) overrules the objections of Roaten, EAB, Carlin
or punitive

Management, Dolim and chpy to the demand

vaallagCIiiCin, /01 ase wal Llinignie o

damages in Count IL.

V. THE COURT SUSTAINS THE DEFENDANTS'

PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS TO COUNT III (FRAUD).
Count IIT alleges that the defendants fraudulently crafted
complaints about plaintiffs work on the Kunkle and Hamburg

S T

—gqu tlat \,uum 111

O A sl

jObS and oiher jobs. The defendants
is legally insufficient and insufficiently
agrees. Two of the elements of fraud are a misrepresentation
by the defendant and the plaintiff's justifiable reliance on
the misrepresentation. Bortz v. Noon. 566 Pa. 489, 729
A.2d 335, 560 (1999). As in the original complaint, there
is no allegation in the second amended complaint that the
defendants made a statement to the plaintiffs on which
the plaintiffs relied. Instead, the second amended complaint
alleges that the defendants made false statements 1o others
—to Hydrair's customers and to each other
plaintiffs harm. The court sustains the preliminary objections
of the defendants to Count IIL

specific. The court

which caused

VI. THE COURT SUSTAINS IN PART THE
PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS TO COUNT IV
(DEFAMATION).

Count I'V of the complaint alleges that PEBA, EAB, Roaten,
nnhm (\erlﬂ pPﬂl‘f‘ﬂﬂ ﬂl‘lf‘ QQIL’;I‘I ﬂpfqmpr‘l fhP

{ Qcp\l
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plaintiffs. In the July 27, 2000 opinion addressing the
preliminary objections to the original complaint, the court

3
t
>
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held that plaintiffs had stated a legally sufficient claim for

defamation against PEBA, EAB and Roaten 6 Casey, Dolim,
Reardon, Carlin Management and Salkin argue that Count 111
is legally insufficient and insufficiently specific. The court

sustains the objections in part.

*8 A claim for defamation must generally allege: * °1) the
defamatory character of the communication; 2) publication;
3) that the communication refers to the plaintiff; 4) the third
party’s understanding of the communication’s defamatory
character; and 5) injury.” * Walder v. Lobel, 339 Pa.Super.
203. 448 A.2d 622, 627 (1983), quoting Raneri v. DePolo, 65
Pa.Commw, 183,441 A 24 1373, 1375 (1982); 42 Pa.C S A,
8343(a). The complaint must allege with particularity,
among other things, the content of the defamatory oral or
written statements, the identity of the persons making such
statements, and the identity of the persons to whom the
statements were made. /rri v. Lewis. 281 Pa.Super. 321, 422
A.2d 591, 392 (1980). “A publication is defamatory if it
tends to blacken a person's reputation or expose him to public
hatred, contempt, or ridicule. or injure him in his business or
profession.” dgriss v. Readway Express. Inc., 334 Pa.Super.

205, 483 A.2d 456. 461 (1984).

The second amended complaint states a legally sufficient
claim for defamation against Casey and Carlin Management.
The complaint alleges that Casey wrote NEBB that she
had been receiving numerous complaints about plaintiffs
for years. This alleged statement supports an action for
defamation per se because it could impute that plaintiffs
lacked competence in the balancing trade. Hollund v. Flick,

212 Pa. 20}..6}.:/‘\&. 828{19(}5\; Price v. CGI?“VIMV, 134 Pa, 340,

19 A. 687 (1890); Zerpol Corp. v. DMP Corp., 561 F.Supp.
404, 409-10 (E.D.Pa.1983). The circumstances in which
Casey made these statements—in a letter recommending
decertification of plaintiffs based on poor performance—
increases their defamatory nature. The defamation claim
against Carlin Management is legally sufficient because the
complaint sufficiently alleges that Casey acted within the
scope of her authority when writing the letters. Restatement
(Second) of Agency § 247. Therefore, the court overrules
the demurrer and specificity objections of Casey Carlin
Management to Count I'V.

Casey and Carlin Management also object to the demand
for punitive damages in Count IV. A plaintiff may recover

mmmvp dzmaopc for defamation when the defendant acted

Washington Grecne
580 A.2d

with actual malice. Bargerstock v.

Community Action Corp., 397 Pa.Super. 403,

361, 366 (1990). Actual malice means that the defendants
published the defamatory statement with knowledge that it
was false or with reckless disregard of whether it was false. /d.
The complaint does not allege that Casey wrote the letter with
knowledge that her statements in the letter were false or with
reckless disregard of whether they were {alse. Therefore, the
court sustains the objection of Casey and Carlin Management

to the demand in Count IV for punitive damages.

The second amended complaint does not specifically identify
any statements by Dolim or Reardon. It docs not identify
any statements by Salkin except statements by him to the
plaintiffs. Therefore, the court sustains thc objections of
Dolim, Reardon and Salkin to Count IV. /tri, 422 A.2d at 592.

VII. THE COURT SUSTAINS THE DEFENDANTS'
PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONSTO COUNT V
(CONSPIRACY TO DEFAME).

*9 Count V alleges that PEBA, EAB, Roaten, Salkin, Casey.
Carlin Management, Reardon and Dolim conspired to defame
the plaintiffs. To state a cause of action for conspiracy,
plaintiffs must allege a combination of two or more persons
acting with a common purpose to do an unlawful act by

11 a T,
wful means or for an unlawful purpose. Baker v. Rangos,

Super. 333. 324 A.2d 498. 506 (1974). The Second
Amcnded Complaint alleges that

Reardon, Casey [Salkm] Dolim,
Carlin Management, Eastern Air
Balance and PEBA acted as the agents.
servants, workmen and/or employees
of defendant[s] PEBA & NEBB and
were then and there acting within
the scope of their agency, scrvitude.
work and/or employment, as well as in
their capacity as agents, servants and
employees for each other.

Second Amended Complaint § 13. Accepting this allegation
as true, EAB, Roaten, Salkin, Dolim, Casey, Carlin
Management and Reardon were agents of PEBA and were,
for the purposes of the plaintiffs' conspiracy claim, a single
entity. Perrige v. Horning, 440 Pa.Super. 31. 654 A.2d 1183,
1189 (1995) (stating that “averments of agency generally are
considered as admitted facts for the purposes of demurrer,
rather than as conclusions of law.”). A single entity cannot
conspire with itself. Rutherfoord v. Presbvterian—University
Hosp., 417 Pa.Super. 316. 612 A.2d 500, 508 (1992). Because
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the plaintiffs do not allege that this single entity conspired

with a second person, plaintiffs conspiracy claim is legally

S

insufficient. Jd.; Baker. 324 A.2d at 506. The court sustains
the objections of PEBA, Roaten, EAB, Salkin, Casey, Carlin
Management and Reardon to Count V.

VII. THE COURT SUSTAINS CASEY AND CARLIN'S
OBJECTION FOR FAILURE TO ATTACH A WRITING.

haga
uvase
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All claims agaiisi \.,ascv and Carlin vianagenmi ent arc
n the letter that Casey sent to NEBB. Casey and Carlin
Management object because the plaintiffs did not attach a
copy of the letter to the second amended complaint. Pa.R.C.P.
1019 and 1028(a)(2). When a claim is based on a writing,

A
a

the pleader shall attach a copy of the
writing. or the material part thereof,
but if the writing or copy is not
accessible to the pleader. it is sufficient
so to state, together with the reason,
and to set forth the substance in
writing.

Pa.R.C.P. 1019().” Plaintiffs did not attach a copy of the
letier, and they did not state that they do not have access to the
writing. Therefore, the court sustains the objection for failure

to conform with Pa.R.C.P. 1019(i). 8

CONCLUSION

The court will enter a contemporaneous order sustaining in
part the defendants' preliminary objections in accordance with
this opinion. As there were dozens of objections by nine
defendants to one confusing complaint. the order is lengthy.

it PNN1 A
T cuuil, Upon consideration

of the prellmmary objections of all defendants to the
complaint and plaintiffs' response, and in accordance with the
court's contemporaneously-filed memorandum opinion, the

court HEREBY ORDERS the following:

DEFENDANT DOLIM
*10 (1) Dolim's preliminary objections based on improper
service and lack of personal jurisdiction are SUSTAINED.

(2) Service of the complaint on Dolim is STRICKEN.
(3) Should the plaintiffs have the Second Amended
Complaint reinstated against Dolim, plaintiffs shall serve

ThAliemn 3en Do 1t
LOIiim i OISy vania within 30 days after reinstatement

of the Second Amended Complaint or outside Pennsylvania
within 90 days after reinstatcment.

(4) Dolim's objections to Hawkin's claim in Count Ii are
SUSTAINED.

(5) Dolim's objections to Hawkin's claim in Count II,
including the objection to the demand for punitive damages.
are OVERRULED.

(6) Dolim's objections to Counts III, IV and V are

SUSTAINED.

DEFENDANT NEBB
(7) NEBB's objection to the second amended complaint based
on untimeliness is OVERRULED.

SO
NAUTDDTIT O
L

UvLeERRU
(10) NEBB's objections to Count III are SUSTAINED.
DEFENDANT PEBA

(11) PEBA's objections to Hawkins' claims in Count II are

SUSTAINED.

(12) PEBA's objections to Hydrair's claims in Count 11 are
OVERRULED.

(13) PEBA's objections to Counts Il and V are SUSTAINED.

DEFENDANT SALKIN
(14) Salkin's objections to Hawkins' claims in Count II are
SUSTAINED.

(15) Salkin's objections to Hydrair's claims in Count II are
OVERRULED.
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(16) Salkin's objections to Counts III, IV and V are

SUSTAINED.

DEFENDANTS ROATEN AND EAB
(17) Roaten and EAB's objections to Hawkins' claims in
Count II are SUSTAINED.

(18) Roaten and EAB's objections to Hydrair's claims in
Count 11, including the objection to the demand for punitive
damages, are OVERRULED.

(19) Roaten and EAB's objections to Counts III and V are
SUSTAINED.

(20) Roaten and EAB's objections t

the objection to the demand for p

OVERRULED.

o Count IV, including

unitive damaoces
umt damages,

are

(21) Roaten and EAB's objection to the plaintiffs’ verification

1s OVERRULED.

DEFENDANTS CASEY, CARLIN MANAGEMENT AND
REARDON

(22) Reardon's preliminary objections to Counts 11 through V
are SUSTAINED.

(24) Casey and Carlin Management's objections to Hydrair's
claims in Count II, including the objection to the demand for
punitive damages, are OVERRULED.

(25) Casey and Carlin Management's objections to Counts II1
and V are SUSTAINED.

(26) Casey and Carlin Management's demurrers and
specificity objections to Counts IV are OVERRULED.

(27) Casey and Carlin Management's objections to the
punitive damages claim in Count IV are SUSTAINED.

(28) Casey and Carlin Management's objections for failure to
attach a writing are SUSTAINED.

(29) The plaintiffs shall file

twenty {20) days of the entry

athird amended complaint within
of this ardar

O1 1S Oraér.

All Citations

Not Reported in A.2d, 2001 WL 1855055, 52 Pa. D. & C.4th
57

Footnotes
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Plaintiffs do not argue that service was proper under Maryland law. 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 5323(a) ("When the law of this

£ i v s 4 b £
Commonwealth authorizes service of process outside this Commonwealth, the service, when reasonably calculated to

give actual notice, may be made ... (2) In the manner provided or prescribed by the law of the place in which the service
is made for service in that place in an action in any of its courts of general jurisdiction.”)
Though plaintiffs did not attach a copy of the bytaws to its complaint, defendants did not object to this defect.

a copy of the bylaws to their March 7. 2000 response t to n!mlnhffc nnﬂi!nn' fora pre!;mm:pl mll unction It

is not clear whether the court may consider these bylaws in determining the prefiminary objections. Compare Eberhart
v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 238 Pa.Super. 558, 362 A.2d 1094, 1097 (1976) (holding that court cannot consider writing
introduced into record by defendant making preliminary objection unless plaintiff admits the authenticity of the writing) with
Detweilerv. Schoo! Dist. nanmuah of Hatfield, 376 Pa. 555, 104 A 2d 110, 113 (1954} (holding that, under an exception to
the speaking demurrer rule, court may consider writing introduced into record by defendant making preliminary objection
if plaintiff bases his claims on the writing) and Satchell v. Insurance Placement Facility of Pennsylvania, 241 Pa.Super.
287, 361 A.2d 375, 377 (1976)(same). Even were the court to consider the copy of the bylaws, however, the result wouid
nat change, for the bylaws do not expressly set forth the rights to which plaintiffs claim they are entitied. See Framlau
Corp. v. Delaware County, 223 Pa.Super. 272, 299 A 2d 335, 338 (1972) (holding that, to the extent that a plaintiff's
allegations are inconsistent with the writing upon which the plaintiff bases a claim, the writing governs).

The court does not read the second amended complaint as alleging that any defendants except Roaten and EAB induced
Kunkle or Hamburg school districts to breach their contracts. See Hydrair, Inc v. National Envtl. Balancing Bureau,
February 2000, No. 2846, op. at 4 (C.P.Phila. July 27, 2000) (Herron, J.) (sustaining preliminary objections to tortious
interference claim of original complaint). Like the original complaint, the second amended complaint does not allege that
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the decertification proceedings interfered with the Hamburg and Kunkle jobs or that Hamburg and Kunkle even knew
about the decertification proceedings. If Hydrair does claim tortious interference with existing contractual relations against
NEBB, PEBA, Carlin Management, Casey, Dolim, Reardon or Salkin, that claim is legally insufficient and insufficiently
specific.

Reardon objects to the demands for punitive damages in all counts. Since there is no legally sufficient claim against
Reardon, the court does not address these objections.

Roaten and EAB again object to the defamation claim and the court again overrules their objection.

When plaintiffs filed the Second Amended Complaint, former Pa.R .C.P. 1019(h) govemned the attachment of writings.
That rule, amended effective January 1, 2001, is now located at Pa.R.C.P. 1019(). Since the language quoted is identical
in the new and the old versions of the rule, the court cites to the amended version.

Reardon also objects on the ground of failure to attach the letter. Because there is no legally sufficient claim against
Reardon, the court does not address that objection.

End of Document 22018 Thomson Reuars, No ciaim fo original U.S. Govermnment Works,




Tornese v, Cabrera-Martinez, Not Keportec: in A.3d {207

2014 WL 10789964

2014 WL 10789964
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.
NON-PRECEDENTIAL DECISION—
SEE SUPERIOR COURT 1.O.P. 65.37.
Superior Court of Pennsylvania.

John F. TORNESE and J &
P Enterprises, Appellants
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Appeal from the Order Entered December 27, 2013, In the
Court of Common Pleas of Luzerne County, Civil Division,
at No. 2013-10204.

F ELLA. SHOGAN and FITZGERALD ", 1.

BEFORE: P4
Opinion
MEMORANDUM BY SHOGAN, J.:

*] John F. Tornese (*Tornese™) and J & P Enterprises
(collectively “Appellants™), appeal the trial court's order
granting preliminary objections in the nature of a demurrer
filed by Appellee, Wilson F. Cabrera—Martinez (*Cabrera—
Martinez™). We affirm.

The trial court summarized the factual and procedural history
of this case as follows:

On August 28. 2013, [Appellants] filed a Complaint against
[Cabrera—Martinez|. The Complaint was premised upon
an alleged contract between ... J & P Enterprises, and
Wendy Almanzar, the wife of [Cabrera-Martinez]. On
October 18, 2013, [Cabrera-Martinez] filed Preliminary
Objections to [Appellants'] annlamt On OQOctober 28,
2013, [Appellants] responded to [Cabrera—Martinez's]
original Preliminary Objections by filing an Amended
Complaint. [Appellants’] Amended Complaint contains
two counts, one for tortious interference with a contract
and the other for terroristic threats. In response thereto,
[Cabrera-Martinez] filed a second set of Preliminary
Objections. [Appellants] did not file a Second Amended
Complaint, choosing to rely on the Amended Complaint

they filed on October 28, 2013, and filing the identical

brief in opposition to the preliminary objections that [they]
filed previously without referencing the new preliminary

objections. The Court, on December 20. 2013, reviewed the
matter, granted the Preliminary Objections and Dismissed

[Appellants’] Complaint against [Cabrera—Maﬂinez].[ M

[Appellants’] Amended Complaint is premised on a claim
that ... ] & P Enterprises and Wendy Almanzar, the wife of
[Cabrera—Martinez], entered into a contract for the delivery
of an ATM machine and one lighted sign owned by [J &
P Enterprises]. but to be delivered to [Cabrera~Martinez's]
business [Harlem World].
Trial Court Opinion, 3/21/14, at 1-2.
Appellants filed a timely notice of appeal from the trial court’s
order dismissing Appellants' amended complaint. The trial
court ordered a Pa.R.A.P.1925(b) statement and Appellants
timely complied.

Appellants present the following issue for our review:

Whether the lower court erred by sustaining [Cabrera—
Martinez's] preliminary objections in the nature of a
demurrer and dismissing all of [Appellants'] claims,
when [Appellants have] adequately pled all of [their]
claims, including conversion, tortious interference with
intentional  infliction of

contractual relations, and

emotional distress?

Appellants' Brief at 9 (full capitalization omitted).

We must first consider whether Appellants' claims are
properly before this Court. Although Appellants present a
single issue, the claim consists of three distinct questions: 1)
whether Appellants adequately pled a claim of conversion;
2) whether Appellants adequately pled a claim of tortious

ntarforansa  with 1
interference with contractual relations: and ‘\ 'v’vhe'»her

Appellants adequately pled a claim of intentional infliction
of emotional distress. Appellants' Brief at 9. Indeed. the
argument section of Appellants' brief consists of three
subparts, each providing argument in support of these three
individual claims. /d. at 12-23.

*2 Asmentioned previously, however, Appellants' amended
complaint contained two counts: one for tortious interference
with a contract and the second for terroristic threats. Amended
Complaint, 10/28/13, at 1-4. Thus, the claims raised in

CLGWS

mﬂlcuon of emotlonal distress, were not raised in Appellants'
amended complaint, and thus are not properly before this
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Court for review. See Pa.R.A.P. 302(a) (Issucs not raised in

the lower court are waived and cannot be raised for the first

time on appeal).

Furthermore, Appellants fail to present as an issue in their

avraa and ~f
avermmcnt o1

Taas Ll o€ O P PR o T] +1

appcuau: brief the trial court's luliug on the
terroristic threats. Accordingly. the only issue properly before
this Court for review is Appellants' allegation that they
adequately set forth a claim of tortious interference with
contractual relations and, therefore, the trial court erred in

granting the preliminary objections. 3

Appellants maintain that they have adequately pled a claim
for tortious interference with actual contractual relations,

establishing each of the four requisite elements. 4 Appellants’
Brief at 14-19. Thus, Appellants contend the trial court
erred in granting the preliminary objections and dismissing
Appellants' amended complaint. /d.

Our standard of review of an appeal from the grant of
preliminary objections is as follows:

[OJur standard of review of an order of the trial
court overruling or granting preliminary objections is to
determine whether the trial court committed an error of
law. When considering the appropriateness of a ruling on
preliminary objections, the appellate court must apply the
same standard as the trial court.

Preliminary objections in the nature of a demurrer test
the legal sufficiency of the complaint. When considering
preliminary objections, all material facts set forth in the
challenged pleadings are admitted as true, as well as all
inferences rcasonably deducible therefrom. Preliminary
objections which seek the dismissal of a cause of action
should be sustained only in cases in which it is clear and
free from doubt that the pleader will be unable to prove
facts legally sufficient to establish the right to relief. 1f any
doubt exists as to whether a demurrer should be sustained,

it chould be resolved in favor nfn\'/r-\rrnhno the r\rphmmnrv

SiiUw volu il O1 OVOITURINE N0 Preniniil

objections.

Discover Bank v. Stucka, 33 A.3d 82, 86 (Pa.Super.2011).
It is well-established that a plainti

iff must provide sufficient

t a plai
factual averments in his or her complajnt to sustain a
cause of action. Feingold v. Hendrzak. 15 A.3d 937, 942
(Pa.Super.2011). “Pennsylvania is a fact-pleading state; a
compiaint must not only give the defendant notice of what the
plaintiff's claim is and the grounds upon which it rests, but

the complaint must also formulate the issues by summarizing
those facts essential to support the claim .” /d. at 942.

The elements necessary to a cause of action for interference
with existing contractual relations are as follows:

*3 (1) the existence of a contractual relationship between
the complainant and a third party;

(2) an intent on the part of the defendant to harm the
plaintiff by interfering with that contractual relationship;

(3) the absence of privilege or justification on the part of
the defendant; and

the occasioning of actual damage as a result of defendant's
conduct.

Phillips, 959 A.2d at 429 (Pa.Super.2008).

In an attempt to establish the first element, Appellants
contend that they have “clearly pled the existence of a
contractual relation between the complainant and a third
party, satisfying prong one.” Appellants' Brief at 17. In
support of this claim, Appellants cite to paragraph 5 of their
amended complaint, which provides:

The Plaintiff, J & P Enterprises,
entered into a contractual agreement
with  Wendy
placement and maintenance of an
ATM terminal at Harlem World.

Almanzar for her

Id. Appellants' citation to their c/aim in the amended
complaint that there was a contractual agreement with Wendy
Almanzar, however, does not establish that there was, in fact,
a contractual agreement with Wendy Almanzar.

Rule 1019 of Pennsy lvania Rules of Civil Procedure provides,
in relevant part, as follows:

Rule 1019. Contents of Pleadings. General and Specific
Averments

(h) When any claim or defense is based upon an agreement,
the pleading shall state specifically if the agreement is oral
or written.

Note: If the agreement is in writing, it must be attached
to the pleading. Sce subdivision (i) of this rule.
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(i) When any claim or defense is based upon a writing, the
pleader shall attach a copy of the writing, or the material
part thereof, but if the writing or copy is not accessible to
the pleader, it is sufficient so to state, together with the

reason, a_d to set f(\rﬂ'\ the (311 b stan

1ce in writing,

Pa.R.C.P. 1019. Furthermore,
is a contract arising when there is an agreement, but the

“a contract implied in fact

parties' intentions are inferred from their conduct in light of

partics 1nich 1l

the circumstances.” Rambo v. Greene. 906 A.2d 1232, 1236

{Pa.Super.2006).

Here, despite the claim being based on an
Appeliants have failed to state whether the agreement was
oral or written pursuant to Pa.R.C.P. 1019(h). Furthermore,
if the agreement was written, Appellants failed to attach
any such writing, or an explanation for its absence. to their
amended complaint pursuant to Pa.R.C.P. 1019(i). Moreover,
Appellants failed to sufficiently plead or establish that there
was an jmplied contract. In fact, Appellants have provided
no details regarding the alleged arrangement, such as the
date the ATM and sign were placed at Harlem World,
the duration of the agreement, and any arrangement for
payment between the parties. As such, Appellants have
failed to sufficiently plead the existence of a contractual
relationship between the parties. See Foster v. UPMC South
Side Hosp.. 2 A.3d 655, 666 (Pa.Super.2010) (trial court

arantad nraliminary ahiection
Cil (e i

IJ' granted préiminary o0jec s in the nature of a

propet ons in the nature
demurrer where plaintiff failed to establish that a contract
existed for purposes of a claim of intentional interference with
a contract because the complaint failed to provide a scintilla of
information regarding the purported contractual relationship).
Accordingly, we conclude that Appellants failed to establish
the first prong necessary to a claim of interference with actual

contractual relations.

*4 Additionally, we note that Appellants allege that the
contractual relationship was between Appellants and Wendy
Almanzar (“Almanzar”) and maintain that “[Appellants]
entcred into a contractual agreement with Wendy Almanzar
for her placement and maintenance of an ATM terminal
at Harlem World.” Appellants' Brief at 15; Amended
Complaint, 10/28/13, at § 5. Furthermore, Appellants assert
that Almanzar is married to Cabrera-Martinez and advised
Appellants that she had authority to place the ATM at Harlem
World. /d ; Amended Complaint, 9 5, 6. Appellants maintain

that. at the direction of Almanzar, Appellants placed the ATM

at Harlem World. /d;. Amended Complaint, at 9 7.

There is no allegation in the amended complaint or evidence
of record that establishes Almanzar's relationship to Cabrera—
Martinez and Harlem World other than the allegation that
she was married to Cabrera-Martinez. Despite Appellants'
allegation that Almanzar advised Appellants that she had

B A T4 L.

authority to have the ATM placed at Harlem World. there

LIV £y 11ivl plu\a\.ru AL L EGAEIVIIE ¥ Vi ENd, uiins
is no claim or evidence of record that she did. in fact, have
authority to act on Harlem World's behalf.

However. even presuming that Almanzar had authority to
allow J & P Enterprises to place the ATM at Harlem World,
it would not be unreasonable to conclude that she was acting

as agent for Harlem World.” Followed to its logical end, if
Almanzar was acting as agent for Harlem World, there was
no third party as is required by the first element. Appellants
cannot have it both ways: they cannot argue on one hand that

Almanzar had authority on behalf of Cabrera-—Martinez and

Almanzar had authority on behalf of Cabrera
Harlem World to have the ATM placed there. but then, on
the other, argue that Almanzar was the third party with whom
they contracted and Cabrera~Martinez acting on Harlem
World's behalf interfered with that contractual relationship.

Next, Appellants assert that Cabrera—Martinez specifically
intended to harm the existing contractual refationship, thus
satisfying prong two. Appellant's Brief at 17. Appellants
claim that when they demanded return of the ATM, Cabrera—
Martinez refused to allow Appellants to retrieve the ATM.
Id at 17. Additionally, Appellants argue that Cabrera—
Martinez's threat to shoot Tornese. While such behavior, if
true, would obviously be “improper,”
two *“personal™ visits by Tornese, and we decline to shoot
Tornese if he attempted to retrieve the ATM constituted

satisfying the third element. /d. at 19.

we note references to

“improper conduct,”

This Court has provided the following guidance when

dndnang ithe second and third prongs of a claim for

intentional interference with contractual relations:

The second element requires proof that the defendant acted

“for th i m i rm intiff’
for the specific purpose of causing harm to the plaintiff.

Phillips v. Selig, 959 A.2d 420. 429 (Pa.Super.2008)
(quoting Glenn v. Point Park College, 431 Pa. 474, 272
A.2d 895, 899 (1971)). The second element of this cause
of action is closely intertwined with the third element,
which requires a showing that Appellant's actions were
not privileged. See Restatement (Second) of Torts § 766.
Thus, in order to succeed in a cause of action for tomous
interference with a contract, a plaintiff must prove not only
that a defendant acted intentionally to harm the plaintiff,
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but also that those actions were improper. In determining
whether a defendant's actions were improper, the trial
court must take into account the following factors listed in
Restatement (Second) of Torts section 767:

*5 (a) the nature of the actor’s conduct; (b) the actor's

motive; (c) the interests of the others with which the
actor's conduct interferes; (d) the interests sought to
be advanced by the actor; (e) the social interests in
protecting the freedom of action of the actor and the
contractual interests of the other; (f) the proximity or
remoteness of the actor's conduct to the interference; and
(g) the relations between the parties.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 767; see, e.g., Adler
Barish Daniels Levin & Creskoff v. Epstein, 482 Pa. 416,
393 A.2d 1175, 1184 (1978); Phillips. 959 A.2d at 429-30.

Courts require a showing of both harm and improper
conduct because we have recognized that some
intentionally harmful conduct is done “at least in part for
the purpose of protecting some legitimate interest which
conflicts with that of the plaintiff.” Phillips. 959 A.2d at
430.

Empire Trucking Co.. Inc. v. Reading Anthracite Coal Co.,
71 A .3d 923, 933-934 (Pa.Super.2013).

In the case sub judice, the trial court provided the following
analysis regarding these two prongs:

A review of [Appellants'] Complaint discloses that
[Appellants] have failed to state a claim for the intentional
interference with a prospective contractual relation because
Count 1 fails to contain a sufficient allegation of specific
intent. Glenn [v. Point Park College |, 441 Pa. 474, 272
A.24[895.1899 1 (Pa.1971) 1. [Appellants] do not plead any
allegation that [Cabrera—Martinez] knew or had knowledge
of any contractual relationship between [Appellants] and
Wendy Almanzar. There is no allegation that [Cabrera—
Martinez] intended to cause harm to [Appellants]. The
[Appellants] piead that there was harm but not that
[Cabrera—Martinez] intended to harm [Appellants].

to state a claim for tortious mterference with a contract,
there needs to be an allegation that [Cabrera-Martinez]
acted with ‘the specific purpose of causing harm to the
Plaintiffs. Glenn, 272 A.2d 899 (“the wrong ordinarily
requires conduct intended to interrupt negotiations or

prevent the consummation of the contract™).” ... At most,
[Appellants] plead, in paragraph 17, that the “conduct of
[Cabrera-Martinez] in converting [Appellants'] property
was intentional, willful, wanton and outrageous”, but this
is insufficient to state a cause of action under this theory.

(Tlnmmes tha Anvyet

lll \JiCriti, I,lli— VUL

[d]efendant “intentionally, wrongfully, and maliciously ...

lad that
ruled that even an allegation that the

interfered with a prospective contractual relationship™ L6l
was insufficient because there was no allegation that the
[dlefendant intended to cause harm to the [p]laintiffs.
There is nothing in the pleading to suggest that [Cabrera—
Martinez] intended to cause harm to [Appellants] or its
business, even if harm was inevitable by the actions
of [Cabrera—Martinez]. Moreover, there is no allcgation
in the Amended Complaint regarding whether [Cabrera—
Martinez's] actions were made with or without “privilege

*6 Trial Court Opinion, 3/21/14, at 2-3.

We agree with the irial couri's analysis. Here, there is no
allegation that Cabrera-Martinez acted with the intent to
harm Appellants by interfering with the alleged contractual
relationship. In fact, it is unclear that Cabrera—Martinez was
even aware of the alleged contractual relationship. Appellants
have failed to allege that Cabrera-Martinez's actions of
refusing to allow Appellants to retricve the ATM were not
privileged. The complaint as drafted does not negate the
existence of privilege on the part of Cabrera-Martinez. Glenn,
272 A.2d at 900. Indeed, as our Court has recognized,
intentionally harmful conduct is done ‘at least in part for the
purpose of protecting some legitimate interest which conflicts

pusc O DIHCLLI

with that of the plaintiff.”
A3d at 933-934.7

“some

¢ Empire Trucking Co., Inc., 71

As such, we conclude that Appeciiants have failed to
satisfactorily plead facts establishing the second and third
prongs of the cause of action for intentional interference with
existing contractual relations. Accordingly, the trial court
properly granted Cabrera—Martinez's preliminary objections
in the nature of a demurrer.

Order affirmed. Jurisdiction relinquished.

All Citations

Not Reported in A.3d, 2014 WL 10789964

di
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Footnotes

d*

N~

Former Justice specially assigned to the Superior Court.

The court's order granting Cabrera—Martinez's preliminary objections was entered on December 27, 2013.

Appellants assert that although they raised the issue of conversion in the body of the amended complaint, the trial court
“completely ignored” their claim of conversion. Appellants’ Brief at 13. As noted, Appellants’ amended complaint included
two counts: Count One-Tortious Interference [With] Contract; and Count Two—Terroristic Threats. Amended Complaint,
10/28/13, at 1-4. The trial court did not have a duty to scour the complaint and uncover all potential claims therein.
Steiner v. Markel, 600 Pa. 515, 968 A.2d 1253, 1258 (Pa.2009). Accordingly, the trial court properly declined to address
the alleged claim of conversion.

We note that although Appellants fail to specifically identify the claim for intentional interference with an existing
contractual relation as an issue they were pursuing on appeal, we conclude that in reading the Pa.R.A.P.1925(b)
statement, the claim is fairly pled. Plaintiffs' Concise Statement of Matters Complained of on Appeal, 2/12/14, at 1-
2. Thus, we decline to find this issue waived. See Commonweaith v. Hill, 609 Pa. 410, 16 A.3d 484, 451 (Pa.2011)
{quoting Commonwealth v. Lord, 553 Pa. 415, 719 A.2d 306, 309 (Pa. 1998)) (holding “[alny issues not raised in a
Pa.R.A.P.1925(b) statement will be deemed waived.”).

See Phillips v. Selig, 959 A.2d 420 (Pa.Super.2008) for discussion of claims of interference with prospective contractual
relations versus claims of interference with existing contractual relations.

Without details regarding the contract, it is impossible to determine in what, if any, capacity Almanzar acted on behalf
of Harlem World.

We note that Glenn involved an allegation of interference with prospective contractual relationship wherein the case at
hand involves a claim of interference with existing contractual relationships. The analysis in Glenn as to the second and
third eilements, however, is helpfut and relevantto our inquiry here as the second, third and fourth elements of both claims
are the same. See Phillips, 959 A 2d at 428-430 (outlining requirements for allegations of interference with prospective
contractual relations and allegations of interference with existing contractual relations.)

We make no ruling regarding Appellants' claim that Cabrera—Martinez's conduct was not privileged and was improper
when he threatened to speculate as to what may have occurred during these exchanges and fueled subsequent
interactions between the parties. Furthermore, given our conclusion that Appellants have failed to estabiish the first and
second elements of his claim, a decision regarding this allegation is not necessary to the disposition of this case.

End of Document £ 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.
Pennsylvania Court of Common Pleas.

SAN LUCAS CONSTRUCTION
COMPANY INC. Plaintiff
V.
ST. PAUL MERCURY INSURANCE COMPANY
d/b/a The St. Paul Surety, Philadelphia
Housing Authority, and Bob Kahan d/b/
a Contract Completion, Inc. Defendants

No. 2190FEB.TERM.2000.
|

March 14, 2001.

OPINION
SHEPPARD, J.

*1 Presently before this court is defendant, St. Paul Mercury

Insurance Company. d/b/a The St. Paul Surety (*St.Paul™)’s
Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (“Motion™) and
plaintiff, San Lucas Construction Company, Inc. (*San
Lucas™)'s opposition to it.

For the reasons set forth, the Motion is Granted and San
Lucas's claims against St. Paul are dismissed.

BACKGROUND

This case arises out of a dispute over the unsuccessful
completion of a construction contract involving the
renovation of a public housing project and the termination of
one of the general contractors.

Plainti{ff, San Lucas, is a family owned construction
business, located in Philadelphia. Compl. at § 1. Defendant,
Philadelphia Housing Authority (“PHA™), is the largest
public housing agency in Pennsylvania. /d at § 3. On
November 6, 1997, PHA hired San Lucas to provide general
construction for a part of the p‘uuu\, housing project known
as the Richard Allen Homes project (“the Project™). /d. at §
5. Defendant, St. Paul, a Minnesota corporation, is the surety
for San Lucas's obligations under the Project. /d. at § 2.
Prior to issuing any bonds to San Lucas, St. Paul required

San Lucas to sign a General Agreement of Indemnity, dated

June 20, 1997 (*Indemnity Agreement”). ' St. Pa
New Maiter and Counterclaim at 4§ 1
Answer™); San Lucas's Reply at 19 115-116. See Exhibit B3. 2
The Indemnity Agreement contained exculpatory clauses for
the benefit of St. Paul, which provided that St. Paul could
take certain actions without incurring liability, in the event
that San Lucas breached its contract or failed to promptly
discharge its obligations. See Exhibit B3 at €Y 12-13.

ul's Answer,

“ Q4+ Daslo
LU Ol rauls

During the course of the Project, problems developed
between San Lucas and PHA which involved, inter alia,
various delays in meeting the completion deadline. See

Compl. at 19 13, 16, 21,23, 24, 25, 28, 32, 34, 35, 39, 44, 48,

San Lucas and PHA disagree about the causc of 1he problems.
See Exhibits A5, A6, A9, A10-25. The contract between PHA
and San Lucas provided in pertinent part:

Article 4. Payment for Materials,
Etc. The Contractor agrees to make
prompt payment for all materials
furnished. for labor supplicd or
performed, equipment rented and
services rendered by public utilities. in
or in connection with the prosecution
of the work, whether or not the said
material, labor, equipment or services
enter into and become a component
part of the work or improvement

contemplated.

Exhibit Al, art. 4. On December 10, 1999, PHA issued a
“Notice of Intent to Defauit” to San Lucas. Compl. at § 58;
Exhibit A9. This notice included the following:

Since you have failed to perform the work under Contract
No. 9589 within the time required by its terms, or “cure
the conditions endangering performance under [Clontract
No. 9589 as related to you at a meeting with you and
™ the Philadelphia
Housing Authority (PHA) is considering terminating the
contract under the provisions for default of this contract.

your surety held on August 10, 1999,

Pending a final decision in this matter, it will be necessary
to determine the extent of your failure to perform and the

recourse PHA must take to secure the services necessary to

complete the contract....

*2 Exhibit A9. On December 20, 1999, San Lucas met with
PHA and St. Paul to respond to PHA's Notice of Intent to

Default. Compl. at § 59.
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outstanding issues, mciudmg the status of clalms by
subcontractors and suppliers. /d . at § 60. San Lucas
acknowledged that $242,000 in subcontractors' claims were
due at that time. Id. at § 61. San Lucas also purportedly agreed
to enter into a joint check agreement with St. Paul so that
all funds from PHA could be monitored and directed by St.
Paul. /4. at § 62. In addition, St. Paul purportedly agreed not
to interfere with San Lucas' negotiations with PHA, which
included asking PHA to reduce its retainage in order to pay
subcontractors, asking PHA 1o increase the contract price, and
asking for an additional time extension. Jd. at 9 63. St. Paul,
however, denics that it agreed to refrain from interfering with
San Lucas's negotiations with PHA. St. Paul's Answer at § 64.

The next day, on December 21, 1999, St. Paul sent letters
to both PHA and San Lucas, referring to the meeting
of December 20, 1999, as well as the concerns of PHA
regarding the status of the Project and the unpaid bills for
the Project. at 9 65; Exhibit A10. These letiers
demanded that PHA “refrain from paying out any portion of
the remaining contract balance without the express writien
consent of {St. Paul).” Exhibit A10. On January 10, 2000,
San Lucas issued a response letter, requesting instructions
on how to proceed. Compl. at § 67. Specifically, this letter
indicated that San Lucas was not abandoning the job but
also stated that San Lucas could not continue to provide
labor and materials without payment from PHA. Exhibit
All. Thercafter, additional correspondence passed between
St. Paul and San Lucas. Compl. at 9 69. See Exhibit A13.

FRPaS T ot IS
UL pI.

On January 13, PHA issued a “Notice of Default™ to San
Lucas, advising that “[a]lthough you are in default, at this
time the PHA is not terminating the above contract.” Exhibit
Al4 (emphasis in original). Following this notice, the parties
again exchanged correspondence, but St. Paul and PHA
purportedly refused to meet with San Lucas. Compl. at 1§
71-73. See Exhibits A15, A16, Al7. Specifically, on Januar)
21. 2000, St. Paul issued a letter to PHA, indi
needs for documentation in order to investigate the matter
and determine the appropriate action. Exhibit A17. Then,
on January 24. 2000, PHA terminated its contract with San
Lucas. asserting the same grounds it had asserted previousiy
in its “Notice of Intent to Default®, and demanded that
St. Paul, as surety, ensure performance of the underlying
contract. Compl. at q 75; Exhibit A18. On January 27, 2000,
St. Paul sent a letter to San Lucas stating: “[ilt is our goal to
resolve the performance and payment issues in the most cost

effective manner. We would really appreciate your assistance
and input in this process.” Exhibit A19.

*3 San Lucas's subsequent request for an appeal through the
administrative process within the PHA was denied. Compl. at

49 76-77; Exhibit A20.

Within this context. San Lucas filed its Complaint against
PHA, St. Paul and Bob Kahan, setting forth counts for
wrongful termination against PHA, tortious interference with
contract against both St. Paul and Bob Kahan, as well as
claims for exemplary and punitive damages against both
St. Paul and Kahan. Compl. at 99 91-113. St. Paul filed
jts Answer with New Matter and Counterclaim, raising
the exculpatory clauses in the Indemnity Agreement as a
defense, along with a fraud claim. St. Paul's Answer at
115-143. San Lucas, in its Reply. asserted that St. Paul did
not act to “minimize any ultimate loss™ as provided in the
Indemnity Agreement but rather acted “recklessly, foolishly
and incomprehensibly™ in not investigating before acting and
taking over the Project. San Lucas's Reply at  117.
Thereafter, St. Paul filed this Motion for Judgment on
the Pleadings, contending that it is entitled to judgment
as a matier of law in light of the Indemnity Agreement's
“unambiguous exculpatory clauses™ and the absence of any
allegations which would constitute “deliberate and willful
malfeasance.” St. Paul's Motion at Y 18-22. In response,
San Lucas filed its Answer, asserting that the Indemnity
Agreement is a contract of adhesion which contains self-
serving exculpatory clauses that attempt to circumvent St.
Paul's legal duty to act in good faith, particularly with regard
to its duty to investigate all claims asserted by defendant
PHA. San Lucas's Answer at 99 18-22

For the reasons set forth, St. Paul's Motion is granted and San
Lucas's claims against St. Paul are dismissed.

DISCUSSION

The question presented is whether St. Paul's Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings should be granted because as
a matter of law the exculpatory clauses in the Indemnity
Agreement are valid and enforccable under the facts alleged
so as to absolve St. Paul of any liability. Concomitantly,
this court must consider whether the pleadings support
a conclusion that St. Paul engaged in deliberate and
wiliful maifeasance of (conduct which is excluded from
the exculpatory clauses and which would constitute tortious
interference with contract), when it demanded that PHA
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refrain from making additional payments on the contract

to San Lucas without St. Paul's express written consent.
This court holds that the exculpatory clauses are valid
and enforceable and St. Paul's actions, as alleged in the
pleadings, cannot reasonably constitute deliberate and willful
maifeasance ihat would oitherwise make it liable for tortious

interference with contract.

A. Legal Standard

Rule 1034 of the Pennsylvania Rules of Civil Procedure
[“Pa.R.C.P."] provides that “[a]fter the relevant pleadings
are closed, but within such time as not to unreasonably
delay the trial, any party may move for judgment on the
pleadings.” Pa.R.C.P. 1034(a). On a motion for judgment
on the pleadings, which s similar to a demurrer, the court
accepts as true all well-pleaded facts of the non-moving party.
but only those facts specifically admitted by the nonmovant
may be considered against him. Mellon Bank v. National
Union Ins. Company of Pitishurgh. 2001 WL 79985, at 2

(Pa.Super. Jan. 31, 2001). However, “neither party will be
Id. See also,

deemed to have admitted conclusions of law.”
Fiamer v. New Jersev Transit Corp., 414 Pa.Super. 350, 355,
607 A.2d 260, 262 (1992)(*While a trial court cannot accept
the conciusions of iaw of either party when ruling on a motion
for judgment on the pleadings, it is certainly free 1o reach
those same conclusions independently.™) (citations omitted).

*4 In ruling on a motion for judgment on the plcadings,
the court should confine itself to the pleadings, such as the
complaint, answer, reply to new matter and any documents or
exhibits properly attached to them. Kellv v. Nationwide Ins.
Co., 414 Pa.Super. 6, 10. 606 A.2d 470, 471 (1992). See aiso,
Kuotovosky v. Ski Liberty Operating Corp., 412 Pa.Super, 442.
445, 603 A.2d 663. 664 (1992). Such a motion may only be
granted in cases where no material facts are at issue and the
law is so clear that a trial would be a fruitless exercise. Ridge
v. State Employees Retirement Board. 690 A.2d 1312, 1314 n.
5 (Pa.Commw.Ct.1997) (citations omitted). “This may often
be the case when the dispute will turn on the ¢ cti
a written agreement.” Brown v. Cooke, 707 A.2d 231, 232
(Pa.Super.Ct.1998) (citations omitted).

=
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B. St. Paul's Motion Is Timely And Not Premature

San Lucas, in its opposition to the Motion, first argues that
it is premature since, at the time that St. Paul filed its
motion, it had not filed or served its Joinder Complaint against

Galo Gutierrez and Urkia Hernandez, 3 and these additional

defendants had not yet responded. San Lucas's Mem. of Law
in Opposition to St. Paul's Motion (“San Lucas's Mem. of
Law™), at 2. In support of this point. San Lucas relies upon
Sameric Corp. of Brookhaven v. Kober Co.. Inc.. 73 Pa. D.
& C.2d 437 (C.P.Phila.1975). which held that the motion

far nt on the nleadines was nremature where the

for judgment on the pleadings was
builder-defendant had joined owner and sureties as additional
defendants, but had inadvertently not filed the complaint and
service had not been made.

This court finds no merit in San Lucas's assertions in light
of the facts of this case. First, Pa.R.C.P. 1034(a) explicitly
allows for such a motion after the “relevant” pleadings
are closed. The relevant pleadings to the claims filed by
San Lucas, for which St. Paul seeks to be dismissed, are
San Lucas's Complaint, St. Paul's Answer, New Matter and
Counterclaim. and San Lucas's Reply to New Matter and
Counterclaim. The docket clearly reflects that these pleadings
had been filed prior to St. Paul's Motion for Judgment on
the Pleadings. Further, St. Paul's Motion to Join Additional
Defendants was filed before its present motion. In addition,
the Joinder Complaint has actuaily been filed and served,
and defendants Guticrrez and Hernandez have answered it.
Clearly, the relevant pleadings to the present motion before

losed.

,..,»
(=)

the court nd\c bee

Therefore, this court finds that St. Paul's motion was not
premature but was timely filed.

C. The Exculpatory Clauses In The Indemnity Agreement
Are Valid And Enforceable To Absolve St. Paul From
Liability And St. Paul's Actions As Admitted Cannot Be
Construed As Willful And Deliberate Malfeasance

St. Paul, in support of its Motion, contends that paragraphs
12 and 13 of the Indemnity Agreement clearly and
unambiguously exculpate it from liability for any conduct
short of deliberate and willful malfeasance. St. Paul's Mem.
of Law in Support of Its Motion (*St. Paul's Mem. of Law™),
at 9-10. In response, San Lucas argues that the exculpatory
clauses are not enforceable because the Indemnity Agreement
is a mere contract of adhesion, in which San Lucas had no
power to negotiate its terms. San Lucas's Mem. of Law, 6-7.
San Lucas also argues that the exculpatory clauses are void
against public policy. Alternatively, San Lucas urges that St.
Paul acted in bad faith in contravention of 42 Pa.C.S.A. §
8371 in failing to investigate PHA's determination of default

and termination of its contraci with San Lucas. 7d. at 7-8.
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*5  Generally, exculpatory clauses or contracts against

Tiahilite
1aocuity, whil

valid. Leidy v. Deseret Enterprises, Inc., 252 Pa.Super. 162,
167. 381 A.2d 164. 167 (1977). Our Supreme Court has
cstablished the following principles:

not favored at law,

faw, may nevertheless be

It is generally accepted that an
exculpatory clause is valid where
three conditions are met. First, the
clause must not coniravene public
policy. Secondly, the contract must be
between persons relating entirely to
their own private affairs and thirdly,
each party must be a free bargaining
agent to the agreement so that the
contract is not one of adhesion....

Topp Copy Producrs, Inc. v. Singletarv. 533 Pa. 468,471, 626
A.2d 98, 99 (1993 (citations omitted). In addition, even if an
exculpatory clause is determined to be valid, it must meet the
following standards:

(1) the contract language must be
construed strictly, since exculpatory
language is not favored by the
law; (2) the contract must state the
intention of the parties with the
greatest particularity, beyond doubt by
express stipulation, and no inference
from words of general import can
establish the intent of the parties; (3)
the language of the contract must

in cases of a 'h

cases QL amis

CT'
o
]
53
o
A
3
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©

against the parry seeking 1mmumty
from liability; and (4) the burden of
establishing the immunity is upon the
party invoking the protection under the
clause.

Id See also, Emplovers Liability Assurance Corp. v.
Greenville Business Men's Ass'n. 423 Pa. 288, 291-92. 224

A.2d 620, 623 (1966); Dilks v. Flohr Chevrolet, 411 Pa, 425,
434,192 A.2d 682, 687 (1963).

In Pennsylvania, an adhesion contract is defined as a
“standardized contract form offered to consumers of goods
and services on [an] essentially ‘take it or leave it’ basis
without affording [the] consumer a realistic opportunity to
bargain and under such conditions that [the] consumer cannot
obtain [the] desired product or services except by acquiescing

[to the] form contract.™ Todd Heller, Inc. v. United Parcel
754 A.2d 689, 699-700 (Pa.Super.Ct.2000)
(citations omitted). “The fundamental nature of this type
of contract is such that the consumer who is presented
with it has no choice but to either accept the terms of

Service, Inc.,

UIC UULUI]ICIIL
entirely.” /d. at 700. Nonetheless, “merely because a contract
is a contract of adhesion does not automatically render it
unconscionable and unenforceable.” Id. Rather, the issue of
whether a contract or clause is unconscionable is a question
of law for the court. /d. For a contractual provision to be
deemed unconscionable, the court must determine both “that
the contractual terms are unreasonably favorable to the drafter
and that there is no meaningful choice on the part of the other
party regarding acceptance of the provisions.” /d. In addition,
since insurance contracts are frequently viewed as adhesion
contracts, Pennsylvania courts strictly construc exclusionary
provisions and exceptions to the insurer's general liability
under the policy. See Treasure Craft Jewelers v. Jefferson
Ins. Co. of\ew York. 583 I.2d 650, 633 (3d Cir.1978)(citing

as they are written or reject the tran tion

*6 In support of its argument that the Indemnity Agreement
is a contract of adhesion, San Lucas asserts that as “a small
family construction comparny, [itj is poweriess o negotiate
the documents demanded by [ ] St. Paul, the world's largest
surety company.” However, San Lucas fails to allege that
it could not deal with another surety company or that it
had not benefitted from the contract relations which existed
between itself and St. Paul. Further, as admitted, San Lucas
and St. Paul are both business entities which entered into
the Indemnity Agreement as a condition precedent to St.
Paul's issuance of a performance bond and a materialmen's
bond on the Project. See Compl. at Y 1-2; St. Paul's

Answer at 99 115-116 and San Lucas's Reply at §{ 115-116.
Therefore, this court doubts San Lucas's assertion that the
Indemnity Agreement constitutes a contract of adhesion and
this court is not bound to accept mere legal conclusions. See
Phillippe v. J.H{. Rhoads. 233 Pa.Super. 303, 506-07. 336
A.2d 374, 376-77 (1975 Xholding that indemnity clause
not contravene public policy and appellants do not allege that
they could not deal with another business for installing the
fixtures and equipment necessary for selling gasoline). C.f,
Leidv, 252 Pa.Super. at 172. 381 A.2d at 170 (holding that
reply to new matter specifically denying the validity of the
exculpatory clause precluded the entry of judgment on the

pleadings).
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Even assuming arguendo that the Indemnity Agreement is

auses may still be

on contract, the exculnat, ory cla
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valid and enforceable but must be strictly construed against
St. Paul, as the drafter. See Todd Heller, 734 A.2d at 700;
Phillippe, 233 Pa.Super. at 507. 336 A.2d at 376 (stating

~an agreemeni or insirument which reduces legal rights
which would otherwise exist is strictly construed against
the party asserting it and must spell out with the utmost
particularity the intention of the parties.”) (citation omitted).
Despite San Lucas's arguments, this court does not find that
the language in the Indemnity Agreement is ambiguous,
nor is it unconscionable. See Turhifl v. Twihill, 763 A.2d
417, 420 (Pa.Super.Ct.2000)noting that the fact that parties
have different interpretations of a contract does not render it
ambiguous. but a contract will be found to be ambiguous only
if it is fairly susceptible of different constructions and capable
of being understood in more than one sense).

Paragraph 12 of the Indemnity Agreement provides the
following, in pertinent part:

12. In the event the Contractor
shall breach, or default in or delay

the performance of, any Bonded

Contract. or {ail pro
UL AV, UL 1Al yl

all obligations which might be
claimable under any Bond executed in
connection therewith or which might
give rise to a lien or charge upon
any unpaid contract balance or the
property of an Obligee named in any
such Bond, or in the event of any
breach of the terms of this instrument,
the undersigned, and each of them,
hereby assign and set over unto the
Surety, as of thc date hereof, their
right, title and intcrest in and to:
(a) All of the deferred pavments and
retained percentages, and all moneys
and properties that may be, and that
thereafter may become, payable to
the Contractor on account of, and
all claims and actions and causes of
i ting o, such contract, or on
account of or relating to extra work
or materials supplied in connection
therewith, as well as all other moneys
or properties of the Contractor, hereby
agreeing that such money and the
proceeds of such pavments, properties,

claims, actions and causes of action
shall be the sole properiy of the
Surety to be by it credited upon any
sum due or to become due it under

the terms of this instrument. ... In

addition, in any such ¢ven
the Surety, at its option al
discretion, may take possession of all
or any part of the work under any
or all Bonded Contracts, and at the
expense of the Undersigned complete,
or cause the completion of, such work,

or re-let, or consent to the re-letting

nd in its sole

or completion thereof: and in such
event, may invite the Obligees. and
the Obligees are authorized, to declare
the Contractor in default under such
contracts, any provisions thereofto the
contrary notwithstanding. Neither the
Surety nor the Obligees shall incur any

any of the Undersioned in
ny of lhe Undersighed in

liability to a
the exercise of the rights granted by
this Section 12, except for deliberate

and willful malfeasance.

*7 Exhibit B3 at § 12 (emphasis added). The Indemnity
Agreement also expressly stated:

If it becomes nccessary or advisable
in the judgment of the Surety to
control, administer, operate or manage
any or all matters connected with
performance of
Contract for the purpose of attempting
to minimize any ultimate loss to
the

of discharging

the any Bonded

Surety, or for the purpose
its obligations of
suretyship, the Undersigned hereby
expressly covenant and agree that
such action on the part of the Surety
shall be entirely within its rights
and remedies under the terms of this
instrument and as Surety, and do
hereby fully release and discharge
the Suretv, in this connection, from
liability for all actions taken by it or
for its omissions to act, except for
dolib,

oy tp An
Gl L
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Id at § 13 (emphasis added). This language, on its face,
clearly and unambiguously releases St. Paul from liability for
discharging its obligations of suretyship under any bonded
contract and taking over the contract's completion or the
contract's monies in the event that San Lucas breaches its
contract or fails to promptly discharge its obligations. An
important caveat to these clauses, and their enforceability,
js that St. Paul may not act with deliberate and willful

malfeasance in protecting its ultimate i

Alternatively, San Lucas asserts that the exculpatory clauses
are unenforceable as void against public policy since St. Paul
is a governmentally regulated surety. San Lucas's Mem. of
Law, at 7. San Lucas relies upon Rempel v. Nationwide Life
Ins. Co. Inc., 227 Pa.Super. 87.93.323 A.2d 193. 196 (1974),
which stated that “a clause in an insurance contract which
seeks to exculpate the insurer for torts committed by its agent
while acting within the scope of his employment is void as
against public policy.” Despite its reliance on Rempel, San
Lucas fails to cite a case which stands for the proposition
that a surety's indemnity agreement rendered in conjunction
with a performance bond is void against public policy. Rather,
courts have found indemnity agreements to be contrary to

ces: {1 \ in the emnlover-
Ce H empioy<er

public policy
employee relatmmhlp, (2) in situations where onc party is
charged with the duty of a public service; (3) in agreements
which attempt to exculpate one from liability for the violation
of a statute or regulation designed to protect human life;
and (4) in the limitations of consequential damages for
personal injury in the case of consumer goods. See Leidy, 252
Pa.Super. at 168-69, 381 A .2d at 167-68 (cases and examples
cited therein). This court does not agree that the exculpatory
clauses in the present instance can be held void against public
policy since St. Paul would still be held liable if its actions
constituted will{ul and deliberate malfeasance.

Finally, San Lucas argues that St. Paul acted in bad faith
8371, and that St. Paul's
conduct renders the exculpatory clauses inapplicable. First,
no bad faith claim is presently before this court since San

in contravention of 42 Pa.C.S.A. §

Lucas did not include any bad faith claim in its Complaint. 4
This court is also not convinced that San Lucas could assert
such a claim against St. Paul under the circumstances.

*8 The facts admitted by San Lucas demonstrate that it
had failed to promptly pay its subcontractors and couid
possibly be in default under the construction contract with

PHA,5 which permits St. Paul to act in accordance with

the Indemnity Agreement in order to minimize its liability
as surety. For example, San Lucas specifically admitted that
$242,000 was due on subcontractors' claims. Compl. at § 61.
The construction contract with PHA required San Lucas to
make prompt payment to all its subcontractors. See Exhibit
A1, art. 4. San Lucas also admitted that it was ncgotiating with
PHA to ask PHA to reduce its retainage so that San Lucas
could immediately pay its subcontractors and to ask PHA to
extend the time on its contract. /d. at q 63. Paragraph 12 of
the Indemnity Agreement clearly authorized St. Paul to take
over control of the construction work and the contract monics
in the event that San Lucas failed promptly to discharge
its obligations which might be claimable under any bond.
Exhibit B3 at 9 12. San Lucas implicitly, if not explicitly,
admitted to its failure to pay its subcontractors in a timely
manner.

Further, San Lucas's own allegations, which may be deemed
admissions, contradict themselves. On the one hand, San

Lucas alleged that St. Paul agreed to refrain from interfering
;3tlh Con T nionc'la n nan'nr\ wil 1ith PHA ann] at®9 A4 On

with San Lucas's negotiations with PHA. Compl. at 964, On
the other hand, San Lucas admitted that it had “agreed with St.
Paul to enter into a joint check agreement with St. Paul so that
all funds from PHA could be monitored and directed by St.
Paul.” /d. at  62. In addition, San Lucas admitied that St. Paul
issued letters to PHA and San Lucas. demanding payment of
all contract funds directly to St. Paul. /d at | 65. St. Paul's
letter of December 21, 1999 to San Lucas explicitly stated
that “we have demandcd that the [PHA] refrain from paying
out any portion of the remaining contract balance without
the express written consent of [St. Paul.].” Exhibit A10. St.
Paul's letter to the PHA stated that “claim is hereby made for
payment to the surety of the entire amount of the contract
funds remaining in the custody of the [PHA] ...". Id. Under
these circumstances, this court finds no reason to hold that the
exculpatory clauses in the Indemnity Agreement are invalid

or unconscionable.

Moreover, this court does not find that St. Paul's actions as

allagad 2iA +itnta dalilk + A 11651
au€ged Coud COMNSUUIC Geiiotraid and wWinil malfeasance

r tortious interference with the San Lucas-PHA contract.
The only allegations of St. Paul's alleged malfeasance are
that St. Paul, on December 21, 1999. made demand upon
PHA for the remaining contract funds and to refrain from
paying San Lucas out of the retainage, even though St. Paul
had previously agreed to refrain from interfering with San
Lucas's negotiations with the PHA. Compl. at §{ 64-65.
Nonetheless, San Lucas had agreed that all funds from the
PHA could be monitored and directed by St. Paul. /d at
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62. Thereafter, St. Paul, along with the PHA. had refused
to meet with San Lucas, despite San Lucas's requests. /4. at
9 73. Approximately one month after St. Paul's demand on
the PIIA, the PHA terminated its contract with San Lucas
even though San Lucas had completed in excess of 82%
of the coniract. Id at § 78. Following this termination,
which San Lucas asserts was wrongful, correspondence
passed between San Lucas and St. Paul regarding the costs
to complete the contract and San Lucas's rcasons for the
extensive delays on the Project. /d. at Y9 82-88. San Lucas
also asserts in a conclusory manner that St. Paul is obligated
10 conduct an investigation of PHA's wrongful termination
before taking action and that St. Paul intentionally and/or
tortiously interfered with San Lucas's contractual relationship
with the PHA. /d. at 1§ 89, 99. In addition, without providing
an adequate factual basis, San Lucas alleges that “[t]he
intentional and/or tortuous acts and conduct of St. Paul are
incomprehensible, outrageous and reflect an evil motive and
a reckless disregard of the rights of San Lucas.” /d. at §
103. However, this court is not bound to accept mere legal

conclusions. See AMellon Bank, 2001 WL 799385, at *2.
Rather, Pennsylvania is a fact pleading state, which requires
that the pleader define the issues, apprise the defendant of an
asserted claim, and set forth all material and essential facts
to support that claim. Miketic v. Baron. 450 Pa.Super. 91,
104-05.673 A.2d 324, 330-31 (1996 }(holding that defendants
were properly granted judgment on the pleadings in their
favor where plaintiff failed to provide factual bases to
establish abuse of privilege in a defamation action). See
Pa.R.C.P. 1019. Here, San Lucas failed to allege sufficient
facts that would demonstrate that St. Paul was not justified in
acting as it did.

*9 While it may be true that St. Paul interfered with
San Lucas's contractual relationship with PHA and with

..... a2

San i.ucas's negotiations with PHA, the real question of St.
Paul's liability depends upon whether St. Paul's actions were
improper. St. Paul, as surety, had a right to protect reasonably
its own liability and act in accordance with paragraphs 12
and 13 of the Indemnity Agreement. Section 773 of the
Restatement (Second) of Torts provides that:

One who, by asserting in good faith
a legaily protected interest of his own
or threatening in good faith to protect
the interest by appropriate means.
intentionally causes a third person not
to perform an existing contract or

enter into a prospective contractual

relation with another does not interfere
improperly with the other's relation if
the actor believes that his interest may
otherwise be impaired or destroyed
by the performance of the contract or

Id Pennsylvania courts have routinely upheld this section.
See, e.g., Kelh-Springfield Tire Co. v. D'dmbro, 408

Pa .Super. 301, 311. 396 A.2d 867, 872 (1991); Gresh v.
Potter McCune Co., 235 Pa.Super. 537, 541, 344 A.2d 340,

542 (1975); Bahleda v.. Hankison Corp.. 228 Pa.Super. 133.
156-37, 323 A.2d 121, 123 (1974); Ramondo v. Pure Oil Co.,
139 Pa.Super. 217, 224. 48 A.2d 156. 160 (1946). Under the
clear exculpatory provisions of the Indemnity Agreement, St.
Paul was authorized to take over the Project's monies or its
completion in the event that San Lucas failed to pay promptly
its obligations or was in default of its contract with the PHA.
Exhibit B3 at 4 12-13. Both conditions existed even though
San Lucas had failed to pay its subcontractors. It owed them
$242.000, even though the San Lucas-PHA contract required
San Lucas to pay its subcontractors. Compl. at § 61; Exhibit
Al, art. 4. Under the circumstances, St. Paul did not act
improperly in taking over control of the contract proceeds and
San Lucas has stated no facts which would establish that St.
Paul acted with deliberate or willful malfeasance.

Even accepiing ali of
most favorable to San Lucas, this court finds that St.
Paul's actions cannot reasonably be construed as willful and
deliberate malfeasance. This court finds that the exculpatory
clauses in the Indemnity Agreement are valid and enforceable
and St. Paul's actions cannot be construed as willful and
deliberate malfeasance which would make it liable for
tortious interference with the San Lucas-PHA contract.

Qs RN PR | DI Ty NN . N
San Lucas's allegations in the lignt

CONCLUSION
For the reasons stated. this court grants St. Paul's Motion for
Judgment on the Pleadings and dismisses San Lucas's claims

for tortious interference and punitive damagt:s6 against St.
Paul, only. A contemporaneous Order consistent with this

QOpinion will be entered of record.

PRl Ve T

ORDER
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it is hereby ORDERED that the Motion is Granted and San

AND NOW, this 14th day of March 2001, upon consideration
Lucas's claims against St. Paul, only, are hereby dismissed.

of defendant, St. Paul Mercury Insurance Company, d/b/a
The St. Paul Surety ("St.Paul)'s Motion for Judgment on
the Pleadings (*“Motion™), plaintiff, San Lucas Contruction
Co.. Inc. (“San Lucas”)'s opposition to it, the respective
memoranda, all other matters of record, and in accord with Not Reported in A.2d, 2001 WL 1807786
the Opinion being contemporaneously filed with this Order,

Al Citations

Footnotes

1 After execution of the Indemnity Agreement, on October, 16, 1997, St. Paul issued a performance bond on the Project
for the benefit of PHA, as well as a materialmen's (payment) bond. St. Paul's Answer at 1 119-120; Exhibits B1 & B2.

2 For purposes of convenience, “Exhibits” in this Opinion shall be understood as those exhibits attached to St. Paul's

Leom Al dm

Motion. Further, Exhibit “A# * refers to exhibits attached to the Compiaint and Exhibit "B # " refers to exhibits attached to
St. Paul's Answer. San Lucas's Reply was attached at Exhibit “C”.
3 Galo Gutierrez is the President of San Lucas and Urkia Hernandez is its Secretary, as evidenced by their signatures on
the PHA-San Lucas Contract. See Exhibit A1.
San Lucas did aliege that “St. Paui is subject to the implied-in-law duty to act fairty and in good faith in order not ¢
Plaintiff of the benefits of the San Lucas PHA Contract and the related bonds obtained from St. Paul.” Compl. at §] 98.
Despite this allegation, this court does not find that San Lucas has stated a cause of action under 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 8371,

which normally involves the mishandling of claims or denial of coverage or benefits. See Brickman v. CGU ins. Co., July

PN

20060, No. 808, slip op. at 18 {Jan. 8, 2001 }{Herron, J.).

5 This court does not now make a determination as to whether San Lucas's default was material or whether San Lucas
had a legitimate defense for its actions. Rather, the court must confine itself to whether the pleadings show that St. Paul's
actions were justified under the circumstances.

b i mba 4+ £
i |uluc|ual|’ a requesticr pumtw% damages cannot stand as

an endent cause of action. Holl & Associates, P.C. v.
1515 Market Street Associates, P.C., May 2000, No.1964, slip op. at 5 (Aug. 10, 2000) (Herron, J.).
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Decided March 11, 2015.

BEFORE: HONORABLE DAN PELLEGRINI, President
Judge, and HONORABLE ROBERT SIMPSON, Judge, and
HONORABLE ROCHELLE S. FRIEDMAN, Senior Judge.

MEMORANDUM OPINION
PELLEGRINI, President Judge.

*]1 Robert D. Heckman (Heckman) appeals the order
of the Schuylkill County Court of Common Pleas (trial
court) granting the summary judgment motion of William
Sanchez (Sanchez) and Rush Township (Township) Board
of Supervisors (Township Board) and dismissing Heckman's
complaint with prejudice. We affirm.

On June 25, 2007, the Township Board voted to terminate
Heckman's employment as a CDL Driver and Laborer for
the Tovmshlp On June 25 2009. Heckman mmated a civil

Sanchez, by filing a Praecipe for a Writ of Summens.* In
February 2010, Heckman filed a Praecipe to Reinstate the
Writ of Summons and the Township was served with the writ

by the Schuylkill County Sheriff in March 2010. In March

2011. the Township moved to dismiss for lack of prosecution
which was denied by the trial court in May 2011.

In August 2011, Heckman filed a Complaint to bring an
action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (Section 1983) by claiming

ot thha avam s i A e d &
that the events surrounaing his uiSCh"‘u"gC have

him and have *“caused him to be the object of scom and
ridicule,” “thereby violating [his] liberty interest in his good
name in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the
United States Constitution.” (Reproduced Record (RR) at
b7). In September 2011, the Township filed Preliminary
Objections seeking to dismiss the Complaint for lack of
1331 (Section

ctiagmatizad™
Dllslllullbbu

subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §

2 . -
1331)“ that the trial court overruled, noting that state courts
have concurrent jurisdiction over Section 1983 actions. In
March 2012, Sanchez and the Township Board filed an
Answer with New Matier ~ alleging, infer alfia. that the claim
raised in Heckman's Complaint is barred because it was not

brought within the two-year statute of limitations. 4

After discovery was completed, the Township Board filed a
Motion for Summary Judgment alleging, inter afia, that the
Section 1983 action is time-barred because Heckman did not
make a good faith atlempt to effectuate service of the Writ of
Summons within 30 days of its issuance which was needed
to toll the running of the statute and to preserve the cause of
action within the two-year period. On the merits, Sanchez and
the T(‘anblllp Board alleged that the matter m
because: Heckman failed to request a name-clearing hearing:
there is no evidence that they published false and stigmatizing
comments about him or did so through implementing an
official policy, custom or practice; and Sanchez has qualificd
immunity from liability because his actions were limited to
voting for Heckman's discharge.

[EPPE NP LIS Py |
UdL DC UIDIIINdOU

In January 2014, Heckman filed a Motion to Amend
Complaint to add an additional Section 1983 count based
on a violation of his Fourteenth Amendment procedural
due process rights and a claim under Section 510 of
the Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
(ERISA), 29 U.S.C. § 1140 (Section 510), because he

was terminated to prevent him from vesting and obtaining
s owed him under an ERISA

retirement plan. 3 (RR at c6—<9, cl11—<12). At argument on
the Motion for Summary Judgment, Heckman withdrew the
Section 510 ERISA claim. (SRR at 55b).

retirement and severance benefits
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*2  The trial court granted the Motion for Summary
with

i eoexmat

Judgment and dismissed Heckman's Complaint
prejudice, finding that it was without jurisdiction due to
the running of the applicable two-year statute of limitations
because Heckman failed to make a good-faith effort to timely

17 v £Q e

serve the rrdcclpc for a Writ of Summons within ihe iw

/Q-year
limitations period. ' The trial court also denied his Motion to

Amend Complaint as moot because it was without jurisdiction
over the action.

On appt:al,7 Heckman claims that the trial court erred in
dismissing the Complaint because there was no inordinate
delay and he exercised reasonable efforts to effectuate service
so the two-year limitations period was tolled until service was

ultimately perfected nine months after it had run. $ He also

asserts that because leave to amend pleadings is to be liberally

granted, ? the trial court erred in denying his request to amend
the Complaint to add the Section 510 ERISA claim because
it has a four-year statute of limitations.

As noted above, Pa. R.C.P. No. 401(a) requires service
“within the Commonwealth within thirty days after the
issuance of the writ or the {iling of the complaint,” and Pa.
R.C.P. No. 401(b)1) provides that if service is not made
within the required time, “the prothonotary upon praecipe and
upon presentation of the original process, shall continue its
validity by reissuing the writ or reinstating the complaint....”
While there is no mechanical approach to be applied in
determining what constitutes a good-faith effort to serve
process, for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations, it
is a plaintiff's burden to demonstrate that his or her efforts
were reasonable. Englert v. Fuzio Mechanical Services. Inc.,
932 A.2d 122,125 (Pa.Super.), appeal denied, 938 A.2d 1053
{Pa.2007) (citation omitted).

In Lamp v. Hevman, 366 A.2d 882, 889 (Pa.1976), the
Supreme Court held that *a writ of summons shall remain
effective to commence an action only if the plaintiff then
refrains from
its tracks the legal machinery he has just set in motion.” As
a result, “Lamp requires of plaintiffs a good faith effort 1o

effectuate notice of commencement of the action.” Farinucci

£ A ,
a course of conduct which services to stall in

v. Beaver County Industrial Development Awthoriry, 5ii
A.2d 757, 759 (Pa.1986).

As this Court has recently explained:

[Iln Lamp, our Supreme Court ... require[d] a plaintiff
to promptly serve the complaint [and] not to prevent or

delay service. The Supreme Court stated that failure to
promptly notify the defendants results in nullification of
the commencement of the action. Lamp.[ 1366 A.2d at
889; see also Farinacci {, 511 A.2d at 759] (requiring
plaintiff to make “a good-faith effort to effectuate notice

amn A + ~f th a4y My | SO !
of commencement of the action™); Moses [. 725 A2d

at 797] (finding a plaintiff's failure to make a good-
faith effort to serve the defendant will nullify both the
commencement of the action and the tolling of the statute
of limitations). Therefore, in order 1o toii the statute of
limitations, the plaintiff must make a good-faith effort to
serve the complaint in a timely manner. Devine v. Hutt, 863
A.2d 1160, 1167-68 (Pa.Super .2004); see also Miller |,
871 A.2d at 336] (holding that a “single attempt to serve ...
did not constitute a good faith effort™).

*3 Daniel, 86 A.3d at 957. 0

The record in this case shows that Heckman made no attempt
to serve the first writ on Sanchez or the Township Board of

the commencement of the action within the 30—day period

required by Pa. R.C.P. No. 401(a) or within the two-year
statute of limitations that expired in June 2009. Heckman only
made a single attempt to serve Sanchez and the Township
Board with the writ after it was reissued under Pa. R.C.P. No.
401(b)(1) in March 2010, nine months after the limitations
period had expired. Even though the Writ of Summons was
filed within the limitations period, Heckman's failure to make
a good-faith effort to serve Sanchez and the Township Board
with the writ did not toll the statute of limitations and the
trial court did not err in granting summary judgment and

dismissing the Complaint with prejudice on that basis. 1

Likewise, the trial court did not err in denying Heckman's
Motion to Amend Complaint to add the Section 510 ERISA

v thic canee nf actin
Vil avuivl

Alaieme bhasa, Hanl-
ause Heckman withdrew this cause

viann voual
hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment. Moreover, as
outlined above, the Section 510 ERISA claim had the same
two-year statute of limitations as his Section 1983 claims.
Grosso, and Heckman sought leave to amend the Complaint
after the limitations period had expired in June 2009. “*[A]n
amendment to the pleadings introducing a new cause of action
will not be permitted after the statute of limitations has run in
favor of [the] defendant.” M. R Mikkilineni v. 4mwest Surety
Insurance Co., 919 A.2d 306. 313 (Pa.Cmwlth.), appeal
denied, 932 A.2d 1290 (Pa.2007) (citation omitted).

Accordingly, the trial court's order is affirmed.
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ORDER
All Citations

AND NOW. this /Ith day of March, 2015, the order of the
Schuylkill County Court of Common Pleas dated June 20, Reported in A.3d, 2015 WL 5314523
2014, at No. S-1751-2009, is affirmed.

Footnotes

1

6

Pa. R.C.P. No. 1007 states that “[a]n action may be commenced by filing with the prothonotary (1) a praecipe for a
writ of summons, or (2) a complaint.” Pa. R.C.P. No. 401(a) states that “[o]riginal process shall be served within the
Commonwealth within thirty days after the issuance of the writ or the filing of the complaint.” Pa. R.C.P. No. 401(b)(1)
states that “[i]f service within the Commonwealth is hot made within the time prescribed by subdivision (a) of this rule ...,
the prothonotary upon praecipe and upon presentation of the original process, shall continue its validity by reissuing the
writ or reinstating the complaint....”
Section 1331 states that “[t]he district courts shall have original jurisdiction of all civil actions arising under the Constitution,
laws, or treaties of the United States.”
This Court has noted:
Pa. R.C.P. No. 1030(a) provides that “all affirmative defenses including ... statute of limitations ... shall be pleaded
in a responsive pleading under the heading of ‘New Matter.” A statute of limitations defense must “be raised as an
affirmative defense by filing new matter and not as a preliminary objection.” Thus, the City properly raised its statute
of limitations defense in its new matter.
Daniel v. City of Philadelphia, 86 A.3d 955, 958 (Pa.Cmwilth.2014) (citation omitted).
“With respect to claims pursuant to [Section] 1883, the Supreme Court has concluded that such claims are best
characterized as personal injury actions for purposes of state statutes of limitations. Wilson v. Garcia, 471 U.S. 261
(1985). As such, claims which are brought pursuant to [Section] 1983 are also subject to a two-year statute of limitations
in Pennsylvania. See 42 Pa.C.S. § 5524.” Burger v. Borough of Ingram, 697 A.2d 1037, 1041 (Pa.Cmwith.1997).
As explained by a federal District Court:
The statute of limitations for claims under [Section] 510 of ERISA “is determined by reference to the state statute
of limitations governing cases most analogous to the cause of action asserted by the plaintiffs.” In Anderson v.
Consolidated Rail Corp., 297 F.3d 242, 252 (3d Cir.2002), the Third Circuit applied a two-year statute of limitations to
a [Section] 510 claim on the ground that the claim was “most analogous to a wrongful discharge™ under Pennsylvania
law. In Anderson and in this case, “the ‘gravamen’ of the alleged violation is that the plaintifff ] (was] singled out for
adverse treatment’ so as to prevent [him] from receiving retirement-related benefits.’ “ Thus, the two-year statute of
limitations applied in Anderson governs plaintiff's [Section] 510 claim.
Grosso v. Federal Express Corporation, 467 F.Supp.2d 449, 457 n. 5 (E.D.Pa.2006) (citations omitted).
The trial court found:
The original writ was issued to Heckman on June 25, 2009. The record is devoid of activity until February 25, 2010,
eight months later, when Heckman had the writ reissued.... Heckman asked the sheriff to serve the writ on March
18, 2010, some nine months after the original writ was issued. The writ was served on the [Township Board] on
March 25, 2010 and on [ ] Sanchez on March 26, 2010. The Complaint containing the cause of action against the
Defendants was not filed until August 25, 2011, after the Prothonotary praeciped Heckman to file a complaint.
[ JThe Complaint alleges that Heckman was fired on June 25, 2007. Heckman argues that there was no inordinate
delay in this case and that [he] “certainly exercised reasonabie efforis to complete service on his complaint].]"
Heckman does not state what those efforts were, and the docket reflects a complete lack of activity for eight months
after filing the initial writ. It strains belief to imagine that Heckman made any reasonable effort to serve the Defendants,
one of whom is the Board of a local municipality with its offices within Schuylkill County. Rather, it appears that
Heckman believed that by filing the writ, and then reinstating it eight months later, he preserved his action and the
statute of limitations would toll, regardiess of lack of service. Unfortunately for Heckman, the record is devoid of
any evidence of a good faith effort to serve the writ until March 18, 2010, long after the statute of limitations had
run on his action.
(RR at 16—f7). The trial court properiy relied on the docket entries and was not required to conduct an evidentiary hearing
because Heckman never requested one, and he has never alleged that he attempted or served the initial writ within
30 days of its issuance or within the limitations period or that Sanchez or the Township Board had actual knowledge
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of its existence. Miller v. Klink, 871 A.2d 331, 335-36 (Pa.Cmwith.2005); Moses v. T.N.T. Red Star Express, 725 A.2d

792, 797 (Pa Super.), appeal denied, 739 A.2d 1058 (Pa.1889).
When reviewing the trial court's order granting summary judgment, this Court's scope of review is limited to determining
whether the trial court committed an emor of law or an abuse of its discretion. Dwight v. Girard Medical Center, 623
A.2d 913 (Pa.Cmwlth.1993). Summary judgment may be granted only in the clearest of cases and is appropriate only
where there are no genuine issues of material fact and the movant clearly establishes that it is entitied to judgment as
a matter of law. Id.
As a corollary to this claim, Heckman argues that the trial court's denial of Sanchez's and the Township Board's Motion
to Dismiss for lack of prosecution somehow translates into a determination that he made a good-faith effort to serve them
with the writ. To the contrary, the trial court made no such determination and denied the motion in a four-line order, (SRR
at 3b), and Heckman does not allege or demonstrate what good-faith effort was made after the writ was initially issued
in June 2009 and within the two-year statute of limitations or that Sanchez or the Township Board had any notice of the
commencement of the action before March 2010 when they were served with the reissued writ.
See Pa. R.C.P. No. 1033 (“A party ... by leave of court, may at any time change the form of action ... or amend his
pleading....”).
See also Watts v. Owens—-Corning Fiberglass Corp., 509 A.2d 1268, 1270-71 (Pa.Super.1986), appeal denied, 522
A.2d 559 (Pa.1987) (holding that the statute of limitations was not tolled where the plaintiff did not deliver the writ to
the sheriff for service within 30 days of its issuance, even though the plaintiff's inaction was not due to bad faith or an
overt attempt to delay and the defendants did not allege any prejudice caused by the delay). But c¢f. McCreesh v. City
of Philadelphia, 888 A 2d 664, 674 (Pa.2005) (holding that a plaintiff satisfies his or her obligation to make a good-faith
effort to give notice of the commencement of an action when the defendant has actual notice of its commencement and
is not otherwise prejudiced).
See Daniel, 86 A.3d at 957 (“Daniel validly commenced her action when she filed her complaint on May 22, 2012, just
within the two-year limit. However, Daniel concedes that she did not attempt to serve this complaint on the City. As such,
Daniel failed to toll the statute of limitations. Daniel reinstated the complaint on January 29, 2013, after the statute of
limitations had expired.”) (citation to record omitted).

£nd of Document Z: 2016 Thomson Reuters. No clalm o oniginal U8, Government Works.
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Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

THIS IS AN UNREPORTED PANEL DECISION
OF THE COMMONWEALTH COURT. AS SUCH,
IT MAY BE CITED FOR ITS PERSUASIVE
VALUE, BUT NOT AS BINDING PRECEDENT.
SEE SECTION 414 OF THE COMMONWEALTH

COURT'S INTERNAL OPERATING PROCEDURES.
Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania.

Aaron SLOAN, Appelilant
V.
Brian COLEMAN, R. Workman, Stephen
Buzas, Jane Doe, Officer Hawkinberry, Officer
Bogucki, Officer Zueger, Officer Anderson, C.A.
Yauger, J.B. Skrobacz and Officer Prescott.
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Reconsideration Denied July 23, 2015.

BEFORE: BONNIE BRIGANCE LEADBETTER, Judge,
and PATRICIA A. McCULLOUGH, Judge, and JAMES
GARDNER COLINS, Senior Judge.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

JAMES GARDNER COLINS, Senior Judge.
*1 Aaron Sloan (Plaintiff). pro se, appeals the February 21,
2014 order of the Fayette County Court of Common Pleas

nnnnnnnnn o tha Drali Ohiections of Supert

aual.auuub uic 1lvumlnar_‘y VUojeCuons o1 Supdr tendent

Brian Coleman. Unit Manager Stephen Buzas, Captain
Richard Workman and Corrections Officers Joseph Skrobacz,
Chad Yauger, John Anderson, and James Zueger (collectively
Defendants), and dismissing Plaintiffs June 24, 2013
complaint on the grounds that: (i) the statute of limitations has
run and (ii) the Defendants are entitled to sovereign immunity
as employees of the Pennsylvania Department of Corrections
(DOC) at State Correctional Institution (SCI}—Fayette. We

affirm.

Our review of a trial court's order sustaining preliminary
objcctions in the nature of a demurrer is limited to
determining whether “the trial court abused its discretion or
committed an error of law.” Sclwier v. Kissleback. 879 A.2d

Tele DANEY Tam cmcrdieczrion: I TN I,
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Preliminary objections in the nature
of a demurrer ar
all well-pleaded material facts and
any inferences reasonably deduced
therefrom, but not the complaint's
legal conclusions and averments. The
allcgations of a pro se complainant
are held to a less stringent standard
than that applied to pleadings filed
by attornecys. If a fair reading of the
complaint shows that the complainant
has plcaded facts that may entitle him
to relief, the preliminary objections
will be overruled. A demurrer should
be sustained only in cases that are
clear and free from doubt and only

where it apnears with certainny that
Wnere 1t appears wnin cenamty

the law permits no recovery under the
allegations pleaded.

,) ]’]1’Ql’l '\
263 (Pa.Cmwith.2004) (citations omitted).

Department nr Corrections, 845 A.2d 260, 262—

Plaintiff alleges in his complaint that on April 26, 2012, May
19, 2012, and June 21, 2012, his personal property was in the
possession of Defendants, Defendants knew the property was

Plaintiff's. and Defendants refused to return, repair or replace
any of his property and instead disposed of it in the garbage.
(Complaint 99 66—67.) Plaintiff identifies the property at issue

and its value. (/d 9 65.)

Plaintiffs complaint sets forth the following factual
averments. Plaintiff is an inmate at SCI-Fayette. (/d § 3.)
On April 22, 2012, Plaintiff was informed he was being
transferred to SCI-Fayette from SCI-Somerset. (/d. § 37.)
During preparation for transfer to SCI-Fayette, Plaintiff's
property was inventoried at SCI-Somerset; it was determined
that Plaintiff's property filled six (6) boxes, that two (2) boxes
would travel with him to SCI-Fayette, and that four (4) boxes

...... 14 LA QT I4d 4 2Q 0
wuulu ve )ulppcu bClJal aLuy tU L)L»l"l a) CI.I.C \lu I 290 &

99 3940 (describing contents of the 6 boxes).) On April
26, 2012, Plaintiff arrived at SCI-Fayette with the two (2)
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boxes and a paper bag containing additional property. (/d.

42.) Plaintiff was taken to the property room at SCl-Fayette
for an inventory of his property, at which point Plaintiff
discovered some of his property was missing and/or damaged.
(Id 99 42-43.) Plaintiff refused to sign a form stating “all
property accounted for” and requested to speak with the Unit
Manager about his property as well as the missing forms that
documented his property, which had been completed at SCI—

Somerset prior to his transfer. (/d. 1] 45-47.)

*2 Plaintiff further alleges that on May 18, 2012, Plaintiff's
remaining four (4) boxes arrived at SCI-Fayette and on May
19, 2012, he was taken to the property room to inventory
his property. (/d. § 48.) Plaintiff discovered that a substantial
amount of his property was missing and upon registering a
complaint, the property inventory form that had accompanied
his property was destroyed by Officer Yauger, and a new
inventory form was created by Officer Anderson. (/d. § 48—
50.) Plaintiff filed multiple grievances in an attempt to locate
or replace his property, which Defendants refused to assist

1 anAd mnraventad PPN T3 e e s pevy
L
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(Id, 99 51-53. 56.)

or
(E:

Plaintiff further alleges that on June 21, 2012, Plaintiff was
taken to the property storage room in order to exchange
legal materials and he discovered that his property still
was or had become missing. (/d § 54.) Plaintiff again
grieved the loss of his property and on September 18,
2012, one or more of the Defendants searched Plaintiff's
cell to determine if he was in possession of the missing
property. (Id 9§ 36.) Defendant Buzas accused Plaintiff of
fabricating his claims of lost property, threatened Plaintiff
in an attempt to make Plaintiff withdraw his grievance, and
left the property taken from Plaintiff's cell during the search
in the garbage. (Id ¥ 57.) Plaintiff further alleges that after
the September 18, 2012 search, Captain Workman provided
a review of Plaintiffs grievance, during which Officers
Y auger and Anderson provided false information and accused
Plaintiff of wrongdoing related to his property. (/d. 9§ 58—
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loss/destruction of and rcfusal to locate and return, replace &
fix Plaintiff's property.” (/d. Y 62.)

Plaintiff also alleges that the destruction of his property
prevented him from being able to access the courts in order to
file a claim for denial of his §th Amendment right to be free
from cruel and unusual punishment. (/d. 9 69.)

Plaintiff further alleges that upon becoming an inmate,
Plaintiff informed DOC officials that he is allergic to beans
and seafood. (/d § 13.) On February 19, 2009, Plaintiff was
temporarily transferred from SCI-Somerset to Erie County
Prison and his medical records were altered to indicate that
he did not suffer from food allergies. (/d. 1 20.) On npm
29. 2009, Plaintiff's medical records were again altered to
show that he had no food allergies, but that he was to receive
a diet that did not include beans and seafood. (/d. q 21.)
Plaintiff did not receive a diet without beans and scafood and
became ill, which included, among other symptoms, scvere
abdominal pain and rashes; DOC Burecau of Health Services
alleged that the diet was being followed and that Plaintifl
was only allergic to pinto beans. (/d. 1Y 22-23.) Plaintiff
began 1o research and to prepare a complaint in order to
bring a claim for denial of adequate medical care in violation
of the 8th Amendment guarantee against cruel and unusual
punishment secured by the United States Constitution. (/d.
25-26.) Plaintiff alleges that he was unable to file his claims
prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations because of

Nafon

Ada
veIenaan

*3 In response to Plaintiff's allegations in his complaint
concerning his property and his inability to access the courts,
Defendants filed preiiminary objections in the nature of
a demurrer. First, Defendants objected to Plaintiff's claim
that he was prevented from accessing the courts because
of Defendants' conduct on the grounds that his complaint
demonstrated that his access to the courts was prevented not
by Defendants’ conduct, but by the statute of limitations on his
underlying claim. Second. Defendants objected to Plaintiff's
claim that his property was destroved on the grounds that
his claim for conversion was barred by sovereign immunity.
The Trial Court agreed with Defendants and sustained their
preliminary objections.

Before this Court, Plaintiff argues that the Trial Court erred
by permitting Defendants to raise the affirmative defenses of
statute of limitations and sovereign immunity by preliminary

Dl 4366 that
Plaintiff argues that even if Defendants were

A

UUJC\.«UUU
permitted to raise the issue of statute of limitations by
preliminary objections, the statute had not run. Plaintiff also
argues that his access to courts claim falls under 42 US.C. §

1983 and therefore cannot be barred by state statute.

Plaintiff's access to courts claim is legally insufficient.
Prisoners have a fundamental constitutional right of access
to the courts and measures must be in place in correctional
settings to insure that this access is adequate, effective, and
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meaningful. Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817, 822, 97 S.CL
1401 821 F‘d 2472 (1()77\ In nrdprin hﬂno i 1
that access to the courts has been denied, an inmate must
allege an actual injury or “actual prejudice with respect to
contemplated or existing litigation, such as the inability to
mect a filing deadiine or present a claim.” Lewis v. Casey.
S181J.5.343.351-352. 358,116 S.Ct. 2174, 135 L.E4.2d 606
(1996). Plaintiff has failed to allege an actual injury because
the claim Plaintiff alleged he was prevented from bringing
by Defendants’ tortious actions was barred by the applicable
statute of limitations.

When bringing an 8th Amendment claim under 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 for denial of adequate medical care, the statute of
limitations is determined by the state statute of limitations the
claim most resembles: a personal injury claim. See Wilson v.
Garcia, 471 U.S. 261, 276-280. 105 S.Ct. 1938. 85 L.Ed.2d
254 (1983), superseded by statute on other grounds, as stated
in Jones v. RR. Donnelley & Sons Company, 541 U.S. 369,
377 378, 124 5(1 1836, 538 L.Ed.2d 643 ("004) In the

The facts pled by Plaintiff in his complaint state that his
claim under 42 U.8.C. § 1983 for inadequate medical care
in violation of the 8th Amendment protection from cruel and
unusual punishment came into existence as a legal claim on
February 19, 2009 at the earliest and on April 29, 2009 at the
latest, at which time Plaintiff knew of the harm to his health.
The conduct that Plaintiff alleges denied him the ability to
bring this claim in court occurred, according to Plaintiff's
allegations, on April 26, 2012, May 19, 2012, and June 21.
2012, which was well beyond the date when Plaintiff was
required to file his 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim in order to comply
with the statute of limjtations. As a result. actions taken by
Defendants on April 26, 2012, May 19, 2012, and June 21,
2012 could not have prevented Plaintiff from bringing the
claim that is described in his complaint as the contemplated
litigation. Therefore, the inability to bring the contemplated
underlying action cannot serve as the actual injury necessary
for Plaintiff to state a claim for denial of his constitutionally
guaranteed right of access to the courts.

*4 Moreover, the Trial Court did not err in concluding
that the statute of limitations could be asserted as a part
of Defendants' preliminary objections. Statute of limitations
is an affirmative defense that must be asserted by new
matter and may not be raised by preliminary objection. Pa.
R.C.P. Nos. 1028(a)(4), 1030; Borough of Nanry Glo v.

Fatula, 826 A.2d 38, 64 (Pa.2003). Here, Plaintiff alleged
that Defendants ¢

ommitted tortious conduct that nrevsnled
him from accessing the courts to bring an 8th Amendment
Claim. The statute of limitations was not raised as. and did
not provide, an affirmative defense to this claim. Rather,

AAAAA o mAdead

Plaintiff's admission in his complaint that the statuie had run
on his underlying 8th Amendment claim when the alleged
tortious conduct took place demonstrated that he had not pled
a sufficient access to courts claim. Accordingly, the Trial
Court did not err in granting the demurrer where the statute
of limitations was addressed as a factual admission and it
was apparent on the face of the complaint that Plaintiff could
not make out his claim for denial of access to the courts. Pa.
R.C.P. No. 1028(a)4); Borough of Nanry Glo, 826 A.2d at 64.

The Trial Court also did not err in permitting Defendants
to assert that Plaintiff's claims concerning his property were
barred by sovereign immunity. Unlike other affirmative
defenscs, the affirmative defense of sovereign immunity may
be raised by preliminary objection in the nature of a demurrer

vhere it is annarent on the face of the complaint that sovere
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Pa.Cmwith. 629. 384 A.2d 403. 407 (Pa.Cmwith.1990). In
the instant matter, the Trial Court properly considered at
the preliminary objection stage of the proceedings whether
sovereign immunity rendered Plaintiff's complaint facially
deficient.

Next, we discern no error in the Trial Court's conclusion
that sovereign immunity barred Plaintiff's claims concerning
his property. Contrary to Plaintiff's argument on appeal. the
Trial Court did not conclude that the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania's sovereign immunity statute barred Plaintiff's
42 U1.S.C. § 1983 claim. Rather. the Trial Court conctuded
that Plaintiff was attempting to allege a state law claim for
conversion of his property by Defendants and that sovereign
immunity prevented Plaintiff from being able to bring this
claim.

S has waived sowc‘relgn imir
for claims of negligence where a party can establish: (1)
a common law or statutory cause of action under which
damages would be recoverable if not for the immunity
defense; and (2) the alleged negligent act falls within one of
the specifically enumerated exceptions provided by statute.
1 Pa.C.S. § 2310; 42 Pa.C.S. § 8522; La Chance v. Michael
Baker Corporation, 869 A.2d 1034, 1057 (Pa.Cmwlth.2005).
A claim made by an inmate for negligent damage to the
inmate's personal property while the property is within the
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possession of Commonwealth parties falls within the personal
property exception to sovereign immunity. 42 Pa.C.S. §
8322(b)(3); 917 A.2d 915, 918
(Pa.Cmwl!th.2007). However, sovereign immunity protects an
employee of the Commonwealth acting within the scope of
his or her employment from the imposition of liability for
intentional torts. 42 Pa.C.S. § 8521; LaFrankiev. Miklich. 132
Pa.Cmwith. 163, 618 A.2d 1143 {(Pa.Cmwlth.1992).

Williams v. Stickman.

*5 Plaintiff has not alleged that Defendants caused damage
to his property through negligence. Plaintiff has alleged
that Defendants committed an intentional tort: conversion. >
DCLdUbC l’l(ﬂﬁtill [Idb dlngCU LlldL LIlC acts coimini
Defendants were intentional, the personal property exception
to sovereign immunity docs not apply to permit Plaintiff's
claim. To overcome the bar of sovereign immunity and state
a cognizable claim for the commission of an intentional tort,
Plaintiff must allege that Defendants were acting outside
the scope of their employment or that the allegations did

frad Lo
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Footnotes

not involve Defendants' duties or powers as employees
of SCl-Fayette. Kull v. Guisse. 81 A3d 148. 134-159
(Pa.Cmwlth.2013): La Frankie, 618 A.2d at 1149. Plaintiff
has not done so.

ORDER

AND NOW this 5th day of Junc. 2015, the order of
the Court of Common Pleas of Fayette County sustaining
preliminary objections in the above-captioned matter is
hereby AFFIRMED.

All Citations

Not Reported in A.3d, 2015 WL 5453073

1 Section 1883 provides, in relevant part: “Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or
usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United
States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by
the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding

for redress....” 42 U.S.C. § 1983

2 Conversion is defined under Pennsylvania law as “the deprivation of another’s right of property in, or use or possession
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of, a chattel, or other interference therewith, without the owner's consent and
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2002 WL 34097436 (Pa.Com.PL) (Trial Order)
Court of Common Pleas of Pennsylvania.
Allegheny County

y R. GUSKY, Plaintiff,
V.

METROPOLITAN LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY MEMORANDUM and Philip Ganster, Defendants.

No. GDoo0o-4527.
Aungust 6, 2002.

lVlCl!lUl'dllulllll

Counsel for Plaintiff: Kenneth R. Behrend, Esquire. 306 Fourth Avenue, Suite 300 Union National Bank Bldg., Pittsburgh,
PA 15222.

Counsel for Defendants: William M. Wycoff, Esquire. Kimberly A. Brown, Esquire, Kevin P. Allen, Esquire, 301 Grant Street,
14th Floor One Oxford Centre, Pitisburgh. PA 15219-1425.

Honorable R. Stanton Wettick, Ir.

On May 8, 2002, T sustained defendants’ preliminary objections seeking dismissal of plaintiff's first amended complaint. Plaintiff
has filed an appeal from this order of court. This Memorandum setting forth my reasons for my ruling is filed pursuant to
Pa.R.A.P. No. 1925,

The first amended complaint raises claims based on unfair insurance sales practices. Plaintiff alleges that in 1992 he purchased
a Metropolitan policy furnishing insurance of $500.000 on his life. The product that plaintiff received was not what he was led
to believe that he had purchased because of improper sales practices. Plaintiff paid a total of $1,812 in gross premiums into
the 1992 policy (paragraph 64-71).

In 1994, nlam’nffconvert d his 1992 policy into a different investment product. Because of defendants’ alleged improper sales

practices, plaintiff did not receive what plaintiff was led to believe he had purchased. Plaintiff paid gross premiums of $6,241
into his 1994 policy. (Paragraphs 72-82.)

83. On or about February 24, 1995, the Plaintiff received a letter from Metropolitan informing him that $2.955.00 was due 1o
keep his 1994 Policy in force. (See attached Exhibit “3” Plaintiff's Bates No. RRG000010)

84. The Plaintiff could not afford to pay this amount to Metropolitan and therefore in early 1995 the policy lapsed.
85. On or about July 6, 1995. the Plaintiff sent a written complaint to the Metropolitan Customer Service Center describing
the manner in which Defendant Ganster misrepresented the 1994 Policy to him. (See attached Exhibit “4™ Plaintiff's Bares

No. RRG000010).

86. On or about July 28, 1995, the Plaintiff received a letter from Metropolitan representative Arlene Shelton, informing the
Plaintiff that Metropolitan would not refund the premiums that he had already paid on the 1994 policy.




87. On or about August 15, 1995, the Plaintiff received another letter from Metropolitan representative Arlene Shelton.

informing the Plaintiff that Metropolitan had again reviewed his written complaint and had decided to rescind the 1994 Policy

FNIOTIRE x 131538 AVILUD

and refund the premiums already paid into the policy on the condition that the Plaintiff sign a Release Form. which was enclosed
with the letter, and return the original policy to Metropolitan. (See attached Exhibit “5” Plaintiff's Bates Nos. 000014 and

000027)

88. Neither the August 15, 1995 letter nor the Release Form itself advised the Plaintiff that he should obtain a lawyer or at feast
scek legal advice before singing the Releasc Form.

89. Defendant Metropolitan did not inform Plaintiff that he was also entitled to a payment of interest on the amount that was
to be rescinded.

90. It is believed and therefore averred that Metropolitan had a procedure in handling consumer complaints with assertions
about the deceptive manner in which a life insurance policy was sold. Metropolitan would perform an internal investigation.
and after investigation by Mectropolitan. if a decision was made by Metropolitan to reverse the sale of a policy and to pay a
refund, that Metropolitan would also pay interest on the refunded amount but only if the insured brought up the issuc of the

payment of interest.

91. Without the aid of legal counsel, and without the knowledge that Metropolitan also paid interest. when the sale of a policy

92. The Plaintiff then forwarded the Release Form and the original policy to Metropolitan as the August 15, 1995 letter
instructed.

93. On or about August 31, 1995, the Plaintiff received a letter enclosing a check in the amount of $1,715,07. which Metropolitan
represented was to refund excess sales charges which were charged on the 1994 Policy.

94. On or about September 7, 1995. the Plaintiff received a check in the amount of $6.241.00.
95. The Plaintiff never received any of the interest that was gained on the premiums that were paid on the 1994 Policy.

I dismissed the case on the basis of the allegations within paragraphs 83-95. My order of court reads as follows:
On this 8 day of May, 2002, upon consideration of defendants' preliminary objections seeking dismissal of plaintiff's first
amended complaint.

it appearing that paragraphs 83-95 of plaintiff's complaint allege that plaintiff signed a written release which released
Metropolitan Life Insurance Company and its employees from all claims in exchange for a refund check of $6.241,

it appearing that plaintiff alleges only that the release should not be honored because Metropolitan Life did not advise plaintiff
to seek legal advice or advise him that he was also entitled to a payment of interest on the refund,

it appearing that these allegations do not support a ruling that the release is not binding on plaintiff,

it appearing that plaintiff's brief in opposition to defendants' preliminary objections does not suggest that plaintiff has any other
grounds for setting aside the release, and

it appearing that defendants should not be compelled to answer a 146 paragraph complaint that on its face establishes that
plaintiff cannot recover,




IT IS HERERY ORDERED that defendants' preliminary objections are sustained and plaintiff's complaint is dismissed.

Plaintiff's Statement of Matters Complained of on Appeal is attached as Attachment 1.

Plaintiff contends that “the operative effect of a release is a question of fact to be determined by the jury. thus preventing
dismissal on Defendants' preliminary objections.” This is incorrect. Where the facts concerning the release are not disputed,

a court determines its legal effect. :
in this case, my ruling is based soiely on the facts set forth in plaintiff's complaint. Piaintiff alieges that he signed the release,

had it notarized, forwarded the release to Metropolitan, and received the money that Metropolitan had agreed to pay in exchange
for the release. As a matter of law, plaintiff's claims are barred by the release.
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Plaintiff contends that there was a confidential relationship between Metropolitan and plaintiff. Consequently, the insurance
company could not make a proposal to plaintiff that was inconsistent with plaintiff's best interests.

This lawsuit is one of several hundred pending lawsuits raising claims against Metropolitan based on alleged unfair insurance
practices. | have made certain rulings that apply to each of the unfair insurance practice cases pending in Allegheny County.
including this case. One of the rulings that I have made is that the relationship between a person purchasing insurance and
the insurance company may not be characterized as a confidential relationship. In his Statement of Matters Complained of on
Appeal, plaintiff is seeking reversal of this ruling.

I initialty addressed this issue in Jhnat v. Pover Part 1. 146 P.L.J. 299, 303-10 (1998).

It is difficult to address the breach of fiduciary claims raised by the various plaintiffs because these claims are not defined. The
gravamen of plaintiffs' claims is that the benefits provided in the insurance agreements which they obtained differ from the
benefits that they anticipated as a result of insurance agents' representations.

Plaintiffs correctly assert that in a transaction in which an insurance agent secks to sell new or replacement insurance, the
insurance agent has superior knowledge of the matter and is in a position to take advantage of the would-be buyer by providing
information and advice on which the agent intends the buyer to rely that is inaccurate, misleading. and incomplete. There
are several causes of action which Pennsyivania couris may recognize where an individual purchased life insurance based on
misleading information provided by an insurer or its agent. The insured may bring a claim based on common law fraud if the
insured can establish a misrepresentation, a fraudulent utterance thereof, an intention by the maker that the recipicnt will be
induced to act or refrain from acting, justifiable reliance by the recipient on the misrepresentation, and damage to the recipient.
Krause v. Great Lakes Holdings, Inc.. 563 A.2d 1182. 1187 (Pa. Super. 1989), alloc. denied, 574 A.2d 70 (Pa. 1990). The
courts have permitted an insured who justifiably relied on representations of an agent to maintain a negligent misrepresen-tation
claim based on §552 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts. See [text illegible] v. Nationwide Life insurance Co. Inc., 370 A.2d
366 (Pa. 1977). Under §299A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, an insurance agent who undertakes to provide advice must
exercise ordinary skill, knowledge, and judgment in rendering this advice and is liable through a professional negligence action
for damages resulting from his or her failure to do so. Pennsylvania law recognizes a contractual cause of action based on an




Ray R. GUSKY, Piaintiff, v. METROPOLITAN LiFE..., 2002 WL 34087438...
insurance company's breach of a duty of good faith and fair dealing to their insureds. Banker v. I'alley Forge Insurance Co.,
5835 A.2d 304, 510 (Pa. Super. 1991). Under §9.2 of the Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law.

73 P.S. §201-9.2, a person who purchases life insurance primarily for personal, family. or household purposes may recover
actual damages sustained as a result of an insurance company's engaging in conduct creating a likelihood of confusion or of

misunderstandingA Under 42 Pa.C.S. §8371. plaintiffs may pursue a bad faith claim.

Under each of these causes of action, plaintiffs must establish misconduct and prove that they sustained losses from such
misconduct. Through their breach of fiduciary duty claims, plaintiffs are apparently seeking recovery under more relaxed
standards of proof and/or based on a higher standard of care. If the entire transaction between plaintiffs and defendants is
governed by what the law recognizes as a fiduciary relationship, the burden would shift to defendants to show that plaintiffs
fully understood the transaction, that they knowingly and voluntarily entered into the transaction, and that the transaction was,
to the best of defendants’ knowledge, consistent with plaintiffs’ interests. See In re Estate of Evasew. 384 A.2d 910 (Pa. 1990),
where the Court said that when a fiduciary relationship exists, the following rules apply:

In such cascs. if the superior party obtains a possible benefit, equity raises a presumption against the validity of the transaction
or contract, and casts upon such party the burden of proving fairness, honesty. and integrity in the transaction or contract. He
must show that there was no abuse of confidence. that he acted in good faith, and that the act by which he has benefitted was
the free, voluntary. and independent act of the other party, done with full knowledge of its purpose and cffect.... Thus, if in a
transaction between the parties who stand in a relationship of trust and confidence, the party in whom the confidence is reposed
obtains an apparent advantage over the other, he s presumed to have obtained the advantage fraudulently, and if he seeks to
“support the transaction, he must assume the burden of proof that he has taken no advantage of his influence or knowledge and
the arrangement is fair and conscientious. /d. at 912-13.

I reject plaintiffs' contention that a confidential relationship is deemed to exist between parties 10 a transaction whenever a
party with superior knowledge of the matter provides advice to the other regarding the transaction. A fiduciary relationship
is ordinarily imposed only where one person, either by agreement or by law. has been entrusted to make a decision on behall
of another person. Consider, for example. a policy provision under which the insured gives the insurer the right to handle all
claims against the insured, including the right to make a binding settiement. Grav v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co.. 223
A.2d 8, 9-10 (Pa. 1966).

{iduciary relationship. Instead, at the time of the transaction, the party

a
have an indenendent oblication, recoenized in the law or by agreement
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Unequal bargaining power. by itself. does not create
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of the parties, 1o act for the benefit of the other party and not to take advantage of his or her position to further his or her own
interests. See, generally, In re Estate of Scott, 316 A.2d 883 (Pa. 1974); Young v. Kave, 279 A.2d 759 (Pa. 1971, Peoples
First National Bank and Trust Co. v. Rarajski, 160 A.2d 451 (Pa. 1960); Brooks v. Conston, 51 A.2d 684 (Pa. 1947): Leedom
v. Palmer, 117 A. 410 (Pa. 1922).

In this litigation, plaintiffs are not contending that they delegated decision making to defendants. The alleged wrongdoing
involves the use of improper sales tactics that induced the insureds to agree to purchase new life insurance, and in some instances,
{o give up benefits under existing life insurance. The insureds allege that they would not have agreed to purchase the new
insurance if they had not been mislead. The relationship which plaintiffs' complaints describe is a buyer-seller relationship, and
the law has never defined this relationship as one in which the seller is bound to act in furtherance of the interests of the buyer.
There may be duties of fair dealing imposed by statutory, tort, and contract law that provide private remedies where improper
sales tactics are used. However, the law governing the duties of a fiduciary is not applicable.

I reach the same result where there was an existing relationship between the insurance agent and the insured. Under the existing
relationship, the insured did not delegate to the agent the ability to alter the existing insurance arrangement. Plaintiffs are not
stating that the new transaction resulted from decisions made by the insurance agent; rather, they complain about tactics that
the insurance agent uscd to obtain the insured's agreement.
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purports to act as an advisor to prove that the buyer
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understood the transaction and that this transaction appeared to be consistent with the buyer's interests, fiduciary law would
govern countless relationships including the sale of stock and other types of investments, loan transactions, every insurance
transaction, and probably even a consumer's dealings with his or her automobile mechanic, plumber, interior decorator, firearms'’
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governing actions based on express and implied warranties. tort law. and contract law to obtain

I next consider the more limited claim raised in the Sabow complaint that the insurance agent had a fiduciary duty to purchase a
new policy that would not be paid through funds from the existing policy because the application for the new policy stated that
it was nonreplacement insurance. The difficulty with this argument is that plaintiffs allege that the application did not describe
the actual transaction between the parties. Plaintiffs are not stating that they agreed to purchase a new policy that they would
pay for without utilizing funds from an existing policy. Their claim is that the insurance agent prepared an application that
inaccurately described the transaction in order to avoid various disclosure requirements and to obtain additional commissions
and fees for the agent and company. Thus, plaintiffs are arguing that the insurance agent/insurance company had a fiduciary
duty to ensure that plaintiffs received what plaintiffs had never intended to receive.

Pennsylvania case law addressing the scope of the duty of an insurance company to inform an insured of benefits to which the
insured may be entitled supports my conclusion that the law governing fiduciary relationships does not govern the relationship
between an 1mured and an insurance company except in those situations in which the insurance company has assumed authority

The opinion of Mr. Justice Larsen announcing the judgment of the Court in Dercoli v. Pennsvivania National Mutual Insurance
Co.. 554 A.2d 906 (Pa. 1989), is the highwater mark with respect to obligations that the law has imposed on an insurance
company to protcct a policyholder's insurance benefits. Prior to the Dercoii decision, the Pennsyivania Supreme Court in
Taglianetti v. Workmen's Cltext illegible ] Appeal Board. 469 A.2d 548 (Pa. 1983), had ruled that in a workers' compensation
setting an employer does not have an affirmative duty to apprise an employee or potential claimant of available benefits.
In that case. the widow of the employee had failed to raise a claim for work-related benefits to which she might have been
entitled within the three-year limitation period. She sought to pursue her claim on the ground that the emplover had voluntarily
sent a check representing a three-months’ death gratuity and, in response to the widow's inquiry regarding the availability of
other widow's benefits. had informed her that apart from the life insurance and the death gratuity, she had no other widow's
benefits. The widow's inquiry did not refer to workers' compensation benefits. The Court held that an employer does not have
an affirmative duty to appraise an employee of possible workers' compensation benefits; that the widow had failed to show
fraud, misrepresentation, or other actions which would have lulled her into a false sense of security; and, thus, that her claim
was barred by the statute of limitations.

In Dercoli, the plaintiff sued to recover benefits to which she might be entitled as a result of a recent Supreme Court ruling
abolishing interspousal immunity. In her complaint, she alleged that agents of the insurance company had voluntarily undertaken
to provide assistance and advice to her regarding the benefits to which she was entitled under the insurance policy. The insurance
agents told her that they would see that she received all benefits to which she was entitled and advised her against retaining
independent legal counsel. She contended that under these circumstances the insurance company had a duty to deal with her
fairly and in good faith, including a duty of full and complete disclosure as to any benefits that became available as a result

of a change in the law.,

The trial court and the Superior Court ruled that the plaintiff's claim was governed by Taglianetti. Mr. Justice Larsen's opinion
(in which one other Justice joined) stated that Taglianesti was wrongly decided because it relieves insurers and other entities
of the obligation to deal fairly, honestly, openly. and in good faith with lay claimants and non-experts who may be entitied
to benefits and who are the very people the insurers have obligated themselves to protect. In a concurring opinion (joined in
by another Justice), Mr. Justice Papadakos disassociated himself from the portions of Mr. Justice Larsen's opinion stating that




Taglianetti was wrongly decided. Mr. Justice Papadakos agreed with the ruling that the insurance company had a duty to advise
the insured of the change in the law because the insurance company had voluntarily assumed the duty to provide the insured

with all available benefits. He said that Taglianetti involved a situation in which the insurer had not voluntarily assumed such
a duty, so the two cases are legally and factually distinct.

In Miller v. Kevstone Insurance Co., 636 A.2d 1109 (Pa. 1994). the insurance company without a specific demand voluntarily
paid funeral, collision, and survivor's loss benefits to the mother of the deceased insured. Subsequently, she filed a claim for
postmortem work loss benefits beyond the limitation period. She cited Dercoli in support of her position that the law imposes an
affirmative obligation on an insurance company to inform an unrepresented insurcd that it has knowledge of the possibility of
a claim for recovery and that it is no longer acting in the intercsts of the insured in this matter. The Court rejected the argument
stating that it was reaffirming its earlier ruling in Taglianei that in the absence of evidence of fraud, intentional deception, or
the making of misleading statements, an insurance company has no affirmative duty to apprise an insured of available benefits.
The Court held that Dercoli did not create any new duties; it imposed an obligation to disclose all benefits to which an insured
may be entitled only where the insurer has voluntarily elected to act as the insured's counsel.

In freski v. Kemper National Insurance Companies, 674 A2d 1106 (Pa. Super. 1996), the Court defined the relationship
between the insured and insurer during negotiations as a contractual relationship requiring fair dealing and good faith on the
part of the insurer rather than as a fiduciary refationship in which the insurer is responsible for determining that the insured
fully understands the transaction. In Treski, the insureds, who had paid additional premiums for full tort coverage, contended
that they were unaware that if they were involved in an automobﬂe acmdent in New Jersey, under New Jersey law they might
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the full tort coverage which thcy were providing mlght not, in fact, prov1de the benefits the insureds believed that they were
purchasing; if they had been properly advised, they may not have paid the additional premiums for full tort coverage. The
Superior Court rejected the argument; it stated that this case was similar to Kifmore v. Erie Insurance Co., 395 A.2d 623 (Pa.

Super. 1991), alloc. denied, 529 Pa. 664, 604 A.2d 1030 -{1992}. where the Superior Court ruled that an automobiic insurance
carrier and health insurance carrier had no duty to explain the cxtent and limits of the coverage to an insured:

“We find no justification in the law to impose the additional burden on insurers that they anticipate and then counse] their insured
on the hypothetical. collateral consequences of the coverage chosen by the insured. The basic contractual nature of insurance
coverage set forth in {Standurd Venetiun Blind Company v. American Empire Insurance Company, 503 Pa. 300. 469 A.2d 563
(1983)] and [Dercoli v. Pennsvivania National Mutual Insurance Company, 520 Pa. 471. 334 A.2d 906 (1989)]. requires fair
dealing and good faith on the part of the insurer, not hand holding and substituted judgment. While we acknowledge insurance
is an area in which the contracting parties stand in somewhat special relationship to each other, the relationship is not so unique
as to compel this Court to require an insurer to explain every permutation possible from an insured's choice of coverage. Each
insured has the right and obligation to question his insurer at the time the insurance contract is entered into as to the type of
coverage desired and the ramifications arising therefrom. Once the insurance contract takes effect, however. the insured must
take responsibility for his policy. We. therefore, decline 1o extend the duties of an insurer to provide ongoing advice concerning
the limits of its coverage.” Kilmore, 595 A.2d at 626-27 (footnote omitted). See also Banker v. Valley Forge [text illegible]

363 Pa.Super. 436, 465. 526 A.2d 434, 438 (1987), rev'd on other grounds, Banker v. Valley Foz ge Insurance Company, 401
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a duty to explain all of the hypothetical consequences which might result from an excess coverage endorsement). Treski v.

o
(% 4

Kemper National Insurance Companies, supra, 674 A.2d at 1114-15.

Federal case law aiso construes Pennsyivania case iaw in a manner consistent with my ruiing. In in re The Prudential insurance
Company of America Sales Practices Litigation, 975 F.Supp. 584, 617 (D.N.J. 1997), the Court in a MDL proceeding held that
under Pennsylvania law an insurer's failure to exercise its contractual duty of good faith and fair dealing under Pennsylvania
law does not give rise to a claim for breach of a fiduciary duty:




An essential feature and consequence of a fiduciary relationship is that the fiduciary becomes bound to act in the interests of

her beneficiary and not of herself. Obviously, this dvnamic does not inhere in the ordinary buyer-seller reldtmn;hm Thus, “the
efforts of commercial sellers--even those with superior bargaining power--to profit from the trust of consumers is not enough
to create a fiduciary duty. If it were, the law of fiduciary duty would largely displace both the tort of fraud and much of the
Commercial Code.” Committee on Children's Television. Inc. v. General Foods Corp., 35 Cal.3d 197. 221, 197 Cal.Rpur. 783,

I—!‘vnF\J/t\/ 4 0N . ne} 975 F Siin ¢L1l(£

789, 673 P.2d 660. 675 (1983) (en bane). 975 F.Supp. at 6
In Connecticut Indemniny Co. v. Markman, 1993 W1. 504056 (E.D. Pa. 1993), the Court ruled that under Pennsylvania law

there is no fiduciary relationship between an insurer and insured except for the situation in which an insurer asserts its rights
under the insurance policy to handle claims brought against the insured:

No Pennsylvania law establishes a fiduciary duty based on the duty of good faith and fair dealing. Thus, the court concludes
that the alleged failure to exercise the duty of good faith and fair dealing does not give rise to an actual claim for a breach of
a fiduciary duty. However, the court recognizes that such a failure of Connecticut Indemnity’s part could give rise to a breach
of contract action for breach of the separate duty of good faith and fair dealing. /d. at 6.

Also see Garvey v. National Grange Murual Insurance Co.. 1995 WL 115416 at 4 (E.D. Pa. 1993).

There are two narrower breach of fiduciary duty claims that plaintiffs may be raising that they may pursue. In certain complaints,
plaintiffs may be claiming that an insurance agent or an insurance company removed funds from a policy reserve without
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agent/insurance company has an obligation to handle an insured's funds only in the manner in which the insured has approved. 7

Plaintiffs also may be raising claims as to the manner in which the insurance agent structured the transaction. Where benefits
under an existing policy would be preserved if the transaction to which the insured consented was structured in one fashion and
not preserved if structured in another fashion, there may be a fiduciary duty on the part of the insurance agent to structure the
transaction in accordance with the interests of the insured because this may be a decision that was dclegated to the insurance
agent. This means, for example, that if the holder of a $25.000 life insurance policy had a right to increase the policy limits
to $50,000 by meeting medical requirements and paying an increased premium and if, instead, the insurance agent cancelled
the first policy and wrote a new policy for $50,000 that would give the insured no other additional benefits while resulting in

1
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Counsel for plaintiff sought reconsideration of my ruling that the law does not characterize the relationship between a purchaser
of insurance and an insurance company as a fiduciary relationship on the basis of a ruling of the Pennsylvania Superior Court
in Basile v. H&R Block. Inc., 777 A.2d 95 (Pa. Super. 2001). On May 6, 2002, I denied the motion for reconsideration. My
court order was accompanied by the following Memorandum:

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER OF COURT

WETTICK. J.
The subject of this Memorandum and Order of Court is plaintiff's motion for reconsideration of orders granting preliminary
objections regarding fiduciary duty.

In /hnat v. Pover, 146 P.1.J. 299, 305-310 (1997), | ruled that the law of fiduciary duty does not govern the buyer/seller
relationship between the insured and the insurance agent/insurance company.




1 stated that the law provides many protections to the purchaser of insurance: " the purchaser may bring a claim based on
common Jaw fraud; a negiigence ciaim based on the insurance agent's failure io exercise ordinary skill, knowledge. and judgment
in rendering advice; breach of contract claims; and claims under the Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer
Protection Law if the scller engaged in conduct creating the likelihood of confusion or misunderstanding. Under each of these
causes of action, plaintiffs must establish misconduct and prove that they sustained losses from the misconduct.

I stated that if the relationship between purchasers and sellers of insurance is governcd by what the law characlerizes as
a fiduciary relationship, the burden would shift to the seller of insurance to show that the buyer of insurance understood
the transaction, that the buyer knowingly and voluntarily entered into the transaction, and that the transaction was. to the
best of seller's knowledge, consistent with buyer's best interests. Under this standard, a purchaser would prevail unless the
insurance company could establish that a knowledgeable advisor, looking at the purchaser's entire financial picture, would
likely recommend the purchase of the insurance that was in fact purchased.

I concluded that there was no basis in Pennsylvania law to characterize the relationship between an insurance agent and the
insured as a confidential relationship. I rejected plaintiffs' argument that a confidential relationship is deemed to exist between
the parties 10 a transaction whencver a party with superior knowledge provides advice to the other regarding the transaction.
If I accepted this argument, legal relationships would be dramatically altered: The principles of “fiduciary law would govern
countless relationships including the sale of stock and other types of investments, loan transactions, every insurance transaction,
and probably even a consumer's dealings with his or her automobile mechanic, plumber, interior decorator. firearms' dealer,
or travel agent. Disappointed buyers of goods and services would no longer need to satisfy the requisites of the law governing

actions based on express and implied warranties, tort law, and contract law to obtain relief.” /d. at 307.

Plainti{fs seek reconsideration on the basis of the ruling of the Pennsylvania Superior Court in Basile v. H&R. Block. Inc., 777
A.2d 95 (Pa. Super. 2001). Plaintiffs rcly on general language within the opinion stating that a confidential relationship may
be established whenever a significant disparity is established between the parties’ positions in the relationship and the inferior
party places primary trust in the other's advice. The Basile opinion, however, does not suggest that it is altering prior case law.
Consequently, I believe that Basile covers only the situation in which the tax preparer is offering the clicnt a “scrvice™ outside
the scope of the preparation of the tax return. The tax preparer, in preparing the return. has an obligation to make decisions on
behalf of the client that the client would make if the client had the same knowledge of tax law. This is a confidential relationship
because the tax preparer, in preparing the return. must subordinate its interests to those of the client. Once this relationship
has been estdbhshed Basile holds that the tax preparer cannot furnish related services that further its interests without fully

In the present case, there never was a confidential relationship. Consequently, Basile is not controlling.

ORDER OF COURT

On this 6 day of May. 2002, it is hereby ORDERED that plaintiffs’ request for recon-sideration is denicd.
For the reasons set forth in my Zhnat v. Pover Opinion and my May 6, 2002 Memorandum, the law does not support plaintiff's

claim that the release is not binding on plaintiff because Metropollian breached a ﬁdumary obllgatmn by its failure to direct
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Ray R. GUSKY, Plaintiff, v. METROPOLITAN LiFE..., 2002 Wi 34097436...

In the Statement of Matters Complained of on Appeal, plamtlff dlSO raises a procedural issue: Defendants could not ratse through

There is case law supporting the dismissal of a claim where an affirmative defense, bascd solely on the allegations in plaintiff's
complaint, is raised through preliminary objections. See case law holding that the affirmative defense of res judicata may be
considered through preliminary objections where the compiaint sets forth the esseniial facts upon which the defense is based
(Del Turcov. Peoples Home Savings Assoc.. 478 A.2d 456.461 (Pa. Super. 1984); compare MacNeal v. 1.C.O.A4.. Inc., 555 A.2d
916. 919-20 (Pa. Super. 1989)). See case law holding that the defense of governmental immunity may be raised by preliminary
objection where it is apparent on the face of the complaint that recovery is not possible Tiedeman v. City of Philadelphia. 732
A.2d 696. 697 n.4 (Pa. Cmwith. 1999); Chester Upland School District v. Yesavage, 653 A.2d 1319, 1327 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1994).
Consider Bocchicchiov. General Public Utilities Corp., 689 A.2d 305, 307-08 (Pa. Super. 1997), where the Court differentiated
between the affimative defenses referred to in the Note to Rule 1028(a)(4) (statute of frauds and statute of limitations) and

other affirmative defenses.

This is an appropriate case in which to address this defense through preliminary objections because defendants should not be
required to plead to a 38 page, 146 paragraph amended complaint if the case will be dismissed through a motion for judgment

on the pleadings.

OI1 10C picacil

Furthermore, based on the allegations in plaintiff's complaint that Metropolitan returned the premiums that plaintiff had paid
after the policy lapsed, plaintiff has not sustained any damages. Consequently, the complaint fails to state a causc of action.

BY THE COURT:

WETTICK, J
Footnotes
1 The release, which is attached to plaintiff's first amended complaint. reads as follows:
RELEASE

Submission of this form to MetLife and the refund of premiums paid on Policy 944-903-580-UM will constitute a release of MetLife
and all its current and former employees, agents, subsidiaries, affiliates, officers and directors from any and all claims, demands,
and causes of actions which the undersigned may have arising out of any events, matters or transactions relating to the purchase of
the Policy 944-903-580-UM.

Section 9.2 also permits the court in its discretion to award up to three times the actual damages sustained.

7 This claim covers only the situation in which there was no written or oral approval to remove funds from a policy reserve. I distinguish
this claim from plaintiffs' claim that they had approved the use of the funds from a policy reserve only to pay for new insurance
which the agent had described.
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ruled that certain bad faith claims based on 42 Pa.C.S. §8371 may be brought by the insured.
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Appeal from the Order Entered July 8, 2013, In the Court
of Common Pleas of Philadelphia County, Civil Division at
No(s): October Term. 2009; 04335.

BEFORE: ALLEN, I, MUNDY, J., and FITZGERALD, J.”
Opinion
MEMORANDUM BY MUNDY, I.:

*1  Appellants, Margaret Anthony, Sabrina Whitaker.
Barbara Prosser, Sybil White and Natacha Battle, appeal
from the July 8. 2013 order denying their motion to amend
complaint and dismissing their case against Appellee, St.
Joseph's Hospital School of Nursing, Inc. (STHSON). After
careful review, we affirm.

The instant action commenced when Appellants, former
students matriculated in STHSON, filed 2 complaint on
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contract and fraud in connection with each Appellant's
failure to receive promised educational services and support.
Appellants filed an amended complaint on December
15, 2009. On June 18, 2010, SJHSON filed preliminary
objections to Appellants’ amended complaint. SJHSON
also filed a motion for summary judgment on July 1,
2010. On August 26, 2010, the trial court sustained
SJHSON's preliminary objections in part, striking Appellants'
fraud count for failure to plead averments with sufficient
particularity in accordance with Pennsylvania Rule of Civil
Procedure 1028(2)(3).

On October 27, 2010, SJHSON filed an answer and new
matter to Appellants' complaint, together with counterclaims
against each Appellant for alleged unpaid tuition, costs and
fees. Appellants filed an answer to the new matter and
counterclaim on September 13, 2010. On December 9, 2010,
the trial court issued an order granting in part SJHSON's
motion for summary judgment. Specifically, relative to
Appellants’ contract claims the trial court granted “[sJummary
[jJudgment as to academic judgment and physical facilities,
leaving open only [STHSON's] compliance with remediation
and grievance procedures following academic failure and a
decision to deny graduation.” Trial Court Opinion and Order,
12/9/10, at 2. The trial court left only Appellants' contract
claim relative to SJTHSON's “compliance with remediation
and grievance procedures following academic failure and a
decision to deny graduation.” /d.

The case proceeded with extended discovery. On May
2, 2012, citing subsequent discovery, Appellants filed a
motion for reconsideration of the trial court's August 26,
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and Dccember 9, 2010 orders, seeking reinstatement of

its stricken fraud and contract claims. On May 4, 2012,
Appellants filed a motion to amend their complaint to add
North Philadelphia Health System (NPHS) as an additional
defendant. Before the trial court acted on either motion,

STHSON ! filed a Suggestion of Bankruptcy, notifying the
trial court that it had petitioned for relief in the Bankruptcy
Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania.

Upon application of Appellants and stipulation of the parties,
the Bankruptcy Court subsequently ordered the following.

[Tlhe Automatic Stay of § 362
of the Bankruptcy Code shall be
terminated, annulled and vacated to
allow [Appellants] to prosccutc the
Action Margaret Anthony, et al., v. St.
Joseph's Hospital School of Nursing
October Term 2009, No 04335 in
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pleas to-judgment. As agreed in the
stipulation, [Appellants] shall not
seek to collect any judgment against
[STHSON] through any assets of
[STHSON] under the purview of the
Bankruptcy Court.

*2 Motion to Quash, 11/26/12, Exhibit C—Bankruptcy
Court's 8/21/12 Order. >




On July 8, 2013, the trial court denied Appellants' motion
to amend thcir complaint to add NPHS as a defendant on
the ground that the statuie of limitations had run. The trial
court also denied Appellants' motion for reconsideration.
deeming the request to reinstate claims against STHSON as
impermissible under the bankruptcy stipulation and order

lifting the stay. Appellants filed a timely notice of appeal on

July 24, 2013.°
On appeal, Appellants raise the following issues for our
review.

I. Did the {trial] court abuse its discretion in denying
[Appellants'] motion to amend the pleading and to add
the North Philadelphia Health Systems as a defendant?

I1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in failing to restore
|Appellants'] fraud and breach of contract claims based
upon developments in discovery?

II1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in dismissing
[Appellants'] entire case, including the breach of
contract count that remained prior to the motion
practice?

Appellants' Brief at 4.

Appellants first challenge the trial court's denial of their
motion to amend the complaint to add NPHS as an additional

As noted, the trial court's denial was based on its
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determination that the amendment is barred by the statute of
limitations. Our standard of review of this issue is well settled.

The dectsion of the trial [clourt to deny a motion to
amend a complaint is within the sound discretion of
the trial court, and the trial court's determination will
not be disturbed absent an abuse of that discretion. It is
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have reached a different conclusion if, in the first place,
it was charged with the duty imposed on the trial court
below.

TCPF Ltd. P'ship v. Skatell, 976 A.2d 571. 574
(Pa.Super.2009) (citations and quotation marks omitted).
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“[a] party, either by filed consent of the adverse party or
by leave of the court, may at any time change the form of

action, correct the name of a party or amend the pleading.”
Pa.R.C.P. 1033. However “[a] plaintiff may not amend a
pleading to add a new and distinct party once the statute
of limitations has expired.” Kincy v. Petra, 606 Pa. 524, 2

A.3d 490, 497 (2010) (citation omitted)....

Phillips v. Lock, 2014 WL 806225, *5 (Pa.Super.2014).

The parties and the trial court agree that Appellants’ contract
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Appellants’ Brief at 19; STHSON's Brief at 11; Trial Court
Opinion. 9/20/13, at 1; see also 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 5525.
“Generally speaking, the statute of limitations begins to run
as soon as the right to institute and maintain the suit arises.
Whether a complaint is timely filed within the limitations
period is a matter of law for the court to determine.” Sevast v.
Kakouras, 915 A.2d 1147, 1153 (Pa.2007) (internal quotation
marks and citation omitted).

*3 Appellants' fraud claims are governed by a two-year
statute of limitations.

An action to recover damages for
injury to person or property which
sounds in fraud is governed by a
two-year statute of limitations. See 42
Pa.C.S.A. § 3524(7). Typically, the
two- year perlod begms 10 run as soon

suit arises.

Toy v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. 863 A2d 1. 7
(Pa Super.2004) (citation nmlﬁprﬂ affirmed, Q28 A.2d 186
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(Pa.2007).

The trial court stated that by November 2008, each of the
Appeliants had left STHSON without graduating. Trial Court
Opinion, 9/20/13, at 1, n. 1. The trial court found that the
proposed second amended complaint adding NPHS as a
defendant was not filed as part of Appellants' motion to
amend until January 2013. /d. at L. The trial court therefore
concluded Appellants' proposed addition of a new party
was outside the four-year statute of limitations and denied
Appellants’ motion 1o amend. /d. at 1; Trial Court Order,
7/8/13,at 1,9 1.

Appellants submit that their May 4, 2012 motion to amend
their complaint to add NPHS as an additional defendant was

timely filed. * However, this Court has held that the only
authorized way to commence an action in Pennsylvania is
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to proceed in accordance with Pa.R.C.P. 1007. Aiva-oglou
v, Drever Furnaces. 613 A2d 595 398 (Pa.Super. 1992},
Further, the filing of a motion to amend a complaint to add
a party does not commence an action and. therefore, will not
toll the statute of limitations. /d.

Appellants argue that, as a general rule, amendment of
pleadings should be liberally granted and denied only upon
a showing of prejudice and that “the [trial] court did not
consider the issue of prejudice.” Appellants' Brief at 17—
18. Additionally, Appellants recognize that an amendment
that adds a cause of action is “not permitted after the statute
of limitations on the new cause of action expired.” /d at
18. However, Appellants contend their proposed addition of
NPHS as a defendant merely “amplified™ the existing cause
of action and neither STHSON nor NPHS would experience
any prejudice therefrom. /d Appellants conclude that “if the
proposed amendment does not change the cause of action
but merely amplifies that which has already been averred, it
should be allowed even though the statute of limitations has

LT 2 Y P S P P R S B Y
4 \CI IUIID OILIILECU ).

Appellants fail to recognize that as to NPHS, the claims in
their proposed second amended complaint are new causes of
action, and not amplifications of existing causes of action.
Appellants' motion to amend is clearly an cffort to add a
new and distinct party. Since both the two-year and four-
vear statute of limitations had expired at the time of the
trial court's July 8, 2013 order, the trial court did not err
in refusing to permit the addition of NPHS as a defendant.
See Phillips, supra; see also Tork—Hiis v. Com., 735 A.2d
1256 (Pa.1999) (holding that the test to determine if an
amendment adding a defendant may be permitted after the
expiration of the statute of limitations *“is whether the right
party was sued but under a wrong designation-in which event
.................... issible-or whether a [different] party
was sued and the amcndmcnt [is] designed to substitute [or
add] another and distinct party,” which is impermissibie)
(citations omitted). Instantly, STHSON and NPHS are distinct
entities against which Appeliants allege distinct theories of
liability. Appellants' claim against NPHS is based on master/
servant or respondeat superior theories stemming from its

relationship with STHSON.

*4 Finally, Appellants suggest that they only learned of
SJHSON's connections with NPHS through discovery and
that salient facts were withheld. Appellants' Brief at 20.
“The agency relationship was significant information that
[Appellants] did not have knowledge of until afier discovery,

withheld this information.™

the recourse to the statute of

though NPHS and [STHSON]
Id. Thus

Annellants arsue
Appellants argue

limitations is barred. Id.

The [ of fraudulent

concealment tolls the statute based

] doctrine

on an estoppel theory and provides
that a defendant may not invoke the
statute of limitations if through either

......... antin

intentional or unintentional fraud or
concealment, the defendant causes the
plaintiff to relax his vigilance or
deviate from his duty of inquiry into

the facts.

Gustine Uniontown Associates, Lid. v. Amhony Crane Rental,
Ince.. 892 A.2d 830. 835 n. 2 (Pa.Super.2006) (citations
omitted).

Beyond their bald assertion, Appellants have not
demonstrated any fraud or concealment by STHSON or NPHS
concerning their relationship. To the contrary Appellants
note that “[djuring discovery, it was [ ] revealed that, on
separate occasions, [the dean of STHSON] informed two
of the Plaintiffs that they had to await the arrival of [the]
CEO of the St. Joseph's Hospital of NPHS for her decision
on their status.” Appellants’ Brief at 20. Appellants also
cite the use by STHSON of NPHS facilities. /d at 22-23.
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“discovered™ were certainly known by some of Appellants
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at the time their causes of action accrued. Appellants point
to no instance where either STHSON or NPHS obfuscated
Appellants’ inquiry into the facts cssential to perfecting a
claim against NPHS. Under these circumstances. we discern
no error in the trial court rejecting Appellants' argument that
NPHS is equitably estopped from relief under the statute of
limitations.

Appellants, in their second issue. allege the trial court erred
in failing to grant their motion for reconsideration and to
permit restoration of the previously dismissed fraud and
contract claims. Appellants' Briefat 22. However, Appellants’'
argument is contingent on the success of its first issue, to
wit, being permitted to add NPHS as an additional defendant.
Appellants argue that, “[g]iven the developments during
discovery and the possibility of additional evidence with
respect to NPHS and [STHSON's] close ties, [the Superior]

Court should allow [nppcu i S] to amend the pi Cddiﬁg in
order to restore [Appellants'] claims.” /d. at 23. As discussed

above, rclative to NPHS, both the fraud and contract claims

&
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that Appellants seek to have restored to their complaint are
barred by the two-year and four-year statute of limitations,
respectively. 42 Pa.C.S.A. §§ 5524(7). 42 Pa.C.S.A. § 5525.
With regard to the trial court's refusal to permit restoration of
the previously dismissed fraud and contract claims as against
SJHSON, we discern no abuse of discretion by the trial court
in light of the parties’ stipulation before the bankruptcy court.

*§ That stipulation implicates the issue raised by Appellants
in their third question on appeal as well, wherein they allege
the trial court erred in dismissing the sole remaining contract
claim. /d at 24. “Here, despite its prior order retaining
aim, the [trial] court erroneously
dismissed the entire case without providing a proper basis for
doing so.” Id. at 25.

The trial court, having rejected Appeliants’ motion 1o join
NPHS, concluded the remainder of Appellants' issues “are
subsumed” in the bankruptcy action. We agree. According to
the stipulation, upon which the order of the bankruptcy court
lifting the stay in this matter was premised, “[Appellants]
agreed not to seek any recovery from [SJTHSON] but
to attempt to establish liability only in pursuance to its
efforts to establish an agency/principal or master/servant
relationship between [SJHSON] and others.” Motion to
Quash, 11/26/12, Exhibit C—Stipulation at 2, § 5. Given
Appellants’ inability to initiate an action against NPHS, only

Footnotes

* Former Justice specially assigned to the Superior Court.

SJHSON remains in the suit. Since the qualified lifting of
the stay by the bankruptcy court precludes recovery against
SJHSON, Appellants’ motion to reconsider the trial court's
prior dismissal of the fraud and contract counts is moot.
Additionally, since no recovery is possible on the sole
remaining contract claim, any judgment against STHSON
would be unenforceable. Accordingly, we discern no abuse of

discretion in the trial court's dismissal of Appellants' action.

For the foregoing reasons. we conclude the trial court
properly denied Appellants' request to amend their complaint
to add NPHS as a party on the basis that the relevant
statutes of limitations had expired. We further conclude the
trial court did not err in declining to reach the merits of
Appellants' motion for reconsideration or in dismissing the
action, given the terms imposed by the parties' stipulation
and the bankruptcy court's limited removal of the stay, which

precluded recovery against SIHSON.
Accordingly. we affirm the trial court's July 8, 2013 order.

Order affirmed.

Not Reported in A.3d, 2014 WL 10917675

1 By this time, SJHSON had changed its corporate identity to The Littie House Day Care Center, inc.

2 The stipulation specifically provided the following. “[Appellants] agree[ ] not to seek any recovery from [SJHSON] but to
attempt to establish liability only in pursuance to its efforts to establish an agency/principal or master/servant relationship
between [SJHSON] and others.” Motion to Quash, 11/26/12, Exhibit C—Stipulation at 2, § 5.

3 Appellants and the trial court have complied with Pa.R.A.P.1925.

4 Appellants do not supply a detailed analysis of the appropriate dates for the commencement of the limitation period.
However, assuming Appellants’ causes of action arose upon their respective departures from SJHSON, the latest date
for commencing an action against NPHS would be November 2010 for the fraud claims and November 2012 for the

contract claims, absent a tolling of the statute.
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